
 
 

AGENDA  
 
 
Meeting: STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Place: Council Chamber - Council Offices, Monkton Park, 

Chippenham, SN15 1ER 

Date: Wednesday 15 February 2012 

Time: 2.00 pm 

 

 

Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Roger Bishton, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 713035 or email 
roger.bishton@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Briefing Arrangements: 
 

 
Date  

 
Time  

 
Place 

PARTY SPOKESMEN 13.02.12 2.15pm Cttee Room A & B 
Monkton Park 

 

 
Membership: 
 

Cllr Mark Connolly 
Cllr Christine Crisp 
Cllr Andrew Davis 
Cllr Peter Fuller 
Cllr Charles Howard 
Cllr Chris Humphries 
Cllr Julian Johnson 
 

Cllr John Knight 
Cllr Francis Morland 
Cllr Stephen Petty 
Cllr Dick Tonge 
Cllr Anthony Trotman 
Cllr Ian West 
Cllr Fred Westmoreland 
 

 

 

Substitutes: 
 

Cllr Trevor Carbin 
Cllr Ernie Clark 
Cllr Bill Douglas 
Cllr Nick Fogg 
Cllr Mollie Groom 

Cllr Russell Hawker 
Cllr Jacqui Lay 
Cllr Mark Packard 
Cllr Leo Randall 
 



 
 

PART I  

Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public 

 

1.   Apologies for Absence  

 

2.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 26) 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 
Wednesday 16 November 2011. 

 

3.   Declarations of Interest  

 Councillors are requested to declare any personal or prejudicial interests or 
dispensations granted by the Standards Committee. 

 

4.   Chairman’s Announcements  

 

5.   Public Participation and Councillors' Questions  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. 
 
Statements 
 
Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an 
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register in person no 
later than 1.50pm on the day of the meeting. 
 
The Chairman will allow up to 3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against 
an application and up to 3 speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each 
speaker will be given up to 3 minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to 
the item being considered. The rules on public participation in respect of 
planning applications are detailed in the Council’s Planning Code of Good 
Practice. 
 
Questions  
 
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the 
Council received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in 
particular, questions on non-determined planning applications. Those wishing to 
ask questions are required to give notice of any such questions in writing to the 
officer named on the front of this agenda (acting on behalf of the Director of 
Resources) no later than 5pm on Wednesday 8 February 2012. Please contact 
the officer named on the front of this agenda for further advice. Questions may 
be asked without notice if the Chairman decides that the matter is urgent. 



 
Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 

 

6.   10/04575 - Ridgeway Farm, Common Platt, Purton, Swindon, SN5 9JT - 
Residential Development (Up to 700 Dwellings), 10.6 Hectares of Green 
Infrastructure in Public Open Space, Associated Works, Up to 560 Square 
Metres of D1 Non-Residential Floorspace, Primary School and Demolition 
of Existing Buildings (Pages 27 - 102) 

 A report by the Case Officer is attached. 

 

7.   N/09/01258/WCM - Park Lane Quarry, Neston Park, Neston - Environment 
Act 1995: Application for Determination of Conditions to which a Mineral 
Site is to be the Subject (Pages 103 - 122) 

 A report by the Case Officer is attached. 

 

8.   N/09/02159/WCM - Park Lane Quarry, Neston Park, Neston - Construction 
of Road Access, Haul Road and Mine Access Area for Park Lane Mine 
(Pages 123 - 136) 

 A report by the Case Officer is attached. 

 

9.   Urgent Items  

 Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.  Urgent items of a confidential nature may 
be considered under Part II of this agenda. 

 

PART II  

Item during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be 
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed 

 
None 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 16 
NOVEMBER 2011 AT COUNCIL CHAMBER, BRADLEY ROAD, TROWBRIDGE. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Mark Connolly, Cllr Christine Crisp (Vice Chairman), Cllr Andrew Davis (Chairman), 
Cllr Bill Douglas (Substitute), Cllr Peter Fuller, Cllr Charles Howard, Cllr Chris Humphries, 
Cllr Julian Johnson, Cllr John Knight, Cllr Francis Morland, Cllr Stephen Petty, 
Cllr Anthony Trotman and Cllr Fred Westmoreland 
 
Also  Present: 
 
Cllr Nina Phillips and Cllr Judy Rooke  
 
  

 
42. Apologies for Absence 

 
An apology for absence was received from Cllr Ian West, (who was substituted 
by Cllr Bill Douglas). 
 

43. Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
Resolved: 
 
To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Committee 
meeting held on 28 September 2011. 
 

44. Declarations of Interest 
 
Cllr Mark Connolly and Cllr Fred Westmoreland both declared a personal 
interest in Minute No 47 – Application No S/2011/517/OL – Erskin Barracks, 
Wilton, Salisbury, SP2 0AG – Demolition of Existing and Erection of 450 
Houses and 3 Hectares of Employment Site and Access because they were 
both employed by the Ministry of Defence but not by the Defence Infrastructure 
Organisation, the applicant.  Each of them stated that they had not participated 
in any debate on this application and would therefore take part in the debate 
and vote with an open mind. 
 
 
Cllr Bill Douglas declared a personal interest in the following:- 
 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Minute No 48 – Application No 11/00134/FUL - Westinghouse Recreation 
Ground, Park Avenue, Chippenham, Wiltshire - Redevelopment of 
Westinghouse Recreation Ground to Provide 76 Dwellings, Associated 
Landscaping and Creation of New Vehicular Access following the Demolition of 
Dwellings 33 and 35 Park Avenue  
 
Minute No 49 – Application No 11/00420/FUL - Chippenham RFC, Allington 
Fields, Chippenham, Wiltshire, SN14 0YZ - Erection of Cricket Pavilion, Cricket 
Nets, Installation of Floodlighting and Extension to Kitchen and Changing 
Rooms in Existing Building 
 
He stated that he had not participated in any debate on these applications at a 
Town Council meeting and would therefore take part in the debate and vote with 
an open mind. 

 
45. Chairman's Announcements 

 
The Chairman reported that, at its meeting on 8 November 2011, Council had 
appointed Cllr John Knight as a member of this Committee in place of Cllr 
Graham Wright and also Cllr Trevor Carbin as a substitute member.  
 

46. Public Participation and Councillors' Questions 
 
Members of the public addressed the Committee as set out in Minute Nos. 47 & 
48 below. 
 
There were no questions received from members of the public or members of 
the Council. 
 

47. S/2011/517/OL - Erskin Barracks, Wilton, Salisbury, SP2 0AG - Demolition 
of existing and erection of 450 houses and 3 hectares of employment site 
and access 
 
The following person spoke in favour of the application: 
 
Ms Ellen O’Grady, on behalf of the Ministry of Defence 
 
The Committee received a presentation by the Case Officer which set out the 
main issues in respect of the application.  He introduced the report which 
recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions and 
the signing of a Section 106 Agreement.  He also drew attention to the late 
items. 
 
Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions 
after which the Committee received a statement from a member of the public as 
detailed above, expressing her views regarding the planning application. 
 

Page 2



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

After discussion, 
 
Resolved: 
 
To grant planning permission for the following reason:- 
 
This outline planning application is considered to have (amongst other 
things) made good overall use of a vacant previously developed site 
within the defined development boundary of Wilton. The proposal is 
sustainably located where it will benefit from good public transport links 
to the town centre where a high level of amenities and local facilities exist.  
The proposal includes a significant amount of business use that will 
compensate for job losses in the locality due to the relocation elsewhere 
of the existing occupiers of the site, whilst creating new job opportunities 
near to where people will live, in this sustainable location within easy 
walking distance of the Town centre. 
 
The proposal will make adequate provision for affordable housing in line 
with council policy whilst also providing for a demonstrable wider 
housing demand in and around the locality.  
 
The proposal will also make a significant contribution adding to and 
improving the local road network and associated infrastructure whilst 
ensuring the safe integration of other modes of transport other than the 
private car, including cycling and for pedestrians. 
 
Therefore the proposal is considered to be in accordance with the 
Adopted Salisbury District Local Plan saved policies 
G1,G2,G9,G13,H22,R2,TR1 and Policies DP3, DP4 of the Adopted Wiltshire 
Structure Plan and also in accordance with the Core policies,2,3,5,18,25 , 
including the saved policies listed in Appendix C, of the draft South 
Wiltshire Core Strategy”. 

 
Subject to:-  
 
(a) A Section 106 agreement being entered into with respect to the 

following terms: 
 

• Pedestrian (Toucan) Crossing  

• Education – 99 Primary Places  

• Education – 52 Secondary places  

• Public Art  

• Public Open Space Provision Comprising: 
o Equipped Childrens Play Grounds - 0.44 ha  
o Casual or Informal Play Space – 0.74 ha  
o Commuted Sum for Future Maintenance  
o Commuted Sum for Off Site  

Page 3



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

• Transport Contribution Bond - per dwelling  

• Travel Plan contribution 

• Ecology / Stone Curlew Contribution  

• 40% Affordable Housing split 135 (75%) Social Rent and 45 (25%) 
Intermediate (Shared Ownership) 

• A Bond for the maintenance and upkeep of the surface of the 
Bridge linking the two parts of the site to be agreed. 

• All relevant triggers as advised in the officer report and those to 
finally be agreed. 

 
(b) The following conditions:- 

1.The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission, or before the 
expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 

 
REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. No development shall commence on site until details of the following 
matters (in respect of which approval is expressly reserved) have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority:  

 
(a) The scale of the development; 

(b) The layout of the development; 

(c) The external appearance of the development; 

(d) The landscaping of the site; 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 
REASON:  The application was made for outline planning permission and 
is granted to comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and Article 3(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 1995. 

 
3. The details of the development which are required pursuant to 
Condition No.2 above shall generally accord with the illustrative site 
layout plan (drawing no. PA.01 Revision D) and the indicative details 
contained within the planning statement and the design and access 
statement that have been submitted in amplification of, but do not form 
part of, the outline application. 
 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt. 

Page 4



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
4. An application for the approval of all of the reserved matters shall be 
made to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 

 
REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.  
 
5. No development shall commence until full engineering detailed 
drawings for the four vehicular access points to The Avenue, generally in 
accordance with the latest submitted sketch schemes, are submitted and 
approved in writing by the LPA; and the access points shall be 
constructed in accordance with the approved details before first 
occupation of any part of the development which gains access to the 
particular access point. 
 
Reason: to ensure that the development is served by a safe and adequate 
road, footpath and cycle network in the interests of highway safety. 
 
POLICY: G2 (General Criteria for Development). 
 
6. No development shall commence until details of 4 bus stops along The 
Avenue, including two stops which consist of half width lay-bys located 
close to the existing Park and Ride roundabout on The Avenue, have been 
submitted and approved by the LPA; and the bus stops shall be provided 
in accordance with the approved details before the first occupation of the 
development. 
 
Reason: to ensure that the development is served by a safe and adequate 
road, footpath and cycle network in the interests of highway safety. 
 
POLICY: G2 (General Criteria for Development). 
 
7.No development shall commence until a detailed scheme for the 
widening of the existing footway on the east side of The Avenue, to 
provide a width of 3 metres (accept at the existing road bridge over the 
rail line) for pedestrian and cycle use including a signing scheme and 
additional crossing points along The Avenue, has been submitted and 
approved in writing by the LPA; and the scheme shall be constructed in 
accordance with the approved design before the first occupation of the 
development or to an agreed programme. 
 
Reason: to ensure that the development is served by a safe and adequate 
road, footpath and cycle network in the interests of highway safety. 
 
POLICY: G2 (General Criteria for Development). 
 

Page 5



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Informative:  Conditions 5-7 above will require the developer to enter into 
appropriate Agreement(s) with the Local Highway Authority to ensure the 
works, which will be largely be within the existing public highway can be 
completed to the full satisfaction and eventual maintenance responsibility 
of the LHA.  
 
8. No development shall commence until full detailed engineering 
drawings for the internal road layout and construction specification have 
been submitted and approved in writing by the LPA; and the internal road 
layout where it serves housing development shall be constructed in 
accordance with the approved details within one year of completion of the 
housing scheme. 
 
Reasons: to ensure that the development is served by a safe and 
adequate road, footpath and cycle network in the interests of highway 
safety. 
 
POLICY: G2 (General Criteria for Development). 
 
9. The internal road layout shall be constructed so as to ensure that, 
before it is occupied, each dwelling has been provided with a properly 
consolidated and surfaced footway and carriageway to at least binder 
course level between the dwelling and the existing public highway. 
 
Reasons: to ensure that the development is served by a safe and 
adequate road, footpath and cycle network in the interests of highway 
safety. 
 
10. No development shall commence until a scheme for the amelioration 
of the effects of road and rail traffic noise on the future occupants of the 
proposed development shall have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the LPA. Such scheme as approved shall be implemented in its 
entirety to the satisfaction of the LPA prior to the habitation of any part of 
the development. 
 
Reason: In the interest of the protection of the public from the affects of 
noise 
 
POLICY: G2 (General Criteria for Development). 
 
 
11. The number of dwellings permitted to be constructed on this site shall 
not exceed 450 dwellings.  
 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
POLICY: G2 (General Criteria for Development). 
  

Page 6



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

12. As part of each reserved matters application, a schedule of materials 
to be used for the external walls and roofs of all buildings relating to that 
reserved matters application shall be submitted to, and where so required 
by the Local Planning Authority samples and/or sample panels of the 
materials shall be made available and/or constructed on site for 
inspection, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
REASON: In the interests of the character and appearance of the 
development and to ensure that it visually integrates with the surrounding 
area 
 
POLICY: G2 (General Criteria for Development) and D1 (Design Criteria – 
Extensive Development). 
  
13. Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, the internal access roads 
within the site, including footpaths and turning spaces, that provides 
vehicular, cycle and /or pedestrian access to it shall be constructed, 
properly consolidated and surfaced to at least base course level between 
the dwelling and the existing adopted highway.      
 
REASON: In order to ensure that an adequate means of access is 
available when the dwellings are occupied in the interests of sustainable 
development, highway safety and residential amenities.  
 
POLICY: G2 (General Criteria for Development). 
 
14. All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details for any 
subsequent reserved matters submission for the landscaping of the site 
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the 
commencement of development of the dwellings relating to that reserved 
matters submission or in accordance with a timetable for implementation 
that shall have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development within that 
reserved matters submission. 
 
All shrubs, trees and hedge planting shall be maintained free from weeds 
and shall be protected from damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or 
plants which, within a period of five years, die, are removed, or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of a similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details for any subsequent reserved matters submission for the 
landscaping of the site prior to the occupation of any of the dwellings 
relating to that reserved matters submission or in accordance with a 
programme to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority prior 

Page 7



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

to the commencement of development within that reserved matters 
submission. 
 
REASON: To ensure the satisfactory implementation of all approved 
landscaping works, in the interests of visual amenity. 
 
POLICY: G2 (General Criteria for Development) and D1 (Design Criteria – 
Extensive Development). 
  
15. No development shall take place on any area of land within any 
subsequent reserved matters approval until such time that details of the 
required earthworks, that shall include details of the proposed grading 
and mounding of land areas including the levels and contours to be 
formed showing the relationship of proposed mounding to the existing 
surrounding landform, the re-use/disposal of the existing spoil heaps 
within the site and the location of the storage of excavated materials, 
relating to that particular area of land have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The development 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the proposed earthworks will relate satisfactorily 
to existing features within the site and its surroundings in the interests of 
visual amenity.     
 
POLICY: G2 (General Criteria for Development) and D1 (Design Criteria – 
Extensive Development). 
  
16. No development shall take place on any area of land within any 
subsequent reserved matters approval until such time that a lighting 
scheme for the site to include details of all street lighting, lighting for 
footpaths, communal parking areas and public areas and including details 
of the intensity of the lighting and the design of all lighting columns and 
lanterns relating to that particular area of land has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The development 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the first occupation of the dwellings within that particular area of 
land and shall thereafter be retained. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the lighting scheme respects the overall design 
qualities required from the development and to minimise the impact of the 
lighting scheme upon both the Boscombe Down airfield in the interests of 
air safety and upon the landscape in the interests of visual amenity. 
 
POLICY: G2 (General Criteria for Development) and D1 (Design Criteria – 
Extensive Development). 
  
17. No development shall take place until such time that a scheme for the 
provision of foul drainage works to serve the development, hereby 

Page 8



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

approved, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority.  No dwelling shall subsequently be first occupied until 
all necessary works for the drainage of foul water from that dwelling have 
been implemented in accordance with the approved scheme and made 
available for use. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory 
means of foul drainage. 
 
POLICY: G1 (General Principles of Sustainable Development), G2 (General 
Criteria for Development) and G5 (Water/Drainage Infrastructure). 
  
18. No development shall take place until such time that a scheme for the 
discharge and attenuation of surface water from the buildings, roads and 
other hard surfaced areas, together with details of a maintenance 
schedule of the surface water drainage scheme, have been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  Such scheme 
shall include details of the temporary infiltration basin and the pollution 
prevention measures, based on sustainable drainage principles and an 
assessment of the hydrological and hydro-geological context of the 
development.  The surface water drainage scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in its entirety in accordance with the approved scheme and 
made available for use prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings, 
hereby approved, and shall thereafter be maintained and retained in 
accordance with the maintenance schedule in perpetuity.   
 
REASON: To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory 
means of surface water drainage, to prevent the increased risk of flooding 
and to minimise the risk of pollution and to protect the groundwater and 
the interest features of the River Avon Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
and the River Avon System Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).  
 
POLICY: G1 (General Principles of Sustainable Development), G2 (General 
Criteria for Development), C12 (Nature Conservation – Protected Species), 
PPS9 Biodiversity and Geological Conservation and PPS25 (Development 
and Flood Risk). 
 
19. No development shall commence on site until a scheme to deal with 
contamination of the land has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include an 
investigation and assessment to identify the extent of contamination and 
the measures to be taken to avoid risk to the public, buildings and the 
environment when the site is developed. The site shall be fully 
decontaminated in accordance with the approved scheme before any part 
of the development is first brought into use/ occupied [DELETE as 
appropriate].  
 
REASON: In the interests of public health and safety. 

 

Page 9



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

POLICY- G2 (General Criteria for Development). 
 
20. If during development, contamination not previously identified, is 
found to be present at the site no further development shall be carried out 
until a remediation strategy detailing the nature and extent of the 
unforeseen contamination, any remedial works to be undertaken to deal 
with the unsuspected contamination and a timetable for these works has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority.  The remediation strategy shall be approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the remediation works being carried out 
on site.  The remediation works to deal with the unforeseen contamination 
shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
and timetable of works.  
 
On completion of the works, a validation report detailing the 
implementation of the agreed remedial works and measures shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved. 
 
REASON: In the interests of the protection of Controlled Waters and to 
protect the interest features of the River Avon Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) and the River Avon System Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI). 
 
POLICY: G8 (Groundwater Source Protection Areas), Policy C12 (Nature 
Conservation – Protected Species) and PPS9 (Biodiversity and Geological 
Conservation). 
  
21. As part of each reserved matters application, a scheme of water 
efficiency measures to reduce the water consumption of the dwellings 
relating to that reserved matters application shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
measures shall subsequently be implemented and made available for use 
prior to the first occupation of the dwellings and shall thereafter be 
retained. 
  
REASON: In the interests of sustainable development and prudent use 
and conservation of water resources. 
  
POLICY: G1 (General Principles of Sustainable Development) and G3 
(Water Resources). 
 
22. The development, hereby approved, shall be carried out in accordance 
with the recommendations and mitigation measures detailed within the 
submitted ecological survey report prepared by Entec and dated April 
2011.  On completion of the works, no development shall take place until 
such time that a validation report detailing the mitigation works that have 
been undertaken at the site that has been prepared by the ecologist that 

Page 10



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

has overseen the implementation of the mitigation works has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure adequate protection of protected species in the 
interests of nature conservation. 
 
POLICY: PPS9 Biodiversity and Geological Conservation and Policy C12 
(Nature Conservation - Protected Species). 
  
23. No deliveries before and during the construction period shall be taken 
at or dispatched from the site and no construction works shall take place 
other than between the hours of 7:00am and 6:30pm on Mondays to 
Fridays, 8:00am and 1:00pm on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or 
public holidays.  This condition shall not apply to the internal fitting out of 
the dwellings. 
  
REASON: To minimise the disturbance which noise during the 
construction of the proposed development could otherwise have upon the 
amenities of the immediate surropunding neighbourhood. 
  
POLICY: G2 (General Criteria for Development). 
 
24. The recommendations / measures detailed in the approved Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) compiled by Entec and dated April 2011, and the Water 
Study also compiled by Entec and dated April 2011, shall be carried out in 
full prior to the first bringing into use of the development. 
  
REASON: In the interests of flood prevention. 
  
POLICY: Planning Policy Statement 25: Development and Flood Risk. 
 
25. No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the 
provision and management of compensatory habitat creation has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall subsequently be completed in accordance with the 
approved details, before the development is first brought into use or in 
accordance with the approved timetable detailed in the approved scheme. 
 
REASON: To mitigate against the loss of existing biodiversity and nature 
habitats. 
 
POLICY: Planning Policy Statement 9: Biodiversity and Geological 
Conservation. 

26. No development shall commence on site (including any works of 
demolition), until a Construction Method Statement, which shall include 
the following:   

a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;  

Page 11



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

b) loading and unloading of plant and materials;  

c) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 
development;  

d) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where 
appropriate;  

e) wheel washing facilities;  

f) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during 
construction;  

g) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 
demolition and construction works; and 

h) measures for the protection of the natural environment. 

i) hours of construction, including deliveries; 

has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period. The development shall not be carried out otherwise 
than in accordance with the approved construction method statement 
without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
REASON: To minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring amenities, 
the amenities of the area in general, detriment to the natural environment 
through the risks of pollution and dangers to highway safety, during the 
construction phase. 
 
POLICY- G2 (General Criteria for Development). 
 

      27. The first submission of reserved matters shall include the submission 
of a waste audit identifying the waste generated by the development 
together with measures to be implemented to reduce, re-use and recycle 
any waste produced by the development and a scheme for the provision 
of facilities for the recycling of waste within the development for approval 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the 
provision of facilities thereafter retained. 
 
Reason: 
In the interests of sustainable development. 
 
POLICY : WCS6 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Waste Core Strategy 2006-
2026 and G2 (General Criteria for Development). 
 
28. No development shall commence until a full marketing strategy has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning 

Page 12



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Authority. The employment land shown on the approved plans shall be 
marketed in accordance with the approved marketing strategy and shall 
be for a period of not less than three years from the date of approval of 
the final reserved matters, or until 75% of the total housing number has 
been built and occupied whichever is the latter.  
 
Reason: In the interest of the economic viability, marketability and 
phasing of the site. 
 
POLICY: Core Policy 5. Employment Land, Emerging Core Strategy, 
adopted Wiltshire Structure Plan DP4. 

29. No development shall commence on site until a Green Travel Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Travel Plan shall include details of: 

• Monitoring and reporting on targets using actual traffic generation 
compared with assumed levels of traffic generation, as the headline 
indicator  

• Agreement of approach to the failsafe taking into a account 
variations in traffic flow and previous use of the site  

• Provision of cycle parking in accordance with the Wiltshire 
Council draft core strategy and recent review of cycle parking 
standard 

and shall be implemented in accordance with these agreed details. The 
results of the agreed details shall be made available to the Local Planning 
Authority on request, together with any changes to the plan arising from 
those results. 
 
REASON: In the interests of road safety and reducing vehicular traffic to 
the development.  

 
POLICY- G1 adopted Salisbury District Local Plan  
 

30.  Prior to traffic generation exceeding that of the extant use of the site, 
(threshold to be agreed) a contribution as specified in the accompanying 
legal agreement will be made, and will be held by Wiltshire Council on 
behalf of the Highways Agency.  This contribution will be used to either 
implement the mitigation schemes as shown on Figures 3.1 and 3.2 of 
DL181r Technical Note produced by AMEC or used as partial funding 
towards a wider improvement scheme on the A36 appropriate to, and in 
the locality of the development site.  

 

REASON:  In order that the impact of the development on the strategic 
road network is mitigated appropriately. 

Page 13



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

31.  The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the plans and specifications set out in the following list: 
 
Planning Statement, received 11/04/11 
Design and Access Statement April 2011, received 11/04/11 
Ecology assessment April 2011, received 11/04/11 
Historic Environment Desk Based Assessment April 2011, received 
11/04/11 
UK Land Forces, Wilton Proposed Redevelopment Travel Plan April 2011, 
received 11/04/11 
UK Land Forces, Wilton Proposed Redevelopment Transport Assessment 
April 2011, received 11/04/11 
Air Quality Assessment April 2011, received 11/04/11 
Renewable Energy Scoping Study April 2011, received 11/04/11 
Noise assessment April 2011, received 11/04/11 
Flood Risk Assessment April 2011, received 11/04/11 
Water study April 2011, received 11/04/11 
 
REASON:  In the interest of clarity as to the approved plans and 
specifications 
 
Policy: G1 adopted Salisbury District Local Plan 
 

32. No development shall commence until a written programme of 
archaeological investigation, which should include on-site work and off-
site work such as the analysis, publishing and archiving of the results, 
has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority; and 
the approved programme of archaeological work has been carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  
 
REASON:  To enable the recording of any matters of archaeological 
interest. 
 

POLICY- CN21 adopted Salisbury District Local Plan 
 
 

48. 11/00134/FUL - Westinghouse Recreation Ground, Park Avenue, 
Chippenham, Wiltshire - Redevelopment of Westinghouse Recreation 
Ground to Provide 76 Dwellings, Associated Landscaping and Creation of 
New Vehicular Access following the Demolition of Dwellings 33 and 35 
Park Avenue 
 
The following people spoke against the proposal: 
 
Ms Kay Pidgeon, a local resident and representing RADAR (Residents Against 
Development Affecting Recreational Land) 

Page 14



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Mr Huw Tyson, a local resident 
Mr Matthew Martin, a local resident 
Cllr Andrew Phillips, representing Chippenham Town Council 
 
The following people spoke in favour of the proposal: 
 
Mr Michael Orr, CSJ Planning, representing the applicant 
Ms Anna Sabine, representing the applicant and Chippenham Rugby Club 
Mr Philip Meek, representing Westinghouse Cricket Club 
 
The Committee received a presentation by the Case Officer which set out the 
main issues in respect of the application.  He introduced the report which 
recommended that the planning application be approved, subject to a Section 
106 Agreement being entered into and the imposition of conditions. Attention 
was also drawn to the late observations. 
 
Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions 
after which the Committee received statements from members of the public as 
detailed above, expressing their views regarding the planning application. 
 
Members then heard the views of Cllrs Nina Phillips and Judy Rooke, local 
members, who both objected to the proposal. 
 
After discussion, 
 
Resolved: 
 
To grant planning permission for the following reason:- 
 
The proposed development is considered to be of a density, layout, scale 
and appearance that is appropriate to the context of its surroundings and 
without significant impact upon amenities of existing residential 
occupiers.  Subject to the imposition of appropriately worded planning 
conditions and, critically, a legal agreement that ensures delivers 
community infrastructure and a compensatory package of replacement 
sporting facilities that would be lost as a result of redevelopment of the 
application site, the proposal is considered to comply with the provisions 
of adopted North Wiltshire Local Plan policies C2, C3, NE11, NE14, NE17, 
T3, H3, H5, CF2 and CF3 together with national policy guidance contained 
in PPS3, PPS9, PPS17, PPS23 and PPS25. 
   
Subject to:- 
 
(a) All parties entering into a legal agreement under Section 106 of The 

Act in respect of the following issues: 

• Financial contribution towards the provision of education 
facilities 

Page 15



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

• Provision and maintenance of public open space 

• Provision of affordable housing on site 

• To ensure mitigation package of replacement sporting facilities 
proposed under planning application 11/00420/FUL is provided 
prior to development taking place 

 
(b) The following conditions:- 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. No development shall commence on site until details of the design, 
external appearance and decorative finish of all railings, fences, gates, 
walls, bollards and other means of enclosure have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
development being occupied / brought into use. 
 
REASON:  In the interests of visual amenity and the character and 
appearance of the area. 
 
3. All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping 
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the 
first occupation of the building(s) or the completion of the development 
whichever is the sooner;  All shrubs, trees and hedge planting shall be 
maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from damage by 
vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years, 
die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size and 
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority.  All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the 
development and the protection of existing important landscape features. 
 
4 (a) No retained tree shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall 
any retained tree be topped or lopped other than in accordance with the 
approved plans and particulars, without the prior written approval of the 
Local Planning Authority. Any topping or lopping approved shall be 
carried out in accordance with British Standard 3998 (Tree Work). 
 

Page 16



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

   (b) If any retained tree is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, 
another tree shall be planted at the same place and that tree shall be of 
such size and species and shall be planted at such time, as may be 
specified in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
  (c) No equipment, machinery or materials shall be brought on to the site 
for the purpose of the development, until a scheme showing the exact 
position of protective fencing to enclose all retained trees beyond the 
outer edge of the overhang of their branches in accordance with British 
Standard 5837 (2005): Trees in Relation to Construction, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
and; the protective fencing has been erected in accordance with the 
approved details. This fencing shall be maintained until all equipment, 
machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site.  
Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced in accordance with 
this condition and the ground levels within those areas shall not be 
altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without the prior written 
consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
In this condition “retained tree” means an existing tree which is to be 
retained in accordance with the approved plans and particulars; and 
paragraphs (a) and (b) above shall have effect until the expiration of five 
years from the first occupation or the completion of the development, 
whichever is the later. 
 
REASON: To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure the retention 
of trees on the site in the interests of visual amenity. 
 
5. No dwelling on the development hereby approved shall be occupied 
until sufficient space for the parking of 153 vehicles together with a 
vehicular access thereto has been provided in accordance with details 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
said space shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles or for 
the purpose of access. 
 
REASON: To ensure that adequate provision is made for parking within 

the site in the interests of 
highway safety. 
 
6. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended by the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment) 
(No.2) (England) Order 2008 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or 
amending that Order with or without modification), there shall be no 
additions to, or extensions or enlargements of any building forming part 
of the development hereby permitted. 

 

Page 17



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

REASON:  In the interests of the amenity of the area and to enable the 
Local Planning Authority to consider individually whether planning 
permission should be granted for additions, extensions or enlargements. 
 
7. No development shall commence on site until details of the storage of 
refuse, including details of location, size, means of enclosure and 
materials, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall not be occupied until the 
approved refuse storage has been completed and made available for use 
in accordance with the approved details and it shall be subsequently 
maintained in accordance with the approved details thereafter.  

 
REASON: In the interests of public health and safety. 
 
8. No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the 
discharge of surface water from the site (including surface water from the 
access/driveway), incorporating sustainable drainage details, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be first occupied until surface water drainage has 
been constructed in accordance with the approved scheme.  
 
REASON: To ensure that the development can be adequately drained. 
 
9. No development shall commence on site until details of the works for 
the disposal of sewerage have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling shall be first occupied until 
the approved sewerage details have been fully implemented in 
accordance with the approved plans. 

 
REASON: To ensure that the proposal is provided with a satisfactory 
means of drainage. 
 
10. No development shall commence on site until a scheme to deal with 
contamination of the land has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include an 
investigation and assessment to identify the extent of contamination and 
the measures to be taken to avoid risk to the public, buildings and the 
environment when the site is developed. The site shall be fully 
decontaminated in accordance with the approved scheme before any part 
of the development is first occupied. 

 
REASON: In the interests of public health and safety. 
 
11. No development shall commence within the application site until:  

 
a) A written programme of archaeological investigation, which 

should include on-site work and off-site work such as the 
analysis, publishing and archiving of the results, has been 

Page 18



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority; 
and 

 
b) The approved programme of archaeological work has been 

carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
REASON:  To enable the recording of any matters of archaeological 
interest. 
 
12. Prior to the commencement of development full and complete details 
of the proposed treatment of the existing access to the site shall have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Such details shall include means of enclosure at each end, 
(which shall specifically include the provision of substantial gates), 
surfacing of the land and method of ensuring future security of the land 
so as to prevent the land becoming a focus for noise, disturbance and 
anti-social behaviour.  Development shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the details so agreed.  
 
REASON:  So as to secure a satisfactory treatment of this part of the 
application site and to prevent an adverse impact upon the amenities of 
neighbouring residents. 
 
13. Prior to the commencement of development an Ecological mitigation 
Plan shall have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
planning Authority.  Such a Plan shall include: (a) the timing and 
supervision of construction works so as to avoid unnecessary damage to 
active birds nests; (b) a scheme for lighting across the site (both 
construction and any permanent lighting) to ensure protection of bat 
foraging areas and commuting corridors; (c) the provision of bat and bird 
boxes within the development.  Development shall be carried out in 
complete accordance with the agreed details. 
 
REASON:  To mitigate against the loss of existing biodiversity and nature 
habitats. 
 
14. Notwithstanding that demonstrated on submitted plan reference 
3341/205 – type E rev.A, the first floor bedroom 1 window in the rear 
elevation of plot 01 E shall not be created and shall instead be substituted 
with an alternative window inserted in to the south-east side facing 
elevation of that property.  Development shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with this planning condition unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
construction of plot 01 E. 
 
REASON:  In the interests of securing the amenity of existing residents in 
Park Avenue. 
 

Page 19



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

15. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in 
accordance with the submitted plans and documents listed below. No 
variation from the approved plans should be made without the prior 
approval of the local planning authority. Amendments may require the 
submission of a further application. 
 

Location plan 3341/101 rev.A  (date stamped 14th January 2011) 
Site plan 3341/103 rev.T  (date stamped 29th July 2011) 
Adoption and management 3341/110  (date stamped 29th July 2011) 
Site survey 3341/102  (date stamped 14th January 2011) 
Existing trees plan 3341/105 rev.A  (date stamped 14th January 2011) 
Existing buildings to be demolished 3341/106 rev.A  (date stamped 
14th January 2011) 
Street elevations sections AA-CC 3341/108 rev.B  (date stamped 29th 
July 2011) 
Street elevations sections DD-FF 3341/109 rev.B  (date stamped 29th 
July 2011) 
House type A floor plans and elevations 3341/201 rev.B  (date 
stamped 14th January 2011) 
House type B floor plans and elevations 3341/202 rev.B  (date 
stamped 14th January 2011) 
House type C floor plans and elevations 3341/203 rev.A  (date 
stamped 14th January 2011) 
House type D floor plans and elevations 3341/204 rev.A  (date 
stamped 14th January 2011) 
House type E floor plans and elevations 3341/205 rev.A  (date 
stamped 14th January 2011) 
House type F floor plans and elevations 3341/206 rev.A  (date 
stamped 14th January 2011) 
House type G floor plans and elevations 3341/207 rev.B  (date 
stamped 14th January 2011) 
House type H floor plans and elevations 3341/208 rev.A  (date 
stamped 14th January 2011) 
House type J floor plans and elevations 3341/209 rev.A  (date 
stamped 14th January 2011) 
House type K floor plans and elevations 3341/210 rev.A  (date 
stamped 14th January 2011) 
House type L floor plans and elevations 3341/211 rev.A  (date 
stamped 14th January 2011) 
House type M floor plans and elevations 3341/212 rev.A  (date 
stamped 14th January 2011) 
Apartments block 1 floor plans 3341/301 rev.A  (date stamped 14th 
January 2011) 
Apartments block 2 floor plans 3341/302 rev.A  (date stamped 14th 
January 2011) 
Apartments block 3 (affordable) floor plans 3341/303 rev.C  (12th 
May 2011) 

Page 20



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Apartments block 1 elevations 3341/304 rev.A  (date stamped 14th 
January 2011) 
Apartments block 2 elevations 3341/305 rev.A  (date stamped 14th 
January 2011) 
Apartments block 3 elevations 3341/306 rev.C  (date stamped12th 
May 2011) 
Single garage floor plans and elevations 3341/401 rev.A  (date 
stamped 12th may 2011) 
Double garage floor plans and elevations 3341/402  (date stamped 
14th January 2011) 
Triple garage floor plans and elevations 3341/403 rev.A  12th May 
2011) 
Cycle store units 33-44 floor plans and elevations 3341/404 rev.A  
(date stamped 12th May 2011) 
Cycle store units 15-26 floor plans and elevations 3341/405 rev.A  
(date stamped 12th may 2011) 
Sheds floor plans and elevations 3341/406  (date stamped 14th 
January 2011) 
Quad garage floor plans and elevations 3341/407  (date stamped 
29th July 2011) 
Single garage – type 02 floor plans and elevations 3341/408  (date 
stamped 29th July 2011) 
Double garage – type 02 floor plans and elevations 3341/409  (date 
stamped 29th July 2011) 
Landscape principles PHL237-1 rev.C  (date stamped 14th July 2011) 
Drainage Strategy 10051-C001 rev.D  (date stamped 30th August 
2011) 
 
Planning Supporting Statement  (date stamped 14th January 2011) 
Design and Access Statement (date stamped 14th January 2011) 
Design and Access Statement addendum (dated August 2011) 
Sustainability Statement  (date stamped 14th January 2011) 
Construction Management Plan  (date stamped 14th January 2011) 
Site Waste management Plan  (date stamped 14th January 2011) 
Flood Risk Assessment  (date stamped 14th January 2011) 
Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment  (date stamped 14th 
January 2011) 
Transportation Assessment  (date stamped 14th January 2011) 
Statement of Community Engagement  (date stamped 14th January 
2011) 
Hydrock Desk Study  (date stamped 14th January 2011) 
Additional letters and information Hydrock/Wessex Water  (date 
stamped 24th February 2011) 
Ecology and Protected Species Survey  (date stamped 14th January 
2011) 
Reptile Survey  (date stamped 14th June 2011) 
Arboricultural Implications Assessment  (date stamped 14th January 
2011) 

Page 21



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Westinghouse Sports Ground Mitigation Package  (date stamped 
14th January 2011) 
Supporting Evidence Tennis and Bowls Provision  (date stamped 
11th March 2011) 
Westinghouse Mitigation Package Appendix 1 (date stamped 14th 
January 2011) 
Westinghouse Mitigation Package Appendix 2 (date stamped 14th 
January 2011) 
Westinghouse Mitigation Package Appendix 3 (date stamped 14th 
January 2011) 
Westinghouse Mitigation Package Appendix 4 (date stamped 14th 
January 2011) 

 
REASON: To ensure that the development is implemented as approved. 
 
16.  Prior to the commencement of development a Construction 
management Plan shall have been submitted and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  Such a Construction Management Plan 
shall include detailed and specific measures that shall be employed 
during the construction phase of development so as to keep noise and 
disturbance to surrounding residents to the absolute minimum.  It shall 
include, but not be limited to, such measures relating to the timing of 
constructions works, method of access and egress from the site, and 
procedure for dealing with any legitimate and reasonable complaints 
raised by residents in respect of noise and disturbance during that 
construction phase of development.  Development shall be carried out in 
complete accordance with those details so agreed under the terms of this 
planning condition. 
 
REASON:  So as to ensure a neighbourly construction phase of 
development and, by extension, so as to minimise unnecessary noise and 
disturbance to surrounding residents during that phase. 
 
 

49. 11/00420/FUL - Chippenham RFC, Allington Fields, Chippenham, Wiltshire, 
SN14 0YZ - Erection of Cricket Pavilion, Cricket Nets, Installation of 
Floodlighting and Extension to Kitchen and Changing Rooms in Existing 
Building 
 
On considering a report by the Case Officer, 
 
Resolved:- 
 
To grant planning permission for the following reason:- 
 
This proposal for the improvement of existing sporting facilities is 
considered to accord with Policy CF2 of the adopted North Wiltshire Local 
Plan 2011 and guidance contained in PPS17, which, in principle, seeks to 

Page 22



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

allow the improvement of such existing facilities.  The detail of the 
proposed improvements are considered to be entirely appropriate in the 
context of this established sports facility and would not have an adverse 
impact upon the wider landscape or any nearby residential properties and 
would therefore also comply with the provisions of Policies C3 and NE15 
of the adopted North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011. 
 
Subject to:- 
 
(a) All parties entering into a legal agreement under Section 106 of The 

Act in respect of the following issue: 

• To ensure mitigation package of replacement sporting facilities 
proposed are provided prior to the redevelopment taking place 
of the Westinghouse Sports Club site, if granted planning 
permission under application 11/00134/FUL. 

  
(b) The following conditions:- 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. Prior to the commencement of development full and complete details of 
the proposed appearance and positioning of the floodlight columns shall 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Development shall be carried out in complete accordance with 
the details so agreed.  
 
REASON:  So as to secure a satisfactory form of development reflective of 
the existing site and for the avoidance of doubt. 
 
3. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority 
beforehand, any scrub and hedgerow removal shall be carried out outside 
of the breeding bird season (March – August inclusive). In the event that 
such vegetation removal is required during the breeding bird season, all 
relevant areas should first be subject to an inspection by a suitably 
experienced ecologist, the results of such an inspection shall have been 
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority 
before any removal takes place.  IN the event that an active nest is 
recorded, such removal works shall be suspended until such time as the 
nest is no longer in use. 
 
REASON: So as to ensure the development does not have an adverse 
impact upon the value of the site as a habitat for breeding birds.  

Page 23



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
4. Prior to the commencement of development full and complete details of 
the proposed floodlighting shall have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such details shall include a 
demonstration of the lighting levels across the site, and full measures to 
reduce light spill as far as is possible through best practice techniques. 
 
REASON:  For the avoidance of doubt and so as to ensure the proposed 
floodlighting does not result in a unnecessary level of light spillage, 
particularly so as to avoid an adverse impact upon ecology and semi-
natural features including ponds, hedgerows and trees both within and 
surrounding the site. 
 
5. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance 
with the submitted plans and documents listed below. No variation from 
the approved plans should be made without the prior approval of the local 
planning authority. Amendments may require the submission of a further 
application. 
 
Plans 

 
Location plan 3416/001  (date stamped 3rd February 2011) 
Existing block plan  3416/002  (date stamped 3rd February 2011) 
Existing site plan  3416/003  (date stamped 3rd February 2011) 
Existing floor plan  3416/004  (date stamped 3rd February 2011) 
Existing elevations  3416/005  (date stamped 3rd February 2011) 
Proposed block plan  3416/010  (date stamped 3rd February 2011) 
Proposed site plan clubhouse and training pitch  3416/011  (date 
stamped 3rd February 2011) 
Proposed site plan – pitches, pavilion and flood lights  3416/012  
(date stamped 3rd February 2011) 
Proposed floor plans  3416/013  (date stamped 3rd February 2011) 
Proposed elevations  3416/014  (date stamped 3rd February 2011) 
Proposed floor plans and elevations  3416/015  (date stamped 3rd 
February 2011) 
Proposed cricket nets plans and elevations  3416/016  (date 
stamped 3rd February 2011) 
 
Planning Supporting Statement  (date stamped 3rd February 2011) 
Design and Access Statement (date stamped 3rd February 2011) 
Design and Access Statement addendum (dated August 2011) 
Flood Risk Assessment  (date stamped 25th March 2011) 
Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment  (date stamped 14th 
January 2011) 
Phase 1 Ecological Survey  (date stamped 3rd February 2011) 
Reptile Survey  (date stamped 14th June 2011) 
Westinghouse Sports Ground Mitigation Package  (date stamped 3rd 
February 2011) 

Page 24



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Proposed floodlighting details (CB Associates)  (date stamped 3rd 
February 2011) 
 

REASON: To ensure that the development is implemented as approved. 
 
 

50. Date of Next Meeting 
 
Resolved: 
 
To note that the next meeting of the Committee was due to be held on 
Wednesday 7 December 2011 at Bradley Road, Trowbridge. 
 

51. Urgent Items 
 
There were no items of urgent business. 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  10.30 am - 1.00 pm) 

 
 
 

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Roger Bishton, of Democratic & 
Members’ Services, direct line 01225 713035, e-mail roger.bishton@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 

 

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL  

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE  

Date of Meeting 15 February 2012 

Application Number 10/04575 

Site Address Ridgeway Farm, Common Platt, Purton, Swindon, Wiltshire SN5 
9JT 

Proposal Residential Development (Up to 700 Dwellings), 10.6 Hectares 
 of Green Infrastructure In Public Open Space, Associated  
Works, Up to 560 Square Metres of D1 (Non-Residential) 
 Floorspace, Primary School and Demolition of Existing Buildings. 

Applicant Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd 

Town/Parish Council Purton 

Electoral Division  Unitary Member Cllr Jacqui Lay 

Grid Ref  

Type of application Outline 

Case  Officer 
 

Tracy Smith        01249 706642 tracy.smith@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
 
1. Reason for the application being considered by Committee  
 

a) The application meets the criteria for consideration by the Strategic Committee on the 
grounds of the number of dwellings being proposed and because the application has 
been called-in by the Secretary of State. 

 
b) The applicant has submitted an appeal in respect of this application on the grounds of 

non-determination, that is the Council’s failure to determine the application by the agreed 
date of 1 July 2011.  As a consequence no formal decision can be made by the Council 
in respect of this application. However, in order to progress with the appeal and in light of 
the call-in request, the officer seeks the opinion of the Committee in respect of the 
application had they been in a position to determine it and on what grounds the 
Committee wish to contest the scheme at appeal, if at all.  

 
2. Objections 
 

a) Objections have been received from Swindon Borough Council, Purton, Lydiard Millicent 
and Haydon Wick Parish Councils as well as 1034 objections from local residents. 

 
3. Purpose of Report 
 

a) To consider the above application and to recommend that had the Council been in a 
position to determine the application, the recommendation would have been that planning 
permission be REFUSED. 

 
4. Main Issues 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 27



 

 

 

a) Since its original submission in December 2010 the application has been revised and the 
developer is now seeking outline planning permission for: 
 

• residential development – up to 700 dwellings (the previously figure of up to 800 
dwellings was formally revised in June 2011);  

• 10.59 hectares of green infrastructure including public open space; 

• associated works; 

• up to 560 Square Metres of D1 (Non-Residential) floorspace; 

• a new primary school; and  

• the demolition of the existing buildings on site.  
 
b) The main issues in the consideration of the application are as follows: 
 

• Town and Country Planning (Environmental Assessment) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2011 

• Status of the development plan 

• Principle of development 

• West of Swindon background 

• Housing need and 5 year land supply 

• Prematurity 

• Development form including affordable housing 

• Impact on the highway network  

• Sustainability of the site and development proposals 

• Provision of open space and green infrastructure 

• Affect on ecology, nature conservation and biodiversity 

• Affect on the character and appearance of the area 

• Archaeological Impact 

• Affect on drainage and flood risk 

• Impact on residential amenity (existing and proposed residents) 

• Health and Safety Considerations relating to the Petroleum Storage Depot (PSD) 

• Section 106 requirements 
 
c) The proposed development comprises Schedule 2 development (infrastructure 

development) under the EA Regulations and therefore the application was submitted with 
an Environmental Impact Assessment. This is discussed in more detail below. 

 
5. Site Description 
 
a) The application site comprises 29.6 ha of predominantly Grade 3b agricultural land to the 

west of Swindon. The  site contains an operational farmstead consisting of a farmhouse 
and garden and associated farm buildings and is loosely formed around an area of grass 
used for turning vehicles.   

 
b) 4.7ha in the north west corner of the site is former landfill of 1-2cm depth made up of clay, 

organic matter and construction waste such as rubble, bricks, stone and timber. 
 
c) The farm has two accesses - the primary one to the west and a narrower secondary one 

to the south.   The applicant considered it practical to remove all the existing structures, 
deemed as being of little architectural or historic importance rather than design a new 
scheme around them.  

 
d) Two public footpaths cross the site. One passes under the railway and over the River Ray 

to join up with the North Wiltshire Canal towpath. The other links into a path within the 

Page 28



 

 

 

existing urban area to the south.  There are no footpaths leading from the site in a 
northerly direction. The B4553 and B4534 border the site along the west and south 
boundaries. The old Purton Road along the south-eastern boundary forms a shared 
surface offering access to the cottage and a pedestrian cycle route that joins up with the 
National Cycle Network further east. 

 
e) Purton Road (B4553) running west/east, marks the extent of the current built up area, 

(the WEA) of Swindon, and also forms the southern boundary of the site.  At the Mead 
Way roundabout the Purton Road (B4534) turns north east over the 
Swindon/Cheltenham railway at Moredon Bridge to join the Northern Orbital Road 
(NOR) through the Northern Development Area (NDA).  The western boundary is 
formed by the B4553 Cricklade/Purton Road which runs north to join the Purton/Lydiard 
Millicent Roads at the Casa Paulo (formerly the Forresters Arms Public House), 
Common Platt. 

 
f) The north east boundary of the application site is formed by the Swindon-Cheltenham 

railway line on a south east to north-west axis, with a single track running through a 
mixture of shallow embankment and cutting.  Beyond the railway line is the River Ray and 
the Mouldon Hill Country Park area, its southern edge characterised by the presence of 
high voltage electricity cables and pylons and the partly restored North Wiltshire Canal. 

 
g) The site forms part of the broad Upper Thames Clay Vale Character Area and undulates 

from 85m AOD to 98m AOD, with a localised ridge to the west at a height of 103m AOD.  
It is partially contained within the wider landscape around the edge of the urban area by 
locally more elevated land, notably Mouldon Hill to the east.  The site is visible from 
Mouldon Hill which peaks at 105AOD. There are also limited longer distance views at 
around the 1.5km mark at Blunsdon St Andrew.  When viewed at this distance, however, 
the site is seen against a prominent backdrop of existing development with countryside in 
the foreground. 

 
h) The site itself is of rural character although this has to be assessed in the context of the 

existing prominence of the urban edge of Swindon and urbanising influences of the 
railway and high voltage electricity cables, pylons and the oil storage depot.  

 
i) Peatmoor and Sparcells estates are located to the south and south west of the proposed 

development and are examples of contemporary suburban style at relatively medium 
densities.  These areas have distinctive parts that concentrate on specific architectural 
features and materials, some of which are found in the surrounding rural area.  There is 
an average to high quality public realm with landscaped areas and no derelict sites, but 
with poorly designed play areas and public green spaces. The main activity of the area 
takes place in Peatmoor’s village centre on Pepperbox Hill and Sherwood Road. 

 
j) The site lies outside any statutory landscape designation i.e. Area of Outstanding Natural 

Beauty or Green Belt.  However, it is located within the Great Western Community Forest, 
an allocation discussed in more detail below. 

 
k) There are no Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) within 1km of the site.  Bremhill 

Farm South Meadow County Wildlife Site (CWS) abuts the site boundary to the north-
west. Four other CWSs namely, Moredon Railway Field, Canal Side Meadow, Moredon 
Copse and Bradleys Meadow, can also be found in close proximity.  

 
l) There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments within the site or its vicinity. 
 

Page 29



 

 

 

m) The 132kV overhead electricity pylons crossing and skirting the site along with the smaller 
33kV power lines and a 450mm glass fibre reinforced polyester water main next to the 
bridge over the railway all have restrictive setbacks that preclude residential development.   

 
n) The Purton Oil Storage Depot immediately north-west of the site has Protection Zones 

around it defined by the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) which limit the type of 
development that can take place within them.  The outer most zone extends a little way 
into the site.  The Government Pipelines and Storage System (GPSS) oil pipeline that 
feeds into the Depot runs immediately west of the most north-western part of the site – its 
6m (either-side) exclusion setback extends marginally into the site. 

 
o) Site location plans and site layout plan comprise Appendices I and II. 
 

 
6. Relevant Planning History 
 
a) There is none of relevance to this application. 
 
7. The Proposal  
 

a) The application has been submitted with a wealth of assessments, many wrapped up 
within the Environmental Statement and the later Supplemental Environmental Statement 
(submitted in Autumn 2011 following revisions to the masterplan and existing 
assessments stemming from discussions with the Council and third parties).   

 
b) These documents describe the development and consider the impacts of the 

development as required by the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2011. 

 
Residential development 

 
a) The application site area is 29.6ha and is proposed to accommodate no more than 700 

dwellings.   
 
b) The development proposes a mix of market and affordable units, the latter provided at 

30% in accordance with existing Local Plan policy.  Without prejudice to the Council’s 
position at inquiry, the exact breakdown of tenure is the subject of ongoing S106 
discussions.  Such discussions are also seeking to secure an element of extra care 
housing for the elderly in this location. 

 
c) The development will provide a mix of terraced, semi–detached, and detached dwellings. 

The scheme, as amended, proposes a larger area of development in which buildings of 
up to 2.5 storeys will be permitted.  Only on the western and northern periphery of the site 
is it proposed to limit the height up to two storeys.  Development immediately surrounding 
the urban square proposes buildings up to 3 storeys in height. 

 
d) A number of houses and apartments will be grouped around mews, private drives and 

parking courts. Other dwellings will be located along more traditional streets with roads 
and pavements, while others will be arranged around shared surfaces.  

 
e) The average net density across the site will be approximately 37 dph.  This net density is 

considered by the applicant to be comparable to the surrounding residential context and 
is suitable given the site’s location and allows an appropriate range of different density 
neighbourhoods to be accommodated within the development. Densities will range from 
30 dph at the development’s interface with the countryside (i.e. the northern area 

Page 30



 

 

 

adjacent to the railway line), to 45-50 dph at its heart. Concentrating a high density area 
around the urban square will emphasise this area as a focal centre, aiding legibility and 
concentrating a population close to the communal facilities and transport links. The 
majority of the proposed housing will fall in medium density areas of 40 dpha followed by 
35-40 dph which the applicant considers will create an appropriate transition between the 
two. 

 
f) The setting out of the scale of building heights across the development in this way aims to 

encourage local variation in the roofscape to aid legibility and orientation when moving 
through the development. 

 
 

Number of Storeys Assumed Ridge Height 

2 9.5m 

2.5 10.5m 

3 12.0m 

 
g) The illustrative development has been amended to incorporate the potential for the 

delivery of extra care housing for the elderly although the exact details have not been 
agreed and would be dealt with at reserved matters stage. 

 
Primary School 

 
a) Outline permission is also sought for a new primary school and is included within the red 

line.  The Master Plan shows the provision of 1.2ha of the site to accommodate a 1 form 
entry primary school including playing fields within the centre of the proposed 
development. This central location will enable the school to serve the new community at 
Ridgeway Farm and the adjacent Moredon Bridge development, whilst also providing a 
central focus to the scheme.  

 
b) The potential location for the school buildings has been identified within the school site 

adjacent to Swinley Drive. The applicant considers that this street has been identified in 
the Master Plan as an important secondary route and therefore locating the school 
buildings along this will provide an active frontage and a well connected access into the 
school.  The delivery of the school will be undertaken via a S106 agreement or Unilateral 
Undertaking. 

 
Green Infrastructure  

 
c) Approximately 10.59ha of open space/green infrastructure is provided, informed by 

Policy CF3 of the adopted North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011.  The Revised Figure 6.6a 
Landscape Concept Plan provides a breakdown of the types of public open space within 
the development. 

 
d) The green infrastructure provided takes the form of informal open space and framework 

planting (5.76ha) with the second largest element comprising wildlife corridors and 
conservation areas.  The development will provide children’s play areas in the form a 
locally equipped area of play (LEAP) and a neighbourhood equipped area of play 
(NEAP).  The Council would wish these to be secured for future residents via a S106 
agreement or unilateral undertaking.  

 

Page 31



 

 

 

e) The linear open space is made up of both human and wildlife movement corridors, 
wildlife protection areas and hedgerows and their maintenance strips. Dry balancing 
ponds are also provided within the green infrastructure. A signposted trim track is also 
proposed for a route around and through the development.  Robust equipment could be 
located at points along the route to provide a type of outdoor gym. Without prejudice to 
the Council’s position at inquiry, this would be subject to further negotiation at the 
reserved matters stage. 

 
Road Infrastructure  

 
f) The application proposes the re-alignment the B4553 Purton Road, to provide a spine 

road running in a north westerly direction through the development site.  
 

g) The access strategy originally sought to close the Purton Road to vehicular traffic 
except for access to properties with frontages on this route, between Mead Way and 
Washpool. This has subsequently been revised, with the closure only being 
implemented between Mead Way and Swinley Drive, leaving access from Swinley Drive 
through to Washpool for all traffic. The re-alignment of Purton Road will be facilitated 
through the provision of an upgraded roundabout in the south east corner of the 
development site.  This junction will be a four arm roundabout, comprising of the new 
B4553 Purton Road, the B4534 Thamesdown Drive, Sparcells Drive and B4534 Mead 
Way.  The existing Purton Road will be partially closed for traffic, and downgraded to a 
green route, providing access only for the local properties fronting this road, and 
primarily for use by non motorised users.  

 
h) There will be three accesses for the development site. The primary access will be taken 

from the revised four arm roundabout in the south east corner of the site.  Secondly, 
there will be a new priority junction at the north west of the site, where the new 
alignment of the B4533 intersects with the existing north south alignment.  This new 
priority junction includes the provision of a ghost island right turn lane.  The final access 
will be provided at the southern side of the site, from Swinley Drive.  A new link will be 
provided which ties in with the existing alignment of Swinley Drive with the proposed 
new road.  The existing Swinley Drive / Purton Road roundabout will be removed with 
priority running from the extended Swinley Drive east onto the realigned Purton Road 
with a priority junction in the urban square. 

 
Community Health Facilities 

 
i) The school is intended to provide a core community facility, with the community use being 

in the evening.  The application also proposes two D1 units, totalling 560m2, for the 
provision of a doctors and/or dentist facility if required. It is intended that these units will 
help define the square at the centre of development and promote street activity.  
Members are asked to note at the time of preparing this report it is understood that this 
element of the scheme is likely to be omitted following discussions between the applicant 
and the PCT and the requirement for off-site provision and contribution. 

 
8. Planning Policy Context 
 
a) Below is a summary list of the most relevant adopted guidance and policy documents in 

the considerations of this proposal: 
 

• PPS1, PPS3, PPS5, PPS9, PPG13, PPS24 and PPS25 

• Circular 05/2005 Planning Obligations 

• Circular 06/2005 Biodiversity and Geological Conservation 

Page 32



 

 

 

• Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 

• Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

• RPG10 Regional Planning Guidance for the South West 

• Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 2016 principally Policies DP2, DP3, DP4, DP10B 
and DP13 

• North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011 Policies C1 Sustainability; C2 Community Infrastructure; 
C3 Development Control Policy; NE7 Nature Conservation Sites of Local Importance; 
NE9 Protection of Species; NE10 Managing Nature Conservation Features; NE11 
Conserving Biodiversity; NE13 The Great Western Community Forest; NE14 Trees and 
the Control of New Development; NE15 The Landscape Character of the Countryside; 
NE17 Contaminated Land; NE18 Noise and Pollution; HE8 Archaeological Evaluation; T1 
Minimising the Need to Travel; T2 Transport Assessment and Travel Plans; T4 Cycling, 
Walking and Public Transport; H4 Residential Development in the Open Countryside; H5 
Affordable Housing in Urban Areas and Policy CF3. 

• North Wiltshire Open Space study 2004 

• Affordable Housing SPD 2008 
 
b) The following documents are emerging and the weight to be attached to each document 

is for the decision maker: 
 

• Ministerial Statement “Planning for Growth” March 2011 

• National Planning Policy Framework July 2011 

• Wiltshire Core Strategy Pre-submission Draft January 2012 – principally Policies 1, 2, 3 
and 19. 

• Swindon Borough Council Core Strategy – Revised Proposed Submission Draft June 
2011 – principally Policy NC5. 

 
9. Consultation 
 

Purton Parish Council  
 

a) Detailed objections to the original and revised application are available to view in full on 
the file and website. The Parish Council’s objection refers to the fact that Core Strategy 
documents for Wiltshire Council and Swindon Borough Council have not identified the 
need for any urban extension to the west of Swindon at this location. Reference is also 
made to Swindon Borough Council Cabinet confirming at a meeting on 19 January 2011 
“that there was no requirement to allocate sites to the west of Swindon to meet 
Swindon’s’ housing needs”.  Purton Parish Council considers this should be given 
increased weight in deciding this planning application. 

 
b) Despite the reduction to 700 dwellings objections remain and the following summarises 

the objections received to date: highways impact; traffic problems associated with the 
retention of Swinley Drive to Casa Paulo (Foresters Arms) in so far as some traffic  will be 
forced into existing residential roads in Peatmoor to bypass the congested Meads Way; 
retention of the busy spine road through the middle of the development; concerns over 
shared spaces/home zones; southern Spine Road houses front the Spine Road and this is 
hazardous; third pedestrian crossing needed west of urban square; scale of development 
2.5 storeys near Peatmore out of keeping; inconsistency between sections and drawings 
in respect of dwellings proposed on the spine road; proposed LEAP on eastern part 
isolated and too close to the B4534, the other too close to the Spine Road;  
misinformation regarding buses serving the local area. 

 
c) Objections previously made are retained in respect of: loss of rural buffer, only meets the 

needs of the Swindon Principal Urban Area (PUA), highways impact including school bus 

Page 33



 

 

 

travel through centre of Lydiard Millicent and Purton, close proximity to MOD petroleum 
depot and coalescence. 

 
Lydiard Millicent Parish Council  

 
d) The Parish Council submitted objections to the original application and revised scheme. A 

detailed letter of objection can be viewed on the file and Council’s website. 
 

e) The Parish Council note that the application no longer proposes the closure of Purton 
Road between Swinley Drive and Common Platt but objections remain and can be 
summarised as timing; erosion of rural buffer; better sites; impact on J16 M4; highway 
impact; no travel plan for secondary school children; proximity of development to oil dept; 
lack of infrastructure; unsustainable; and need housing need. 

 
Cricklade Town Council 

 
f) No updated objection received. Objections previously made on grounds of: cumulative 

impact with other proposals at Tadpole Farm and Pry Farm on amenities and the area; 
highways impact and capacity of the network; the presumption that adequate health and 
safety measures will be in place given the nearby petrol line; and flooding. 

 
Swindon Borough Council  

 
g) The neighbouring Borough Council has submitted detailed objections in respect of both 

the original and revised application as well as in respect of the Supplemental 
Environmental Statement submitted in the Autumn 2011.  Full comments are on the file 
and website. 

 
h) Notwithstanding the reduction in the scale of development Swindon’s objection remains 

and is summarised as follows: 
 

i) Swindon have made very detailed comments which are summarised in some detail below: 
 

Swindon BC General Comments 
 
I. Additional road off the western side of Purton Road, west of the LAP to negate the 

need for another cul-de-sac to serve these houses aiding integration of communities. 
 

II. The reduction in the average densities across the site from 43dph to 37dph is 
welcomed but the density within the central area remains artificially high which is not 
justified by the presence of the school and medical facilities. 

 
III. The number of through roads have been increased and this is welcomed, however too 

many cul-de-sacs which appear to serve no purpose have also been increased. 
 

IV. The removal of the “Urban Gateway” at the far north western corner of the site is 
welcomed but the use of the word “urban” still does not sit comfortably. 

 
V. The realigned Purton Road is susceptible to future speeding issues.  The Design and 

Access Statement suggests extensive traffic management is not required; however, 
this does not appear to be the case for the realigned Purton Road.  Questions are 
raised over the realignment through the urban square and the associated measures to 
control speed management via the introduction of three controlled pedestrian crossing 
points in terms of whether there will be enough call on these points to have that affect.  

 

Page 34



 

 

 

VI. The LEAP to the east has been replaced by a NEAP to the west of the local open 
space. The local area of play (LAP) in the south west has been removed which is good 
news, however the detailed design will need to ensure adequate overlooking. 

 
VII. In terms of larger areas of open space, the submission of a drainage strategy plan in 

July assisted greatly in understanding how the areas of attenuation are treated as part 
of the open space strategy.  

 
VIII. SBC do not agree with the comments of Wiltshire's Urban Design officer, that there 

has been an increase in woodland planting around the north and western edges of the 
site. Swindon Borough Council still considered this to be insufficient to comply with the 
Great Western Community Forest strategy.  
 

IX. The Supplementary Environmental Statement has now specified that there will be 
0.89 ha (800 trees) along the eastern and northern edge however SBC Landscape 
Officers are of the opinion that whilst this might go some way to delivering trees on 
site, they remain to be convinced that these trees would not have been delivered as 
part of the planting necessary to ameliorate the scheme anyway, and that this does 
not deliver a Community Forest.  

 
X. SBC consider the site to be unsustainable in terms of public transport provision, 

walking distance to key activities such as education, retail and leisure. 
 

Swindon BC – Policy Comments 
 

XI. Their detailed policy objection can be viewed on Wiltshire Council’s website and file 
and is replicated below in the main body of this report in the consideration of current 
and emerging policies as there are synergies with Wiltshire’s adopted and emerging 
development plan. 

 
Swindon BC Comments on Highways Matters 

 
I. The Transport Assessment uses SATURN to determine the likely impact on the local 

highway network. Whilst we are broadly content with the modelling methodology, it 
is considered that the levels of background growth associated with the predicted 
housing numbers and the infrastructure proposed within the model is unrealistic. The 
model shows an unrealistic impact of development traffic on the surrounding 
highway network. The result of this is that the model does not accurately 
demonstrate the likely impact of the development on the local highway network, and 
the specific impact of the development is masked by the levels of background 
growth. 

 
II. Following a series of meetings with WSP, a revised modelling assessment has been 

undertaken on a modified ‘do minimum’ modelling scenario to reflect the slower 
growth experienced over the last 3 years, and the reduced infrastructure proposals 
for future highway schemes. The key outcome of the modelling and subsequent 
discussions was the need to clearly identify the impact of the development on the 
network and provide a suitable mitigation package that deals with traffic from 
Ridgway Farm, whilst taking account of other future developments within the area. It 
was agreed that WSP would re-model Ridgeway Farm using SBC’s updated 2010 
model base, in the future year 2016. 

 
III. The revised modelling continued to show strategic dispersal of development trips.  It 

also showed greater impact on Mead Way than the submitted modelling although it 
appeared background traffic had been replaced by development traffic. It did not 

Page 35



 

 

 

provide a clearer understanding of the direct impact of the development, as it 
continues to be masked by the capacity issues along the Mead Way corridor and the 
subsequent re-distribution of traffic on strategic roads surrounding the site. It is 
therefore still unclear as to where mitigation would be necessary to deal with the 
Ridgeway Farm development traffic. 

 
IV. It was subsequently agreed that Ridgeway Farm would provide a S106 contribution 

of £500,000 towards highway improvements throughout the west Swindon area. 
This could include improvements to the Mead Way, Great Western Way, Swinley 
Drive and Purton Road corridors. It should be noted that due to the scale of 
mitigation improvements being unknown in order to mitigate the impact of Ridgeway 
Farm development traffic, as well as dealing with the existing capacity issues along 
Mead Way in particular, it is not known if this contribution will be sufficient to provide 
the relevant mitigation. 

 
Swindon BC Comments on Strategic Transport 

 
I. The Swindon Transport Strategy (2009) undertaken by WSP identified a number of 

sites to the west of Swindon for housing developments, which included the 
Ridgeway Farm site.  However, Swindon BC considered that these sites are only 
able to come forward with the necessary investment and delivery of a number of 
transportation schemes, to assist in mitigating the impact of the developments.  The 
Transport Strategy demonstrates the likely impact of each major development being 
promoted within the Regional Spatial Strategy, of which Ridgeway Farm was 
identified.  Swindon BC say it is  clearly demonstrated within both the modelling 
work undertaken as part of the TA, and the subsequent modelling work undertaken 
upon the request of SBC, that the impact of Ridgeway Farm would be seen as far 
north as the Purton Road/Thamesdown junction, as well as the Mead Way corridor 
as far south as Meads Roundabout  and that it is  clear from the evidence base 
within the Transport Strategy that the impact of the proposed Ridgeway Farm is 
likely to be felt at a strategic level. 

 
II. Within the Transport Strategy, the schemes required a total cost of £350million.  A 

number of funding streams were identified to bring forward these streams which 
included the Regional Funding Allocation, Community Infrastructure Fund, Regional 
Infrastructure Fund and Transport Innovation Fund, which all now cease to exist; this 
is in addition to any potential S106 contributions.  The new funding stream, the Local 
Sustainable Transport Fund, is not designed to support major infrastructure or 
service enhancements in relation to inter-urban journeys.  

 
III. Within the Transport Strategy, there were two schemes which would be required to 

mitigate the impact of developments coming forward in the north and west of 
Swindon.  This included the Purton-Iffley link road (£60Million) and Junction 16 
improvements (£10Million).  It was considered that these figures are conservative 
estimates based on the minimum infrastructure required to bring forward the 
developments.  The development does not take into consideration the wider 
improvements identified within the Strategy, and the benefits which these could 
bring to the highway network. Therefore it cannot be assumed that the proposed 
improvements in the north and west in isolation will necessarily be enough to 
mitigate the full impact of this development.  

 
IV. In view of the lack of funding available for improvements in this area, particularly the 

Purton-Iffley link road, the preferred site to the north and west of Swindon is now 
Tadpole Farm. Improvements here do not take into consideration the additional 
demand created by the Ridgeway Farm development proposals, and whilst Swindon 

Page 36



 

 

 

note the offer by the developer of the Ridgeway Farm S106 contribution of £500,000 
towards off-site highway improvements, Swindon still considers that significant 
transport contributions would be required to mitigate the impact of this development 
in conjunction with other developments proposed within the area.  

 
Summary of Swindon BC Views on Strategic Highways 

 
a. Swindon Borough Council say it has been demonstrated within the Swindon Transport 

Strategy that the impact of the development of Ridgeway Farm is likely to be 
considerable on the strategic highway network, and whilst Swindon BC notes the 
Ridgeway Farm S106 contribution of £500,000 will help mitigate the developments 
impact to a certain extent, it still considers that a number of infrastructure projects would 
be required to support and mitigate the impact of all predicted development.  Given that 
funding is no longer available for these identified schemes, it is considered that these 
infrastructure projects are undeliverable.  Therefore, without substantial improvements 
to the strategic road network to mitigate the impact of the development, Swindon BC 
considers that Ridgeway Farm is unacceptable in transportation terms.  

 
Swindon BC views on Mitigation (sustainable travel) 

 
b. The original TA discusses an extension to the 19 bus route, which provides a frequency 

of 30 minutes.  Whilst Swindon welcomes the rerouting of this service through the site, 
the frequency is not adequate.  This 30 minute frequency is also reliant upon there 
being no traffic calming or frontages on the bus route itself, which as discussed later 
(within this letter) has an impact on other areas of consideration such as speed restraint.  
This extended service route currently ends at the evening peak hour due to cuts in 
subsidy, which is in Swindon BC’s view, a substantial restriction to mode of travel 
choice.  Swindon BC understand that the Developers are in discussions with 
Thamesdown Transport about extending this service and hours of service but as yet no 
agreement has been reached.  That said, the route was considered by Thamesdown 
Transport without subsidy to be unviable, there is no evidence to suggest that after the 
Ridgeway Farm developers subsidy runs out that the Service could be retained in the 
future. 

 
Sustainability 

 
c. Swindon BC have concerns over the sustainable credentials of the proposed 

development.  The assessment work contains Census Travel to Work Data (2001) 
which indicates that the immediate vicinity of the site has a 14% higher than national 
average car driver/passenger percentage.  This information is based on the Shaw and 
Nine Elms wards, this suggests an underlying sustainability issue, and it is important 
that the development improves the opportunity for travel by non-car modes to reverse 
this trend.  

 
d. A number of Accession plots have been provided in support of the development 

proposals, which demonstrate the likely walking distances to a number of key facilities.  
Whilst the applicant has relied on guidance within PPG13: Transport and IHT 
‘Guidelines for Providing Journeys on Foot, 2000’ Swindon BC are of the view that it 
would be more appropriate to base the assessment on RPG10 and other more recent 
best practice having a view to research, which provides different accessibility criteria.  
Following this guidance, it is apparent that a number of key facilities fall outside of the 
desirable and maximum walking distances provided within RPG10.  For example, the 
nearest secondary school, Hreod Parkway, is stated as being 1800metres from the 
edge of the site.  The desirable distance is 600metres, with a maximum distance of 
1000metres.  It is however likely those secondary school children will be bussed out of 

Page 37



 

 

 

the development to a secondary school within Wiltshire, a further demonstration of the 
poor sustainability credentials of this development. 

 
e. It is demonstrated that a desirable walking distance to food shops is 300metres, with a 

600 metres maximum.  Currently the nearest food shop from the site is 500 metres. 
Whilst this falls within the maximum distance it is still further than would be desirable.  
Within RPG10 other non-residential facilities, such as leisure, health facilities and 
employment are said to be desirable with a 600 metre walking distance, and 
1000metres as a maximum. With the exception of the Sparcells Surgery being 500 
metres from the development, all other facilities fall outside the maximum distance.  
Again, this adds weight to the argument that the development is not within a sustainable 
area, and will give rise to a requirement for residents to use private vehicles to access 
key facilities.  Furthermore, whilst it is acknowledged that improvements are proposed to 
the existing bus services, it is unlikely that these in isolation will encourage a modal shift 
away from private vehicles.  

 
Swindon BC View on the Applicant’s proposed Travel Plan 

 
I. Whilst Swindon BC accept the principles of the Travel Plan, it is considered that a 

number of areas still require further information. In its current form it does not 
provide Swindon BC with the confidence that it will provide a satisfactory tool for 
influencing travel behaviour at the site. The site is a good candidate for a developer 
funded car club, and Swindon would like to see measures taken to drive this 
forward.  Furthermore, whilst the Travel Plan discusses the role of the Travel Plan 
Coordinator (TPC), further details have not been provided as to the likely length of 
employment, and the necessary budgets available to the TPC to complete their role.  

 
II. Given the site’s location, and the evidence suggesting existing underlining 

sustainability issues, the Transport Plan should be a key tool in driving the modal 
shift for the development.  It will help in reducing the potential impact on Swindon’s 
road network.  Swindon BC would like to see a comprehensive monitoring strategy 
which focuses on the internalisation of trips and modal shift.  Given the importance 
of the Transport Plan in reducing the impact on the road network, Swindon BC 
would like the Transport Plan form part of the S106 agreement, which should 
provide a mechanism for remedial issues should the Transport Plan fail to meet its 
targets. In turn, this should focus on providing additional sustainable opportunities 
through financial contributions, which are only deliverable through the S106 process.  

 
Swindon BC view on Highway Design 

 
I. Swindon BC are pleased to see that ‘Manual for Streets’ has been considered when 

preparing the Master Plan for the development site. Furthermore, the downgrading 
of Purton Way to a greenlane to provide access for non motorised vehicles 
demonstrates consideration towards modal hierarchy.  However, there are a number 
of design issues that Swindon feel Wiltshire should take up with the applicant and to 
which it has concerns whilst remaining respectful that this particular impact lies 
outside its administrative boundary.  

 
II. The proposed realignment and creation of a spine road has not been designed to 

manage down speed.  The Design & Access statement indicates that traffic 
management should not be required. However from the designs provided to date it 
is unclear how speed will be managed on this route.  Furthermore, Swindon has 
concerns that the re-aligned of Purton Road will create severance issues between 
the north and south of the development.  Whilst it has been indicated that 3 
pedestrian crossings will be provided, the issue of traffic volume intimidation and any 

Page 38



 

 

 

perceived severance should be considered.  Again, it is important that these issues 
are addressed as they have the potential to reduce the attractiveness of walking and 
cycling, and could encourage the use of private vehicles to access facilities to the 
south of the development site.  It has been suggested that the introduction of 
crossing points on Purton Way will assist in managing speed along this route.   

 
III. This urban extension has not incorporated the strategic road into the development 

and made it a focus point.  It provides few direct connections or changes the form of 
the Purton Road enough to reduce speed, make the Purton Road more humane and 
integrate the road into the development. 

 
IV. Whilst this application is only in outline the general arrangement of the spine road 

within the masterplan does not take into consideration a design speed of 30mph.  
Some of the tools a transportation professional would use to restrict or influence 
speed would be to restrict forward visibility, alignment, close proximity of buildings, 
on street parking, pedestrian activity.  The Master Plan would prohibit the 
effectiveness of these tools.  For example the sweeping, slack radius of the spine 
road would in Swindon’s view not only fail at managing speed but encourage higher 
speeds. That combined with the lack of building frontage and direct accesses 
makes, in the professional view of Swindon’s highway officer, the only viable options 
for speed management physical features or obstructions. These tools are generally 
used as retrospective speed management and are not best practice. 

 
V. The proposed urban square and contrived junction arrangement between the new 

Purton Road and extended Swinley Drive without supporting activity that would be 
provided by retail and other local amenities is unlikely to work leading to conflict in 
turning movements and a higher potential for collisions. 

 
VI. Despite being requested to do so, the applicant has not confirmed how safe and 

convenient crossing points from the newly introduced green lane across Swinley 
Drive will be provided. Given the substantial levels of traffic increasing on Swinley 
Drive, it may be necessary to provide a signalised crossing at this point. 

 
VII. It has been established through the modelling that Swinley Drive will experience 

substantial increase in traffic and whilst in pure capacity and geometric terms the 
road is capable of absorbing the increase in traffic there are other considerations to 
be made in terms of amenity.  Concerns have been raised by existing residents prior 
to the submission of this application that there are speeding, safety and severance 
issues with requests for traffic calming. 

 
VIII. Swinley Drive (between Purton Road – Peatmoor Way) is modelled in the am peak 

to have as a direct result of the development an increase of 88% southbound, from 
80 to 150 pcu’s.   

 
Swindon BC Highways Conclusions 

 
I.        At this time Swindon BC is unable to accept the development proposals based on 

the assessment work provided. Swindon therefore recommends that planning 
permission is refused for this development. The reasons for our recommendation 
are outlined below:  

 

• Strategic Transport Implications: The 2009 Swindon Transport Strategy 
indicates that this development will impact a number of key junctions and 
corridors in the north and west of Swindon, and as such considerable targeted 
infrastructure is required to mitigate the development.  The Transport Strategy 

Page 39



 

 

 

provided conservative estimates on the level of funding required to deliver 
development in this area, of which Ridgeway Farm was indentified. Following the 
removal of funding, we do not consider the necessary infrastructure 
improvements to be deliverable, and whilst we note the developers proposed 
S106 contribution of £500,000 towards off-site highway improvements, we still 
consider that significant transport contributions would be required to mitigate the 
impact of this development in conjunction with other developments proposed 
within the area. We therefore feel this development is unacceptable and is 
contrary to development proposals emerging for Core Strategies in Swindon and 
Wiltshire.  It is also contrary to the following policies as, set out in Swindon’s 
third Local Transport Plan: 

 
- Policy A Optimise the capacity of the Highway network and improve journey time 

reliability for all forms of transport. 
- Policy B Improve Road Safety. 
- Policy D Integrate land use planning and transport to reduce the need to travel 

and mitigate the impact of new development on the transport network. 
 

• Sustainability: We have concerns over the sustainable credentials of the 
development site.  Assessment indicates that the surrounding wards have a high 
reliance on private vehicles, and we do not consider this development will 
encourage a reverse of this trend.  It is noted that there are a lack of facilities on 
site to encourage internalisation, and the proposed mitigation measures at 
present do not go far enough in reducing the impact of the development.  
Furthermore, the assessment has indicated that the development is not in 
accordance with Regional Planning Guidance 10, and will therefore lead to an 
over reliance in private vehicles from the development site. 

 

• Design: It is considered that the proposed realignment and creation of the spine 
road has not been designed to manage down speed, and we are therefore not 
content that it provides a suitable scheme for the development.  Furthermore, we 
have concerns that the re-aligned Purton Road will create severance issues 
between the north and south of the development. The current design is 
considered to reduce the attractiveness of walking and cycling, through fears of 
intimidation and speed, thereby encouraging the use of private vehicles to 
access facilities to the south of the development site.   

 
If Wiltshire was so minded Swindon Borough Council would recommend refusal 
for the following reasons: 

 
A. The proposed development has a significant impact on the operation of 

the strategic transport network in the north and west of Swindon as part 
of an accumulative impact assessed through the 2009 Swindon 
Transport Strategy.  The development as proposed does not provide the 
necessary infrastructure improvements to mitigate the impact in 
conjunction with lack of central Government funding making this proposal 
unviable in transport terms. 

 
B. The proposed development would be located where it is distant from 

adequate services with an insufficient public transport provision and will 
therefore increase the need for journeys to be made by private vehicles 
which is non-sustainable and in conflict with advice given in PPG13, RPG 
10 and Policy TM1 of the North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011. 

 

Page 40



 

 

 

C. The proposed development as illustrated by the masterplan is not 
capable of being brought forward in highway design terms in an 
acceptable manner.  Thereby encouraging speeding, severance, 
intimidation and safety issues which are contrary to national guidance in 
Manual for Streets 1 and 2, Policy C3 of the North Wiltshire Local Plan 
2011 and current best practice. 

 
Swindon BC S106 requirements 
 

II.        Swindon BC has also provided final detailed S106 requirements which are the 
subject of on-going negotiations and which include contributions towards: 

 

• Libraries – Swindon Link library £77,366.00 

• Leisure, Sport and Recreation – pitch provision £170,200.00 

• Leisure, Sport and recreation - £356, 618.00  

• Great Western Community Forest – £81,944.00 

• (Based on the adopted 1994 Forest Plan) 

• Wiltshire Fore and Rescue £75,950.00 

• Health £103,306.00 
 

Wiltshire Spatial Planning Service  
 

j) Due to the constant movement of planning guidance and Secretary of State decisions as 
well as the period of time since the application was originally submitted and comments 
provide in Spring 2011, an updated detailed response has been provided which should be 
read in conjunction with the original response provided in the Spring. 

 
k) Much of their comments relating to policy background etc are presented below in the 

relevant sections of this report. 
 

l) The comments of the Spatial Planning Service conclude: 
 

“The Secretary of State’s Proposed Changes to the RSS for the South West (July 2008) - 
the latest version of the draft RSS for the South West - has in effect been abandoned and 
unlikely to proceed to adoption. More up to date evidence has been developed by the 
Councils to support new housing requirements within the emerging Wiltshire and Swindon 
Core Strategies. Both Strategies do not make provision for growth on the edge of 
Swindon within north Wiltshire. While some weight can be afforded to the emerging Core 
Strategies the proposal would nevertheless be in line with adopted development plan 
policy to deliver (my emphasis) 1,000 homes at west Swindon by 2016. The proposal site 
alongside the delivery of new homes at Tadpole Farm, as well as Moredon Bridge would 
collectively meet this requirement, while contributing to an apparent shortfall in the five 
year land requirement at Swindon. 

 
Notwithstanding the above, given that the proposal site has not been formally progressed 
as a specific allocation through the development plan process as intended by Structure 
Plan Policy DP10B it will be particularly important to ensure that the proposed 
development is sustainable and does not prejudice the implementation of the emerging 
Swindon Core Strategy, which sets out the Vision for growth of the town. As such, the 
impact of this site on the delivery of those being promoted through the emerging Strategy 
will need due consideration to ensure that there is no cumulative impact on infrastructure 
and it would not prejudice the delivery of the preferred strategy for Swindon’s growth. The 
development of this site could ultimately mean that 800 more (my emphasis) homes are 
delivered (than required via Policy DP10B - my addition) 

Page 41



 

 

 

 
The mix of development could be greatly improved in order to provide the residents of this 
significant urban extension with accessible local shopping facilities and providing a 
community focal point, rather than expecting them to use facilities located at a distance 
from the majority of homes on the site. At present it is difficult to see how the proposal can 
be regarded as a sustainable urban extension that successfully integrates with the town, 
given the apparent overriding emphasis on housing provision itself rather than the 
development of a sustainable community. This proposal as it stands would not appear to 
be consistent with the Ministerial Statement - Planning for Growth, nor the direction of 
travel in the draft NPPF in light of the fact that although it has the potential to deliver new 
housing, it does not support the wider national and local policy aims of delivering a 
sustainable form of development.” 

 
Wiltshire Highways Officer  

 
m) Object to the proposed development for the following reasons: 

 

• Impact on the highway network in Swindon 

• Poor accessibility and sustainability credentials of the development 

• Design issues pertaining to the need to balance and ensure the main spine 
road has sufficient capacity as well as keeping speeds down; the difficulties in 
balancing the role and function of the “Urban Square”; poor integration of the 
main road due to the levels and amount of cut and fill required 

• Improvement of the existing right of way (Purt77) to upgrade it to cycle path 
standards to improve linkages to facilities outside of the site. 

 
Urban Design Officer  

 
n) Detailed comments are available on file.  Previous significant concerns expressed in terms 

of scale, building height and density, the petroleum depot exclusion zone, building 
appearance, the urban square, pedestrian and cycle routes, building frontage to the open 
space, car parking and need to provision of high speed Broadband have been addressed. 

 
o) On going concerns in respect of; the number of internal parking courtyards shown on the 

masterplan; landmark detail needed on western gateway as shown on all other entries.  
All other comments provided related to considerations in respect of more detailed design 
for consideration at reserved matters stage.  

 
Environmental Health Officer  

 
p) No further comments in respect of the revised scheme, however observations were made 

in respect of the original submission that conditions should be attached to any permission 
in respect of dust, noise and contamination mitigation schemes to be submitted and 
approved. 

 
Principal Ecologist  

 
q) No objections subject to appropriate conditions to secure Construction Environmental Plan 

(CEMP) and Ecological Management Plan (EMP) together with S106 contribution towards 
improvements to footpath PUR77. 

 

Page 42



 

 

 

Head of Education 
 

r) There are no objections proposed to the development subject to the completion of a legal 
agreement which includes the provision of a new 1 form entry (including foundation stage 
1) primary school is required to serve the development in the location shown on the 
illustrative Masterplan on a site comprises 1.2ha. Ridgeway Farm constitutes 80% of the 
need.  However, the development needs to fund 100% initially with monies to be refunded 
following payment of contributions from the Moredon Bridge development. No 
contributions are needed to Secondary Education in Wiltshire as capacity exists to 
accommodate pupils from this development. 

 
Adoptions and Inspections Officer  

 
s) The amount of POS required on site is 4.2696 Ha, of which 0.6100 ha should be play 

provision (adult and child) in accordance with the Councils Adopted Supplementary 
Planning Guidance, the North Wiltshire Open Spaces Study 2004.  The developer is 
proposing to provide a total of 10.59 Ha of green infrastructure. At the time of preparing 
this report, without prejudice to the Council’s position at inquiry, the Council and applicant 
are in discussions regarding the future management of the overprovision.  In accordance 
with the current Local Plan there is an adequate provision of POS on site and commuted 
payments identified have taken into account ecological management regimes that maybe 
required on the site. No objection is raised subject to a S106 securing the Public Open 
space in perpetuity.  

 
t) Further a contribution is sought towards the expansion of Purton Cemetery of £32,000. 

 
County Archaeologist  

 
u) Originally objected on grounds of lack of archaeological evaluation thus making the EIA 

deficient.  However, further trial trenching was undertaken in August 2011 after 
considerable negotiation. As referred to in the Supplemental Environmental Statement the 
probable remains of an Iron Age settlement in the south east corner of the proposed 
development si5te has been uncovered by the evaluation.  Accordingly a condition is 
required for secure further investigation in the event planning permission were to be 
granted prior to any commencement of development. 

 
Rights of Way Officer  

 
v) No objections subject to following contributions to be secured by way of a S106 

agreement: 
 

• Appropriate surfacing, signage and rights of way furniture between the site and the canal - 
£25,000 

• Canal upgrade works - £10,000 

• Replacement of existing pedestrian bridge to bridge which could cater for cyclists - 
£65,000 

• Upgrading the status of the part of the route in the developer’s ownership to either a 
bridleway or cycleway 

• Legal costs as required 

• contributions sought for the upgrade of footpath PUR77  

Page 43



 

 

 

 
Environment Agency  

 
w) Have now withdrawn their previous objection on the basis of revised plans subject to 

conditions/informative in respect of the development according with the Flood Risk 
Assessment and the mitigation measures therein; submission of detailed drainage design; 
submission of watercourse crossings; landscape and ecological management plan and 
contamination site investigation and mitigation, if appropriate.  

 
Canal Officer, Countryside Section  

 
x) No objection but S106 contributions sought for two nearby existing canal restorations at 

£15 per dwelling. 
 

Housing – Principal Development Officer  
 

y) Affordable housing sought based on some 600 people seeking an affordable home in the 
Wootton Bassett Community Area and a shortfall of 780 dwellings per annum across the 
north of Wiltshire.  

 
z) 30% affordable housing required (80% rented, 20% homebuy).  60 units of extra care 

required all 2 bed flats of which 30% should be social rent with 70% outright sale/shared 
ownership. Some flexibility permitted if viability.  Discussions have stalled as viability 
dependant on the total contribution required from the development. 

 
Emergency Planning Team  

 
aa) Have confirmed that it is not within their remit to comment on planning applications. 

 
Highways Agency  

 
bb) Objection withdrawn but a robust Travel Plan must be secured with attention to areas 

such as monitoring and budgeting for this. 
 

Wiltshire and Swindon PCT 
 

cc) Have confirmed that the proposed on-site doctors/health care facility would not be an 
acceptable solution to mitigate the cumulative impact of potential future residents on the 
existing GP services in the area.  This position is justified because in isolation, the 
development itself would only generate the need for 1 whole time equivalent (WTE) GP 
(based on Wiltshire PCT figures of 1750 persons per GP and an average occupancy rate 
of 2.38 persons per household (Swindon figures).   The PCT considers that additional 
demand is best met by investment in expanding capacity  at existing health care premises 
off-site for which a financial contribution of £103, 306 has been requested from the 
developer in on-going discussions.  Discussions remain on-going but it is requested that 
the application be amended to omit the GP/health care provision in terms of plans and 
description. 

 
Fisher German  

 
dd) Confirm the Government Pipelines and Storage System may be affected by the proposal, 

confirmation needed that the Health and Safety Executive have been consulted is needed 
given to the Petroleum Storage Depot.  Further concerns were also expressed regarding 
air quality and following receipt of additional information these have now been withdrawn.  
Fisher German also represents the MoD. 

Page 44



 

 

 

 
Health and Safety Executive  

 
ee) Have confirmed that “HSE does not advise, on safety grounds, against the granting of 

planning permission in this case.” 
 

Thames Water  
 

ff) Waste Comments – agree with the revised surface water strategy, referenced 0268/D/01 
as prepared by WSP.   

 
gg) Water supply: A 2007 modelling report into this development suggested that the 

development should be supplied off Blunsdon 23 DMA.  The connection should be made 
off the 450mm main below where it feeds into DMA23.  A 500m length of 200mm main is 
required to supply the development.  The developer is aware of this requirement and the 
associated costs. 

 
hh) Water comments: On the basis of the information provided no objection is made to the 

planning application.  Thames Water has recommended an informative be attached to any 
permission regarding minimum pressure to be provided to customers and the design of 
the development needs to take this into account. 

 
Wiltshire and Swindon Biological Records Centre  

 
ii) Records confirm range of species at this location including bats, otters and reptiles. 

 
Natural England  

 
jj) Previously objected on numerous grounds including: 

 

• Inadequate information to ascertain whether the application is in line with PPS9, 
specifically whether it maintains and where possible, enhances biodiversity, and, lack 
of information notwithstanding, a failure to adequately seeking opportunities on/off site 
to enhance biodiversity; 

• Information in the landscape and visual impact assessment does not allow for 
determination of visual impact, specifically the ZVI map appears to be based on OS 
ground level data and is not related to anticipate building height data. 

• The above two points could be overcome through further information, design and 
mitigation. 

• Other detailed biodiversity comments are provided. 
 

kk) Following the resubmission of the SES, whilst the changes made are minor they have no 
bearing on the advice previously given (outlined above). The offer of an off-site 
contribution to public access measures is insufficient to demonstrate that there is no net 
loss to biodiversity and an appropriate contribution towards the Great Western Community 
Forest would secure the gain to biodiversity. 

 
Wiltshire Police Architectural Liaison Officer  

 
ll) Notwithstanding that no pre-application consultation took place, considerable attention has 

been paid to crime mitigation within the design and access statement.  If the applicants 
are successful in obtaining outline permission they are expected to engage with Wiltshire 
Police throughout the design process to ensure the entire development is built to Secure 
By Design standards. 

Page 45



 

 

 

 
Network Rail  

 
mm) No objections subject to details being considered and condition as part of any 

reserved matters application. 
 

nn) A specific response was sought in respect of the implications of the development for a 
potential station at Moredon Bridge as identified referred to by Swindon and Cricklade 
Railway in their objections.  Network Rail have confirmed that there are no firm proposals 
for a station in this vicinity and full optioneering and development would need to be done 
to agree the detail of such an aspiration.  Network Rail has confirmed that the Swindon to 
Kemble enhancement (redoubling) would not prejudice any future station proposal that 
may arise. 

 
Defence Estates  

 
oo) Comments received via Fisher German their agents. 

 
Southern Electric  

 
pp) Have confirmed that major circuits cross the application site connecting to an important 

link to Southern Electric’s extra-high voltage system.  Modifying circuits such as these is a 
major and costly undertaking which should be avoided if possible.  Any development 
should therefore be designed to allow circuits of this nature to remain undisturbed and 
accessible in their present location if at all possible.  No objection is raised to the 
proposed development. 

 
Haydon Wick Parish Council  

 
qq) Object on highways safety, capacity and impact grounds; use of Swindon’s services by 

residents of the development and impact on Council Tax in SBC area who will not get 
S196 monies, rather Wiltshire Council will. 

 
CPRE  

 
rr) Object on the grounds that the scale of the development proposed is neither appropriate 

or timely, and that it fails to meet criteria contained in Local Plan Policies C1 iii), C3 i), viii9 
and Policy 10B c) of Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan. A full copy of the objection can 
be viewed on the file or website. 

 
Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Area Board  
 

ss) Opposes the proposed development as the proposal distinctly impacts on the rural buffer 
between the rural villages of North Wiltshire and the urban town of Swindon.  The 
proposed development will have a further detrimental impact on the currently overloaded 
infrastructure in the villages in close proximity of the application, particularly with regards 
to roads and potential flooding impact.  Furthermore, reference to the Wiltshire and 
Swindon Structure Plan 2016 (which is the current planning guidance given the demise of 
the Regional Spatial Strategy), which clearly states (DP13) that “rural buffers” should be 
maintained to protect the separate identities of the villages and prevent their coalescence 
with Swindon (explicitly named are Cricklade, Lydiard Millicent, Purton and Wootton 
Bassett). 

 

Page 46



 

 

 

Wiltshire Cluster Area Forum  
 

tt) Object on grounds of infrastructure impact on Swindon’s local area roads, flooding/foul 
water systems, which will not be sustainable. Swindon schools also have considerable 
demand for places which cannot be met. 

 
Ps and Qs  

 
uu) Object on grounds that the application is not based on local housing need calculations; 

local predictions for economic ground; the concept of the Localism Bill; and the draft Core 
Strategies of both Swindon and Wiltshire. Full objection details can be read on the file and 
website. 

 
Ramblers North East Wiltshire Group  

 
vv) Express main concerns in respect of adverse impact on ecology and the “countryside feel” 

of the River Ray Corridor; and encroachment of Swindons’ urban development towards 
Purton and loss of countryside between the two. 

 
Swindon and Cricklade Railway (S&CR)  

 
ww) Object on the grounds that the proposed development will add significant burdens 

to the Swindon infrastructure, while making little or no contribution to that local economy.  
The S&CR require contributions in respect of: the transfer of land necessary for the 
proposed Moredon Bridge station with traditional approach road; transfer of land 
necessary for the S&CR link to the mainline and new station together with the construction 
of associated platforms and footbridge; new embankment and associated infrastructure; 
payment for the mainline connection between the Gloucester line and the S&CR; 
contribute sum of money for associated track laying. 

 
Robert Buckland MP  

 
xx) Confirms his objection to the development proposals for many of the reasons outlined 

below by local residents. 
 
10. Publicity 
 

I.     The application was advertised by site notices, press advert and neighbour 
consultation.  Following the receipt of the Supplemental Environmental Statement, 
further formal consultations were undertaken in October 2011 via site notice and 
press advert only. 

 
II.     Some 1034 objections (including signatories on a petition and some referenced 

specifically above) have been received on the following grounds: 
 

 
 

- Loss of rural buffer/agricultural land/countryside/greenfield site/loss of green belt 
- Site not allocated/contrary to policy 
- No need/development unoccupied and underway elsewhere in Swindon 
- Lack of associated infrastructure/employment 
- No facilities on the site -i.e. shops, entertainment facilities 
- Highways impact on local roads and Junction 16 
- Increase in school buses on the road 
- Partial road closure add miles to journeys 

Page 47



 

 

 

- Pedestrian routes poor 
- Impact on cyclepaths 
- Ability of existing bus services to cope with additional demand 
- Impact on PSD depot/proximity of housing/safety concerns 
- Impact on schools and services 
- Flooding 
- Lack of foul sewer capacity/drainage and foul services operated by Thames Water 
- Contamination 
- Impact on ecology and wildlife 
- Financial implications for North Wiltshire Council tax payers 
- Impacts for policing and fire services 
- Increase in CO2 emissions 
- Impact on archaeology 
   

11. Planning Considerations  
 

a) Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the 
determination of planning applications must be in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

b) The development plan that relates to this development is as follows: 
 

• Regional Planning Guidance for the South West (RPG10); 

• Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 2016 (adopted April 2006) – policies saved therein;  

• North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011 (adopted June 2006) (and the saved policies therein; and 

• Wiltshire and Swindon Waste Core Strategy (adopted July 2009). 
 

12. Town and Country Planning (Environmental Assessment) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2011 
 

a) The proposed development requires an Environmental Impact Assessment having regard 
to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment ((England and 
Wales) 2011 and the thresholds and criteria therein.  An interpretation of the Regulations 
is yet to be provided. 

 
b) Both documents combined confirm an EIA may be required if a Schedule 2 project (which 

this application is): “is likely to have significant effects by virtue of factors such as its size, 
nature or location.” 

 
c) In light of this the applicants, Taylor Wimpey have undertaken a Environmental Impact 

Assessment (EIA) of the proposed development and have provided all the information 
required in Schedule 4 of the Regulations via the EIA submitted in December 2010 and 
the Supplemental Environmental Statement (SES) submitted in September 2011. The 
SES reflected the findings of additional studies and works required during the course of 
determining the application given officer concerns in respect aspects including the scale 
of the development, archaeology, drainage, ecology, transportation and air quality.  It has 
recently come to light in preparing this report that the SEA still refers to the 1999 EIA 
Regulations (as amended). The 2011 Regulations came into force on 24 August 2011, 
before the SEA was formally submitted.  The applicant has been made aware of this and 
the appropriate and necessary course of action is being undertaken with no consequence 
to the consideration of this application by the Committee. 

 
d) The site assessment area comprises the application site in its current form together with 

land north of the railway and south of the River Ray with a wider scoping area considered 

Page 48



 

 

 

with included adjoining land as the area most likely to be affected by development.  A 
wider scoping area was used for topics such as transport. 

 
e) The EIA (and SEA) covers matters including assessment method; ground conditions and 

contamination, landscape and visual; ecology; agriculture; archaeology and cultural 
heritage; transportation; hydrology and water resources; noise and vibration; air quality; 
socio-economics and local communities; and an overview of the effects. 

 
f) The impacts of the development are succinctly outlined in the non-technical summary of 

the proposed development revised as of September 2011.  The impact of development is 
outlined with mitigation measures also outlined where these are necessary. 

 
g) Many of the impacts of the proposed development are reviewed when considering the 

main issues of this development. 
 

h) One of the requirements of an EIA is the consideration of main alternatives to the 
proposed development. This is comprised of two elements. Firstly, alternative locations 
for the development per se as part of the overall planning process.  The EIA confirms in 
paragraph 4.1.2 that the applicant has not directly studied any alternatives in respect of 
the development of the Ridgeway Farm site. This is due in part to the timing of events 
within the strategic and local planning process itself.  Of note, the inclusion of the site 
within the West of Swindon Update Study (dated February 2009) is highlighted and the 
conclusion of that Study which confirmed that in response to meeting the 3,000 dwellings 
sought in the draft Regional Spatial Strategy (dRSS), the Ridgeway farm site is part  (my 
emphasis) of the Preferred Option. 

 
i) The second element is the question of alternatives for the site itself in relation to the 

masterplan.  The various versions of the masterplan dating back to 1999 are considered 
in the context of emerging policies and plans.  Notably Transport Plans of 1992 and 2009, 
the former identified the potential at Moredon Bridge (opposite the site) for a rail based 
park and ride opportunity.  This being a long term aspiration which has never been 
formulated into an allocation or business plan.  The masterplan in 2010 was informed by 
the need to provide a 1 form entry primary school to serve the needs generated by 
development west of Swindon comprising Moredon Bridge and Ridgeway Farm.  This was 
to be provided on land north of the railway in the 2010 Master Plan upon which public 
consultation took place in Summer 2010 and which also included provision north of the 
railway for a bus based park and ride scheme and rail halt.  

 
j) As part of the evolution of the Masterplan various access strategies were considered and 

these are outlined in section 4.3.13 onwards. Two options were explored with option 2 
(paragraph 4.3.16 onwards) considered to provide the greatest benefit since it notably 
proposes the closure of the entire section of Purton Road along the southern boundary. 

 
k) As required the EIA considers the “no development scenario” and takes the stance that 

based on the conclusions of the Structure Plan Examination in Public Panel (1997) that 
the Ridgeway Farm site was the most sustainable and appropriate location for necessary 
development requirements, The applicant believes therefore that it is preferable to 
develop the site for residential development rather than leave it in its present “sub-
optimal” use. 

 
13. Status of the Development Plan 
 

a) Throughout the determination of this planning application, the planning system itself has 
been in a state of flux and is likely to continue to do so following the consideration of this 

Page 49



 

 

 

application by the Committee and during its consideration at Inquiry scheduled for May 
2012. 

 
b) Some seven months prior to the submission of the application which is the subject of this 

non-determination appeal, in May 2010, the Secretary of State for the Department of 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) announced the Government’s intention to 
“rapidly abolish Regional Strategies and return decision making powers on housing and 
planning to local authorities.  Consequently decisions on housing supply (including the 
provision of traveller’s sites) will rest with Local Planning Authorities without the 
framework of regional numbers and plans. 

 
c) Subsequent to that, advice to Chief Planning Officers from Steve Quartermain was issued 

on 10 July 2010 advising that: 
 

 In determining planning applications local planning authorities must continue to have 
regard to the development plan.  This will now consist only of: 
 

• Adopted DPDs; 

• Saved policies; and 

• Any old style plans that have not lapsed. 
 

d) Local planning authorities should also have regard to other material considerations, 
including national policy.  Evidence that informed the preparation of the revoked Regional 
Strategies may also be a material consideration depending on the facts of the case. 

 
e) Following a successful legal challenge to the Secretary of State’s announcement further 

advice was issued in a letter to Chief Planning Officers from Steve Quartermain on 10 
November 2010: 
 
“The effect of this decision is to re-establish Regional Strategies as part of the 
development plan. However the Secretary of State wrote to Local Planning Authorities 
and to the Planning Inspectorate on 27 May 2010 informing them of the Government’s 
intention to abolish Regional Strategies in the Localism Bill and that he expected them to 
have regard to this as a material consideration in planning decisions. 

 
f) A subsequent legal challenge on this advice was dismissed early in February 2011 with 

the effect of confirming that the intention to revoke regional strategies is a material 
consideration in the determination of planning applications. 

 
g) In his judgment the Judge: 

• concluded the Statement and the letter of 10 November which propose changes to the 
composition of the development plan by way of new legislation could amount to a material 
consideration for the purposes of S70(2) TCPA 1990 - just as prospective changes to the 
relevant policy framework might be regarded as material (e.g. draft Circulars, draft PPSs 
or draft development plan documents);  

• emphasised the Statement and letter of 10 November do not encourage local planning 
authorities to behave in any way that is inconsistent with the plan led system and the 
requirement to determine an application in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise; 

Page 50



 

 

 

• stated that local authorities are not encouraged to assume that regional strategies are 
already revoked, rather that when making decisions local authorities must take into 
account the fact that they are intended to be revoked.         

 
h) Paragraph 54 of the CALA II judgement confirms that the Government’s intention to 

reform the composition of the development plan should be treated as a material planning 
consideration and is clear that: 

 
 “...the weight to be given to it will always depend on the decision makers  own 
 judgement.” 
 

i) A further appeal against the judgement was also dismissed in May 2011 (CALA III) 
 

j) In March 2011 Steve Quartermain issued another letter to Chief Planning Officers in 
respect of “Planning for Growth”. This followed a Written Ministerial Statement by Greg 
Clarke on 23 March 2011 “Planning For Growth” which set out the Governments’ 
commitment to reforming the planning system so that it promotes sustainable growth and 
delivers jobs.  The statement was confirmed by Steve Quartermain as a material 
consideration in development management decisions by Local Authorities. 

 
k) This was further confirmed in a letter issued by the Planning Inspectorate to its Inspectors 

dated 31 March 2011 which stated: 
 
 “Inspectors should, in relevant casework, have careful and full regard to the 
 principles in Greg Clark’s statement that significant weight should be 
 attached to  the need to secure economic growth and employment.”  
 

l) Following on from this, with the Governments Localism Bill progressing in the 
background, July 2011 saw the publication of the draft National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) for public consultation. 

 
m) The NPPF places at the heart of the planning system, a presumption in favour of 

sustainable development in plan making and decision taking, encouraging Local Planning 
Authorities to plan positively for development and approve all individual proposals 
wherever possible: 

 
n) Paragraph 14 states: 

  “Local planning authorities should: 

 • prepare Local Plans on the basis that objectively assessed development needs 
should be met, and with sufficient flexibility to respond to rapid shifts in demand 
or other economic changes 

 • approve development proposals that accord with statutory plans without delay; 
and 

 • grant permission where the plan is absent, silent, indeterminate or where 
relevant policies are out of date. 

 All of these policies should apply unless the adverse impacts of allowing 
 development would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
 assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole”. 

 

Page 51



 

 

 

o) Advice subsequently issued to Planning Inspectors from The Planning Inspectorate the 
same day the NPPF was published and later revised on 8 September 2011 confirmed: 
 
  “The draft NPPF is likely to be referred to by the parties in current appeal  and 
 development plan casework. It is a consultation document and, therefore, subject 
to potential amendment. It is capable of being a material consideration, although 
the weight to be given to it will be a matter for the decision maker in each particular 
case. The current Planning Policy  Statements, Guidance notes and Circulars 
remain in place until cancelled.” 

 

p) Inspectors were further strongly advised to familiarise themselves with the contents of the 
NPPF and the impact assessment in Part B of the NPPF which relate to changes to 
national planning policy.  For the purposes of decision making it is considered that limited 
weight can be given to the NPPF at this juncture. 

 
q) In December 2011, the Localism Act received parliamentary assessment.  The Act 

includes the provision for the Secretary of State to revoke saved Structure Plan policies 
and Regional Spatial Strategies. At present there is no timeframe for the revocation of 
adopted Structure Plans and adopted RSS’s, but it can be assumed that it will be sooner 
rather than later and may have occurred by the time of the Appeal Inquiry. 

 
r) This is of particular significance to this application since the Wiltshire and Swindon 

Structure Plan (WSSP) 2016 and the relevant saved policies (specific to this site Policies 
DP3, DP4 and DP10B) form part of the adopted development plan framework. 

 
s) It is important to note that the draft Regional Strategy for the South West 2026 is not part 

of the development plan framework as it has never been adopted and is only a material 
consideration 

 
t) The relevant Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 2016 (WSSP) policies all relate to the 

development strategy for the west of Swindon, the level of growth over the plan period 
including housing provision at Swindon and explicit policy coverage for the western side 
of the Swindon Principal Urban Area.   

 
u) Thus at this juncture the saved policies of the Structure Plan will remain as part of the 

development plan until such time as they are fulfilled or superseded by the adopted Core 
Strategy or other subsequent Local Development Plan Document. 

 
v) This reflects a recent decision by the Secretary of State (Appeal by O and H (Q6) Limited, 

land south of Newton Leys, Milton Keynes in which it was stated at paragraph 9 of his 
letter: 

 
 “The Secretary of State considers that the revocation of Regional Strategies 
 has  come a step closer following enactment of the Localism Act on 15 
 November  2011. However, until such time as the SEP is formally revoked 
 by order, he has  attributed limited weight to the proposed revocation in 
 determining this appeal.” 
 

w) However, notwithstanding this recent decision, the relevance of the Structure Plan as an 
evidence base is considered by the Council to be diminishing since the evidence base is 
now at least six years out of date, and the underpinning housing numbers are based on 
the RPG10 requirement which were calculated in the late 1990’s, and the climate of 
housing growth and boom have rescinded. 

 

Page 52



 

 

 

x) In this respect, of relevance is the Inspectors decision in respect of the Wainhomes 
Brynards’ Hill appeal which was for 50 dwellings (reference 10/03055FUL). 

 
y) For that appeal the Council advanced a case in respect of 5 year land supply that there 

was between 22 and 40 years deliverable housing land supply for the former North 
Wiltshire area and the “North Wiltshire Rest of District” sub area and when considered 
against the 2016 Structure Plan. 

 
z) In considering the use of the Structure Plan figures the Inspector commented at 

paragraph 21: 
 

 
 
and paragraph 22: 
 

 
aa) The Inspector confirmed that when considered against the “more up to date “ figures used 

in the draft Regional Spatial Strategy there was less than a 5 year supply of deliverable 
housing land. 

 
bb) Since that appeal, the Council have advanced the Wiltshire Core Strategy with the 

production of the Wiltshire Core Strategy Pre-submission Draft which was considered by 
Cabinet on 17 January 2012. Subject to Full Council approval on 7 February 2012, formal 
consultation will be undertaken on the Draft Wiltshire Core Strategy prior to it being 
submitted to the Secretary of State for Examination, which is programmed for July 2012.     

 
cc) It is considered that the evidence based used in the emerging Core Strategy now reflects 

the “more up to date and robust” basis for consideration of deliverable housing land. 
 

Page 53



 

 

 

dd) The Wiltshire Core Strategy does not take forward any suggested allocation west of 
Swindon, rather it states the following at paragraph 5.99: 

 
 “Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Royal Wootton Bassett 
 and Cricklade Community Area, include: 
 

• the long established policy of protecting the distinct character and identity of the 
villages and settlements remains a priority for local communities. This applies 
particularly to the parts of the community area which adjoin the administrative area 
of Swindon Borough Council where there may be unplanned development 
pressure. The open countryside should be maintained to protect the character and 
identity of the area in accordance with Core Policy 51. The local community may 
also wish to consider this matter further in any future community-led 
neighbourhood planning work” 

 
 
Additionally: 
 

 “5.101 Although Swindon falls within a separate administrative area, its 
 proximity  to the Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Area, 
 means that  planning for future growth in Swindon should be considered 
 holistically and with  appropriate cooperation between neighbouring  authorities 
and involve the Wiltshire and Swindon Local Enterprise Partnership.  
 
 5.102 The strategy for future growth in Swindon is to support the most 
 sustainable pattern and scale of development, ensuring that the level of new 
 housing is more balanced with employment opportunities, to ensure 
 Swindon is more self-contained and the need for commuting is reduced.  
 
 5.103 A comprehensive assessment of potential development sites around 
 Swindon has been conducted jointly between Wiltshire Council and  Swindon 
Borough Council to identify the most sustainable locations for development. These 
are outlined in the emerging Swindon Core Strategy 

 5.104 Furthermore, the emerging Swindon Core Strategy seeks to protect  the 
countryside for its intrinsic character and beauty in accordance with Policy RA 3. 
This approach is consistent with the Wiltshire Core Strategy  (Core Policy 51).” 

 
ee) The Study outlines which sites have been assessed and concludes that development to 

the West of Swindon, including within the Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade 
Community Area, is unnecessary and does not represent the most sustainable option for 
future growth in Swindon. However, there is a permitted site at Moredon Bridge, on the 
west of Swindon and an explicit allowance of 200 homes has been made for this 
development within the housing requirement.  

 
ff) As the West of Swindon Structure Plan allocation and the draft RSS allocation were made 

on the basis of providing for the sustainable growth of Swindon, it is also reasonable to 
consider the application in the context of Swindon Borough Council’s measures to 
accommodate its growth. 

 
gg) The Swindon Borough Core Strategy (SBCCS) Revised Proposed Submission Draft was 

the subject of public consultation in June 2011.  Prior to its’ submission for formal 
examination, the SBCCS will be the subject of further consideration and potential 
amendment, not least given the publication of the National Planning Policy Framework in 

Page 54



 

 

 

July 2011. It is anticipated that the Core Strategy will be the subject of an examination in 
late 2012/early 2013 with adopted expected in   the spring of 2013. 

 
hh) Of relevance, Policy NC5 of the emerging SBCCS allocates land at Tadpole Farm for a 

mixed use development to provide 1700 dwellings, 5 hectares of land for B use class 
employment together with a mixed use local centre and primary school as well as other 
on and off-site facilities and contributions.  This allocation and the numbers of dwellings 
proposed reflects Swindon Borough Council’s own “up to date and robust” evidence base. 

 
ii) At the time of writing this report, the Borough Council is considering a planning application 

for this development and it is anticipated that a recommendation and/or decision will be 
made on the application in Spring 2012. 

 
jj) On the basis of the Governments clear intention to revoke both Structure Plan and 

Regional Spatial Strategies’ policies, it is considered that the policies contained within 
these documents whilst remaining a material consideration, must carry limited weight. The 
policies contained within the emerging Core Strategies of both Wiltshire Council and 
Swindon Borough Council whilst not forming the development plan for the purposes of 
S38(6) of the Planning Act 2004, are material considerations to which more weight should 
be attached than those documents now out of kilter with the current thrust and direction of 
Government thinking. 

 
14. Principle of development 

 
Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 2016 – adopted April 2006 

 
a) Notwithstanding that it is considered that the Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 2016 

carries limited weight in the decision making process, it is considered appropriate to 
review the relevant policies of that document to set a policy background which puts the 
proposed development into context. 

 
b) Policy DP3 relates to the development strategy for the plan area and in the context of 

Swindon states: 
 

 DEVELOPMENT SHOULD PRIMARILY BE FOCUSED AT THE SWINDON PRINCIPAL 
URBAN AREA TO SUPPORT AND ENHANCE ITS ROLE AND FUNCTION AND THE 
REGENERATION OF THE CENTRAL AREA. 

 
c) The WSSP 2016 (para. 4.80) is clear that: 

 
  “development that directly adjoins the PUA, particularly that proposed by Policies 
 DB10B and 10C, is regarded as development at the PUA and once it has received 
 planning permission or has been defined in an adopted Local Development 
 Document should form part of the PUA.”  
 

d) Policy DP4 sets out the level of housing and employment growth to be provided within 
Wiltshire and Swindon over the plan period to 2016.  This includes the following housing 
provision at Swindon: 

 

o Swindon principal urban area - 24,000 
 
 

e) In addition, Policy DP4 also states that: 

 

Page 55



 

 

 

PROVISION SHOULD ALSO BE MADE FOR 1,000 DWELLINGS AT THE PRINCIPAL 
URBAN AREA AT THE WESTERN SIDE OF SWINDON IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
POLICY DP10B.  

     
f) Policy DP4 is clear that the distribution of housing for the PUA consists of 24,000 

dwellings to be located at Swindon within Swindon Borough, with a further 1,000 
dwellings to be delivered as an urban extension or extensions to the western edge of 
Swindon.  Paragraph 4.35 of the WSSP 2016 states that: 

 
  “The western edge of Swindon falls within the jurisdiction of both North Wiltshire 

District Council and Swindon Borough Council and until the outcome of the joint 
study required to be undertaken by Policy DP10B is known, it will be unclear which 
local authority area provision should be made in.  It is possible that the provision 
may be split between both areas rather than provision being made in just one.”  

 
g) Policy DP10B provides the explicit policy coverage for this proposal by requiring 

development to take place at the western side of the PUA and states: 

 AT THE WESTERN SIDE OF THE PRINCIPAL URBAN AREA PROVISION WILL BE 
MADE FOR 1,000 DWELLINGS TO BE IDENTIFIED IN LOCAL DEVELOPMENT 
DOCUMENTS FOLLOWING A JOINT STUDY BY THE LOCAL PLANNING 
AUTHORITIES. POLICIES IN THESE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENTS WILL 
ENSURE:  

 
A) THE PROVISION OF PUBLIC TRANSPORT LINKS FROM THE FIRST PHASE OF 
ANY NEW DEVELOPMENT;  
 
B) THE PROTECTION OF NATURE CONSERVATION INTERESTS; AND  
 
C) PROTECTION OF THE STRATEGIC LANDSCAPE. 

 
h) Policy DP10B requires both planning authorities (i.e. Swindon Borough Council and the 

former North Wiltshire District Council) to identify suitable location(s) for development 
through the appropriate Local Development Document (LDD) following preparation of a 
joint study.   

i) To date there is no adopted or emerging LDD which specifically addresses the 
requirement of Policy DP10B and importantly, in the light of the emerging Core Strategies 
of both Council’s nor is there any intention to, as the strategic context for this policy will be 
removed with the revocation of the Structure Plan.  

j) However, work was undertaken by both authorities in light of the Structure Plan and more 
recently the draft Regional Spatial Strategy in order to consider how the requirements 
within these documents for development on the west of Swindon could have been met. 
This is discussed below in the next section of this report. 

 
k) Policy DP13 provided the scope for the extent to the Rural Buffer to be determined by the 

Local planning authorities through their respective Local Plans. Paragraph 4.107 of the 
supporting text to Policy DP13 required the Local Plans to define an area for each 
settlement that is essential to maintaining its physical separate identity and distinctive 
character. 

 
l) The Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 2016 at Paragraph 4.108 requires that: 

 
  “The extent of a settlement’s buffer will need to allow for the completion of  the 
 Northern Development Area, the Southern Development Area, University 

Page 56



 

 

 

 development at Commonhead and urban extension(s) proposed on the western 
 side of Swindon as required by Policies DP10A, DP10B and DP10C.” 

 
m) If, as suggested above, the need to provide for the west of Swindon allocation falls away 

given the limited weight to be attached to the soon to be revoked saved Structure Plan 
policies, then the proposed development would clearly fall in an area of the countryside 
which should be protected from inappropriate development since policy considerations 
regarding coalescence of settlements remain valid. The principles behind the rural buffer 
remain in place within the emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy. 

 
North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011 

 
a) The North Wiltshire Local 2011 (as saved) (NWLP) was adopted in June 2006 and was 

prepared in compliance with the Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 2011.  The plan 
was subsequently considered to be in general conformity with the policies contained 
within the WSSP 2016.  The main (but not sole) policy considerations are as follows: 

 
b) Core Policy 1 is intended to ensure sustainable patterns of development are achieved. In 

respect of this policy this proposal should seek to: 
 
i) Promote socially inclusive communities and their access to community  infrastructure; 
ii) Promote or maintain the quality of the natural and historic environment; and 
iii) Demonstrate the prudent use of natural resources and incorporate, where relevant, 

recycling, renewable energy and energy conservation measures. 
 

c) Compliance with this condition is considered elsewhere within this report. 
 

d) Core Policy 2 seeks to ensure the provision of directly related community infrastructure 
appropriate to the scale of the development and should contribute to the community 
infrastructure requirements which include: 
  

• Affordable housing 

• Education 

• Travel and transport infrastructure 

• Community buildings and facilities  

• New / improved public open space 
 

e) This list is not exhaustive and the proposal is required to demonstrate how the 
requirements of this policy in compliance with Circular 05/05 Planning Obligations and 
Community Infrastructure Levy 122 has been met. Consideration of S106 requirements is 
considered later in this report. 

 
f) Policy NE2 relates to the Rural Buffer was intended to strictly control development located 

within the Swindon Rural Buffer with the key objectives of avoiding coalescence of 
settlements, in response to requirements of WSSP 2011 Policy DP13. 

 
g) Although Policy DP13 was retained in the WSSP 2016 under the transitional 

arrangements to the new planning system in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004, Local Plan Policy NE2 no longer forms part of the development as this was policy 
was deleted by the Secretary of State in accordance with paragraph 1(3) of the Act.  

 
h) In the absence of any justification/need for the development it can only be concluded that 

the proposal would result in the unnecessary loss of countryside. 
 

Page 57



 

 

 

i) In accordance with Policy NE7 development that is likely to have an adverse effect on 
Wildlife Sites or a Local Nature Reserve will not be permitted unless it can be clearly 
demonstrated that there are reasons to outweigh such designations.  

 
j) Policy NE13 requires that development is only permitted where it does not prejudice the 

implementation of the Great Western Community Forest Plan (dated 1994). The Plan 
does not necessarily preclude appropriate development that would be acceptable in terms 
of other policies, but seeks consideration of various matters.  These matters are 
discussed in further detail below in respect of ecology ad green infrastructure. 

 
k) Policy NE15 is intended to ensure that development does not adversely affect the 

character of an area and features that contribute to local distinctiveness. 
 

l) Development (where appropriate) in rural areas shall contribute to sustainability, be well 
designed, in keeping and in scale with its location and sensitive to the area’s landscape 
character and local distinctiveness.  

 
m) The issue of affect on the landscape character is considered later in this report. 

 
n) New housing in the countryside is permitted by Policy H4 on the basis that it for an 

agricultural, forestry and rural business workers dwelling or a suitable replacement 
dwelling.  This proposal is clearly neither and thus fails this policy as a matter of principle. 

 
o) Policy T1 relates to the need to minimise travel through design and location. Housing 

development should be accessible to jobs, education and health facilities, shopping, 
leisure and local services.  Where these sustainable requirements are met, development 
proposals are to be permitted. 

 
p) The sustainability credentials are considered later in this report. 

 
q) Travel Plans and Transport Assessments are the subject of Policy T2. Such documents 

are formally required via this policy to be submitted (where relevant thresholds met or 
otherwise necessary) and where proposals demonstrate no adverse impact, planning 
permission will be granted. 

 
15. West of Swindon Background 
 

a) WSSP 2016 Policy DP10B requires a joint study to be undertaken by the local planning 
authorities to identify the most sustainable location(s), adjacent to Swindon for an urban 
extension or extensions west of Swindon for 1,000 dwellings. The outcome of the study 
was to be identified within the authorities’ Local Development Documents or in a joint 
Local Development Document. (Paragraph 4.87). 

 

b) In response to Policy DP10B North Wiltshire District Council in partnership with 
Swindon Borough Council commenced the production of the West of Swindon Joint 
Study (Spring 2006).  However the progress of this specific study was halted in order to 
respond to the increased housing requirements contained within the draft Regional 
Spatial Strategy (RSS), published June 2006.  As a result this study was incorporated 
into the wider Swindon Small Scale Urban Extension Study (SSUES) 2008 which 
formed a technical evidence document supporting both the emerging Swindon and 
Wiltshire Core Strategy Developmentt Plan Documents. 

 
  

Page 58



 

 

 

The Swindon Small Scale Urban Extension Study (SSSUES) – Jan 2008 
 
c) The SSSUES was an analysis of potential locations for development to meet the 

housing requirements identified through the draft RSS (June 2006).  Referring to the 
western edge of Swindon this required housing provision to be made for 2,000 
dwellings within the Borough and a further 1,000 dwellings adjacent to Swindon but 
within the former North Wiltshire District.   

 
d) In order to facilitate a more detailed assessment of the study area, the urban fringe of 

Swindon was broken down into cells.  Each cell was tested for a variety of potential 
options comprising 200, 500, 1,000 and 2,000 dwellings.  This was for the sole purpose 
of testing growth and not for specifying site specific capacity. 

 
e) The SSSUES concluded that in order to meet the requirements of the draft RSS (June 

2006) the following development scenario is recommended. 
 
 

Location Number of Dwellings 

Swindon Borough (2,000 dwellings) 

Tadpole Farm 1,500 

Kingsdown 500 

North Wiltshire District (1,000 dwellings) 

Ridgeway Farm / Moredon Bridge 1,000 

Total 3,000 

 
 

f) Tadpole Farm is situated within the identified area of search for Policy DP10B (Cells G 
and H of the Swindon PUA Study). The SSUES concluded that “Tadpole Farm emerged 
as the most sustainable location in the study area to accommodate development and 
should therefore be the priority site.” (Paragraph 4.6).   

 
g) The study also identified land at Ridgeway Farm and Moredon Bridge as the 
location suitable to meet the RSS requirement for 1,000 dwellings in North Wiltshire 
adjacent to Swindon. Commenting on the development area at Ridgeway Farm and 
Moredon Bridge the SSSUES concluded that this area is: 
 
“…. very accessible to existing services and facilities and provided the development is 
contained to the east of Purton Road, could be accommodated without a significant 
contribution to coalescence between Swindon and any of the surrounding villages or 
strategic landscape impact.” 
 

h) In terms of the environmental considerations (this relates to both the natural and built 
environment), Cell D of the SSSUES (within which Ridgeway Farm falls within) does not 
perform as well as Cell G (Tadpole Farm), this is largely the result of concerns 
surrounding the impact on the strategic landscape to accommodate growth above 1,000 
dwellings on land south of the railway.   However the SSSUES recognised that: 

 
 “The fields to the south of Cell D [the location of this proposal] would provide the 
 opportunity to integrate with the existing urban area without impacting too heavily 
 upon local strategic landscape.  There would also be capacity south of the railway 
 line to accommodate a development scenario above 500 dwellings, provided that 
 an element of strategic planting was provided to reduce the impact from the north. 
 It should be acknowledged here that the local landscape impact of development 
 here would be severe.  There is not capacity to accommodate the full 

Page 59



 

 

 

 development scenario of 1,000 dwellings without extending beyond the 
 typography that contains the site around Purton Road.” (Paragraph 3.29). 
 

i) The SSUES therefore recognised the potential negative impact of Cell D on the strategic 
landscape and also the potential to cause coalescence for large scale development i.e. 
1,000 dwellings with outlying settlements but acknowledged that:  

 
  “There would appear significant capacity subject to mitigation to provide a 

 minimum of 500 dwellings at this location.  The capacity of the site is more likely to 
 be around 700-800 dwellings.” (Paragraph 3.37) 

 
j) Finally the SSUES recognised that: 

 
  “Further detailed work needs to be undertaken to identify the exact scale of 
 development that could be accommodated considering environmental constraints 
 and it may be the site can only deliver around 800 dwellings.  The majority of 
 development would need to be concentrated to the south west of the railway line  with 
only a small proportion of development land located on high ground at either side of 
Purton Road to the north and east of the railway.” (Paragraph 4.5, Page 60) 

 
k) In summary, the SSUES acknowledged that land at Tadpole Farm represented the 

most sustainable development option to deliver the housing requirements identified 
through the draft RSS (June 2006). An assessment of the SSUES findings also 
demonstrates that the Ridgeway Farm site is a suitable location for development to 
meet the additional requirements of the emerging RSS.  

 
 The West of Swindon Study Update – Feb 2009 
 

a) The West of Swindon Study Update, built on the SSUES, focused on the specific 
requirement identified through the Proposed Changes version of the RSS (July 2008) to 
assess development options for 3,000 dwellings to the west of Swindon within the former 
North Wiltshire District.  This Study Update concluded that a combination of sites 
(Moredon Bridge, Ridgeway Farm and The Pry) represented the best option for 
development to meet this need. 

 
b) In respect of the application site, the Study Update concluded that “Development on land 

at Ridgeway farm and Moredon Bridge would read as a logical urban extension to 
Swindon and could be brought forward in the short-term which would provide an early 
phase of development”. (Paragraph 6.12) 

 
c) This document was subject to public consultation between February and April 2009, the 

findings of this consultation were subsequently used to inform the Wiltshire 2026 
consultation document. 

 
 Wiltshire 2026: Planning For Wiltshire’s Future, October 2009 
 

a) The Wiltshire 2026: Planning for Wiltshire (A consultation document to inform the 
Wiltshire Core Strategy) document was subject to public consultation between 30 October 
2009 and 31 December 2009. As part of the supporting evidence a ‘West of Swindon 
Background Paper’ was produced that outlined the background to the various studies 
undertaken to identify suitable and sustainable development options at the west of 
Swindon in accordance with the Proposed Modification version of the draft RSS.  

 
b) This document carried forward the best option for development at the west of Swindon 

identified through the West of Swindon Study Update; a combination of the sites of 

Page 60



 

 

 

Ridgeway Farm, Moredon Bridge and land at Pry Farm.  It should be noted here that 
development options at the Pry reflected the higher housing numbers identified through 
the Proposed Modifications version of the RSS which required an additional 2,000 homes 
to be provided for at the west of Swindon, increasing the total requirement to 3,000 
dwellings. 

 
c) During the course of this consultation a number of concerns were raised which will need 

to be addressed if this proposal is taken forward in order to ensure the delivery of a 
successful, suitable and sustainable development. Many of the concerns raised reflected 
the overall scale of 1development (3,000 homes) and focused primarily on The Pry Farm 
area identified as part of the Option. However, a number of issues also related to 
Ridgeway Farm were identified, many of which have been considered already or are 
considered in the remainder of this report. 

 
16. Housing Need and 5 year land supply 
 

a) As confirmed above the most up to date identification of need is obtained via the 
respective emerging Core Strategies for Wiltshire and Swindon. 

 
b) Regardless of the figures contained within the soon to be revoked Structure Plan (1,000 

dwellings) or the most up to date figures contained within the Swindon Borough Core 
Strategy), PPS3 (paragraphs 60 and 71) as well as emerging National Planning Policy 
Framework (paragraph 109) require a 5 year supply of housing land. 

 
c) Regardless of the figures contained within the soon to be revoked Structure Plan (1,000 

dwellings) or the most up to date figures contained within the Swindon Borough Core 
Strategy, PPS3 (paragraph 60) as well as emerging National Planning Policy require a 5 
year supply of housing land  paragraph 109). 

 
d) In terms of assessing supply, it is understood that 350 dwellings would be completed on 

Tadpole Farm by 2015/2016 (end of Structure Plan period), assuming planning 
permission can be achieved early 2012.  

 
e) Together with the Moredon Bridge commitment of 200 dwellings, this means that in terms 

of the out of date Structure Plan requirement at West of Swindon, just over half of that 
requirement in Policy 10B could be delivered by 2016.  

 
f) However, this would leave a shortfall of at least 450 dwellings, which subject to achieving 

planning permission the Ridgeway Farm site could deliver.  
 

g) The up to date position shows that having regard to the completions achieved at Swindon 
(within the Borough) to March 2011 a 2.6 to 2.9 years deliverable supply of housing land 
can be demonstrated compared to the Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 2016 
requirement, which is in conformity with RPG10, the adopted Regional Spatial Strategy 
for the South West. The difference in figures depends on whether the requirement in 
Policy DP10B is included or not. This compares to 2.5 years when assessed against the 
figures within the Proposed Modifications to the Regional Spatial Strategy for the South 
West (2008). 

 
h) PPS3 states at paragraph 71 that where Local Planning Authorities cannot demonstrate 

an up to date five year supply of deliverable sites, they should consider favourably 

                                                           
1
 The Proposed Changes to the RSS increased the proviso adjacent to Swindon in North Wiltshire District from 1000 

as in the draft RSS (2006) to 3000 dwellings. 

 

Page 61



 

 

 

planning applications for housing having regard to the policies within the PPS including 
the considerations in paragraph 69. 

 
i) Paragraph 69, is considered to be of exceptional importance and states: 

 
 “In general, in deciding planning applications, Local Planning Authorities should  have 
regard to: 
 

– Achieving high quality housing. 
– Ensuring developments achieve a good mix of housing reflecting the accommodation 
requirements of specific groups, in particular, families and older people. 
– The suitability of a site for housing, including its environmental sustainability. 
– Using land effectively and efficiently. 
– Ensuring the proposed development is in line with planning for housing objectives, 
reflecting the need and demand for housing in, and the spatial vision for, the area and 
does not undermine wider policy objectives e.g. addressing housing market renewal 
issues. 

 
Achieving high quality housing 

 
I. This can be achieved via reserved matters applications.  Based on the evidence 

contained within the Design and Access Statement there is no doubt that high 
quality housing could be provided on this site. 

 
Ensuring a good mix of housing 

 
II. The evidence presented shows a mix of houses will and can be provided.  There 

is the potential for extra care to be provided  and this is currently the subject on 
going discussions surrounding the S106 requirements.  If such housing were not 
be provided the mix would not be diminished to an unacceptable level. 

 
The suitability of the site for housing including its environmental sustainability 

 
III. The site has been included within an area of search as part of studies outlined 

above.  However, whilst there are no site specific constraints that cannot be 
effectively mitigated via condition or legal agreement, the site does not perform 
well in sustainability terms  either as a development proposal in its own right or in 
locational terms as will be discussed in this  report.  Further it was identified as not 
being as sustainable as Tadpole Farm, the site to the north east of the site wholly 
within Swindon Borough Council’s administrative area, which was the preferred 
option for accommodating the dRSS growth and continues to be the preferred 
option in the Swindon Borough Core Strategy. 

 
Using land effectively and efficiently 

 
IV. The development proposes development no less dense than 30dpha and nor 

more dense that 50 dpha.  Generally the predominant density ranges across the 
site fall within the 40 dpha. 

 
V. It cannot be said that the development site is not making efficient use of land in 

pure density terms.  However, the proposals lack any community element other 
than a school and for this reason, as confirmed above and to be elaborated later 
in this report, the development is not considered to be sustainable.  As a 
comprehensively development in the form of an urban extension it is considered 
that this objective as not been met. 

Page 62



 

 

 

  
Ensuring the proposed development is in line with planning for housing objectives, 
reflecting the need and demand for housing in, and the spatial vision for, the area and 
does not undermine wider policy objectives e.g. addressing housing market renewal 
issues. 

 
VI. From the above sections of this report, the proposed development in not in line 

with emerging spatial strategies which are considered to carry more weight that 
the soon to be defunct Structure Plan and dRSS.  For this reason, it can only be 
concluded, that notwithstanding that there is no 5 year land supply either in 
respect of Policy 10B west of Swindon or in Swindon Borough, the proposal would 
significantly undermine the emerging policy objectives and be clearly at odds with 
the direct of travel emanating from the coalition Government at this juncture. 
 

VII. The lack of a five year land supply should not be the decisive sole factor in 
considering residential development proposals such as this.  Particularly when 
emerging the National Planning Policy Framework, which will supersede PPS3 in 
due course, only makes a presumption in favour of that development which is 
sustainable (paragraph 14).  

 
17. Prematurity 
 

a) Based on the evidence outlined above in this report in respect of the diminishing, if not 
diminished weight that can be attached to the Structure Plan and the policies contained 
therein as well the draft RSS, any decision to approve this proposal would be premature 
to the emerging Core Strategies of both Councils, both of which are to be the subject of 
examinations later this year with adoptions expected late 2012/early 2013. In respect of 
this application, prematurity is not the sole reason for refusal and consequently it is 
considered to be valid to present this as a reason for refusal alongside other. A decision 
along these lines would be wholly consistent with the Cala Homes (South) Limited v 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government [2010] and R (on the 
application of Cala Homes (South) Limited) v Secretary of State for Communities and 
Local Government and another [2011] decision. 
 

 
18. Development form including affordable housing 
 

a) Whilst the Design and Access Statement that the local characteristics of Purton, Cricklade 
and Peatmore/Sparcells are to be utilised in providing an important urban design and 
architectural reference point for the proposed development, it is reasonable to confirm 
that the site is an urban extension to Swindon, being physically and visually divorced from 
these places. 

 
b) This is confirmed in paragraph 4.2 of the Design and Access Statement which outlines the 

key aims of the Ridgeway Farm urban extension. 
 

c) The development proposes a mix of terraced, semi-detached and detached dwellings. 
Low-rise apartments are to be limited in number and distribution.  The site proposed to be 
divided up into character areas as a tool in the design or urban extensions to aid 
orientation, legibility, provide visual interest in the streetscape and establish a sense of 
identity. 

 
d) A total of four character areas or quarters are proposed defined in relation to their 

landscape character and setting: Valley Quarter, Ridgeway Rise Quarter, Moredon Bridge 
Quarter and the Urban Square Area. 

Page 63



 

 

 

 
e) The development will provide a range of 2-3 storey buildings across the site with the latter 

limited to the Urban Square Area. This Area will also accommodate the most dense 
development of between 45-50dpha and the school is proposed to relate to this area thus 
making it the focal point for the development in solely urban design terms and in the 
interests of legibility and identity. 

 
f) Typically lower densities of 35dpha are proposed on the western and eastern part of the 

site where the development adjoins the countryside with a density of 30dpha proposed on 
those most sensitive interfaces of the site responding to the landscape and ecologically 
important areas. 

 
g) Affordable housing is required for the development with current policy seeking 30% 

provision on the site.  In line with the Council’s objectives of seeking the provision of 
specialist housing to cater for the more vulnerable members of our communities, 
discussions have taken place seeking the provision of extra care housing on this site to 
meet demand in the area.  Whilst at this time such provision has not been secured via any 
legal agreement, it is hoped to take the form of some 45 units with some communal 
facilities for use of the residents in that accommodation.  Negotiations are ongoing at this 
time.  In this respect, so as to not prejudice its provision at a future date, the illustrative 
masterplan provides sufficient flexibility to enable such a form of accommodation to come 
forward via reserved matters applications without representing a departure from the 
outline scheme. 

 
h) The diverted B4553 as well as serving the development will still need to act as a major 

through route, carrying significant numbers of HGVs from Swindon to the commercial & 
waste disposal operations north of Purton and the Chelworth commercial area at 
Cricklade.  It will be a difficult balancing act to ensure that adequate capacity is provided 
whilst at the same time ensuring that speeds will be restrained to a level appropriate to 
the urban environment.  The statement that the provision of pedestrian crossing points will 
keep speeds down is, considered to be optimistic. 

 
i) The structure of the road network creates a vehicular dominant environment which is not 

conducive to an integrative, connective urban structure.  The distributor route has not 
been incorporated into the development, provides few direct connections, little activity and 
does not change the form of the Purton Road enough to reduce speed.  This concern is 
compounded by being edged with incidental green open space which will contribute 
negatively to speed management, 

 
j) The proposed urban square and contrived junction arrangement between the new Purton 

Road and extended Swinley Drive is considered to lead to conflict in turning movements 
and represents a highway safety concern.  It appears at present to be more of a design 
feature than a ‘place’ as the adjoining land uses suggested will not generate significant 
levels of pedestrian activity.  When considering alternatives to the proposed arrangement 
in transport terms there are little highway options that would not preclude the provision of 
the re-routed Service 19 bus.  Advice from Thamesdown Transport suggests that the 
service can be extended but only if the development is free from traffic calming or 
frontages, which could also be reasonably extended to on street parking. 

 
k) The road long sections indicate significant areas of cut and fill.  In particular it appears 

that the “urban square” and a sizeable length of the approach roads will be above existing 
ground levels.  It is essential that the road is well integrated with the surrounding area and 
the proposed levels may make this difficult. In addition there is a length of the B4553 with 
a very shallow gradient.  Consideration should be given to designing the roads more in 
line with existing contours even though this may entail steeper gradients. 

Page 64



 

 

 

 
l) Careful consideration needs to be given to pedestrian and cycle routes to ensure that 

road crossing points are located on desire lines.  This does not appear to be the case on 
the Master Plan where deviations from desire lines would be necessary. 

 
m) As present it is not considered that the details submitted in respect of the roads is 

adequate and amendment to address the above points, or justification of the design 
criteria, needs to be submitted and negotiations continue to seek to resolve this issue 
prior to any public inquiry.   

 
 
19. Impact on highway network 
 

a) The sites Principle Urban Area is Swindon, with broad cultural, leisure, employment and 
retail opportunities.  The site connects primarily in terms of desired destinations, proximity 
and road connections to Swindon.  As would be expected, given the location of the site, 
the main impact from the development falls within Swindon.  

 
b) The submitted Transport Assessment is based on Swindon’s 2006 SATURN model 

(updated in 2010) for the area and has assessed the impact on the wider network as well 
as the more local routes.  The modelling as submitted during the course of the application 
can be described as agreed by all parties in September 2011.  The model indicates that 
the effect on Wiltshire roads is only marginal, with some roads showing small increases in 
traffic and others showing small decreases.  Clearly the alterations to the route of the 
B4553 have some effect on the routeing of existing traffic.  The model shows that very 
little traffic from the development will be heading towards Royal Wootton Bassett or M4 
Junction16.   

 
c) There is no evidence to disprove the results of the Transport Assessment and thus its 

findings are supported.  It is accepted that the roads to the west of the development 
currently experience peak period traffic problems but the development cannot reasonably 
be expected to address the totality of capacity issues. Informal advice has also been 
taken from Counsel in this respect and it has been concluded that in the absence of 
sound evidence to the contrary of the applicants/appellants Transport Assessment, a 
refusal reason on highways impact grounds in respect of the strategic or local highways, 
cannot be advance within the risk of a significant cost application by the appellant. 

 
d) It is considered that the amendment to the original proposal for the closure of Purton 

Road, limiting the closure to that section east of Swinley Drive will benefit the local 
residents. 

 
e) There have been concerns expressed that the development would cause an increase in 

the numbers of school buses passing through the nearby communities taking pupils to 
Braden Forest School.  That school is the nearest secondary school to the site and it is 
assumed that pupils will be provided with free bus transport to it.  Historically the school 
has taken a significant number of pupils from the Swindon area because of a lack of local 
provision.  Those numbers are dropping off and pupils from the new development would 
simply displace these with no increase in the number of buses.  

 
f) The concerns expressed by Swindon Borough Council (SBC) about the effects on their 

highway network are noted and regarded.  Mead Way is already operating at capacity 
during peak periods and the Transport Assessment does not indicate significant increase 
in traffic along that route.  This can only mean that traffic from the development is causing 
traffic from other areas to divert on to alternative routes, generally through unsuitable 

Page 65



 

 

 

residential areas. Swinley Drive is modelled to experience a 88% increase in southbound 
traffic during the am period from 80 to 150 pcu’s (passenger car unit).   

 
g) SBC further state that they have received letters of concern from residents prior to the 

submission of the application about speeding, safety issues and affect on severance.  
These concerns have been echoed by public representations received on this application.  
Swinley Drive can be described at present as a collector road for a residential area, it has 
frontage development and dissects routes to local amenities at Peatmoor Village centre 
such as the Primary School.  However, these are primarily residential amenity concerns 
and not a reason to substantiate a reason for refusal based on highways impact. 

 
20. Sustainability of the site and development proposals 
 

a) The site itself will provide very few local facilities, limited only to a primary school with 
some, as yet undefined, community use. Although a medical facility has been suggested, 
this is not wanted by the PCT who wish to improve existing, off site, facilities.  

 
b) Thus the development will rely heavily on existing facilities elsewhere. 

 
c) The sustainability issue has been explored fully with Swindon Borough Council’s officers 

and the applicant/appellant which also prompted the submission of a Sustainability 
Addendum in. 
 

d) In addressing transport issues in the Sustainability Addendum, reference is made to 
guidelines published by IHT in 2000 and also to suggested walk distances in PPG13.  
There are also plots derived from “Accession” modelling.  The IHT guidelines predate the 
advice contained with RPG10, whilst the PPG13 reference is that distances below 2km 
offer the greatest potential for modal change to walking.  However it is not clear whether 
the plots make any allowance for the time taken to cross roads, although this is likely to 
make only a minor difference as individuals tend to look at walking distances rather than 
specific journey times.  However the ease of crossing any road will influence the 
acceptability of walking. 

 
e) Translating the walking times into distances and applying the guidance from RPG10 

suggests that very few of the identified existing facilities are within a reasonable walking 
distance of much of the site.   Only a doctors’ surgery being within the specified maximum 
walking distance of the whole site, although the convenience store may fall within the 
specified distance from some of the southern parts of the site. 

 
f) It is proposed that the public transport links to the site will be provided by diverting an 

existing bus service.  This service operates on a 30 minute daytime frequency, half that 
recommended in RPG10 for PUAs (Principle Urban Areas).  The evening service was 
withdrawn earlier this year.  There is an equivalent hourly Sunday service which also 
provides links to north Swindon which is run under contract by a different operator. 

 
g) There are real doubts as to whether the increased journey times can reliably be 

accommodated within the existing timetable which has short turn rounds at each end, and 
this is supported by the bus company’s view that the diversion is only feasible if there is 
no on street parking or traffic calming along the new route.  The company also state that 
any alterations which require an additional vehicle would not be economic.   

 
h) Clearly the requirements of the bus company can have a significant impact on the design 

of the development and would appear to rule out any element of frontage access from the 
roads concerned.  It can also have an impact on the general design of the urban square if 
no on street parking is to be allowed in that area. 

Page 66



 

 

 

 
i) However there are no suggestions as to how this bus service provision can be 

guaranteed.  Cut backs in services are commonplace given the current economic 
situation, as shown by the recent withdrawal of evening services. 

 
j) As currently proposed the development will be heavily car dependent and it is considered 

that to provide an attractive alternative to the private car enhancements of the daytime 
frequency should be provided by the developer together with the provision of an evening 
service.   

 
k) Overall the development is considered to be unsustainable and Wiltshire wholly supports 

Swindon Borough Council in their objection on this ground. 
 
21. Provision of open space and green infrastructure 
 

a) As mentioned above, the proposed development as revised provided for 10.59 hectares 
of green infrastructure.  Chapter 4, Table 4.1 of the Revised Design and Access 
Statement dated June 2011 provides a breakdown of the land use and amount and 
clarifies this provision further as follows: 

 
 Informal open space and framework planting   5.76ha 
 Wildlife corridors and conservation areas   3.38ha 
 Formal/ active open space      0.60ha 
 Verges and road margining     0.60ha 
 Incidental open space      0.25ha 
 

b) The applicants confirm in paragraph 4.6.1 in respect of the design principles for 
development that the landscape and topographical analysis of the site and surrounding 
areas together with the existing natural features of the site such as trees and hedgerows 
and other man-made and ecological constraints, have formed the basis of the green 
infrastructure strategy around which the proposed layout and design has evolved. 

 
c) The wildlife corridors are south of the railway and two watercourses are proposed to be 

maintained and these corridors together with retained hedgerows create the network for 
green infrastructure throughout the development linking it with networks beyond the site.  
The breach of some hedgerows is required with some 435 metres of hedgerows proposed 
to be moved to accommodate this development. This represents less than 16% of 
hedgerows and none of the hedgerows to be removed are not ecologically “important”.  
Nonetheless tunnels will be provided for where breaches do occur to ensure continual 
connectivity and habitat. 

 
d) New trees are to be planted increasing from some 200 to 800 in association with the 

“new” allocation of 0.89ha of woodland habitat in the north and north west corner of the 
site as part of the proposed community woodland. 

 
e) The provision of open space and green infrastructure is not only necessary in terms of 

mitigating any landscape and visual impacts but also in terms of the ecological and 
biodiversity interests of the site.  No objections are raised in respect of these two matters 
as confirmed within this report. 

 
f) The development is formally required to provide and deliver on-site open space in 

accordance with Policies C2 and CF3 of the adopted North Wiltshire Plan 2011.  In 
addition the development should not undermine the objectives and requirements of the 
Great Western Community Forest designation in which the site falls and to which Policy 
NE13 of the 2011 Plan relates. 

Page 67



 

 

 

 
g) Policy NE13 requires that development is only permitted where it does not prejudice the 

implementation of the Great Western Community Forest Plan (dated 1994).  The Forest 
Plan does not necessarily preclude appropriate development that would be acceptable in 
terms of other policies, but seeks consideration of various matters which includes (not 
solely) the improvement of the landscape; increasing opportunities for access,  recreation 
and cultural events; protection of areas of conservation and landscape value; improving 
the environment of housing and commerce; and protecting and enhancing strategic green 
corridors that are identified in the Forest Plan. 

 
h) Consultation responses have confirmed that in accordance with the proposed 

development of the site for 700 dwellings is required to provide approximately 4.3ha of 
which 0.61ha should comprise both adult and child play provision based on the North 
Wiltshire open space calculator. 
 

i) At the Council’s request, and based on the above, the play provision was altered on the 
site to provide a Neighbourhood Equipped Area of Play (NEAP) and a Local Equipped 
Area of Play (LEAP).  At the time of preparing this report, whilst the SES remains up to 
date in this respect, the information contained within the Design and Access Statement 
dated June 2011 is not up to date and accurate. 

 
j) Additionally, the development is seeking to provide the provision of a trim track/trail which 

comprises a signposted route in the form of a loop around and through the development. 
This is proposed to encourage active use of the open space.  Such trails can 
accommodate robust equipment at key points along the route which could form a type of 
outdoor gym. 

 
k) A commuted payment is required for the adopted and maintenance of the NEAP, LEAP 

and CF3 compliant open space (i.e. 4.3ha).  The proposed development clearly provides 
a significant amount of open space and whilst the Council is also prepared to adopted and 
maintain this; it too must be the subject of a legal agreement but within a separate 
schedule.  This requirement is reiterated below in respect of S106 contributions required 
in respect of the proposed development. 

 
l) Falling within the open space category is the Great Western Community Forest 

designation and requirements contained within Policy NE13 referred to above. 
 

m) The masterplan has been amended to include community woodland following discussions 
with officers.  This amendment is in an area which was already previously earmarked to 
be provided for informal open space and framework planting.  To all intent and purpose it 
is the land left over in association with the provision of the main road running through the 
site with associated structural landscape planning to cover the boundaries of the site 
within the open countryside and mitigate its visual impact.  Figure 6.6 already showed 
framework planting and this appears to be more formalised given concerns regarding the 
GWCF designation and associated requirements. 

 
n) It is considered that such trees are welcomed however, there is support for Swindon 

Borough Council’s view:  
 
“that Community Forest is not just about planting trees and walking  away. It is 
about community engagement with the environment.  This  is why most 
applicants working with Swindon Borough Council prefer  to make a financial 
contribution in accordance with our Development  Control Guidance Note 
towards initiating and establishing the  necessary community involvement and 
education projects. 

Page 68



 

 

 

 
If the applicant is not prepared to make a financial contribution to this our officers 
would expect a package of proposals to ensure that these elements of the 
Community Forest Programme are delivered. At the very least this would include a 
management plan for the community woodland...” 

 
o) Accordingly, on the basis of the on-site provision and contributions being sought towards 

maintenance and mechanisms for management and monitoring via the S106 agreement, 
the proposed development is considered to accord with Policies C2, CF3 and NE13 of the 
adopted North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011. 

 
22. Affect on ecology, nature conservation and biodiversity  
 

a) The site itself is not the subject of any site specific ecological designations (i.e.SSSI) but 
adjacent habitats within 100 metres of the site to the north and north west are County 
Wildlife Sites (CWSs), the River Ray Corridor and a railway embankment. 

 
b) The site features a good diversity of habitats, although these are typical of those that are 

modified as a result of agricultural management practices.  It has limited fragility centred 
on hedgerows, watercourses, west flushed, a pond and CWSs areas. 

 
c) The key issues from the perspective of the Council’s Principal Ecologist have been: the 

impacts on the areas of Calcareous Grassland; County Wildlife Sites and River Ray 
corridor; mycology; protected species and pond provision.   These issues have been the 
subject of meetings and a further visit to the site. 

 
d) The application site has been subject to extensive ecological survey work over 

approximately 10 years, which has identified areas of botanical and mycological interest, 
and populations of bats, reptiles, breeding birds, badger and invertebrates. The range and 
timeline of surveys is outlined in Chapter 10 of the Environmental Statement with results 
also contained in Technical Appendix 10A. The Supplemental Environmental Statement 
has been updated following changes to the illustrative layout plan. 

 
e) In relation to Calcareous grassland, to confirm this is an ecosystem associated with thin 

basic soil such as that on chalk and limestone downland. This grassland occurs on the 
north eastern boundary of the site on raised ground.  The applicant confirmed that no 
Calcareous grassland would be directly lost due to the proposals and an area is to be 
retained within an area of public open space as shown on the updated Masterplan 
together with the removal of a footpath in this area which should reduce public access 
and associated impacts of trampling and dog fouling. 

 
f) Measures to ensure that such grassland is not over planted with scrub in association with 

other ecological requirements, must be given priority, and the Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) details these measures.  This area would also be monitored 
as part of the Ecological Management Plan (EMP) for the site, which would provide the 
mechanism to intervene in the event that degradation is identified. 

 
g) The presence of the two CWSs within 100 metres of the application site and which are 

relatively accessible from the proposed development are material considerations under 
Policies NE7 and NE11 of the Local Plan 2011 as well as PPS9.  The River Ray corridor 
is an important ecological corridor for wildlife within the local landscape, linking several 
areas of BAP habitat, CWSs and a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI); it is a 
material consideration under Local Plan Policy NE10.   

 

Page 69



 

 

 

h) The nearby stretch linked to the development by a footpath (Purt77) is known to support 
several protected and notable species sensitive to disturbance from humans and 
predation by domestic pets including kingfisher (Wildlife and Countryside Act, Schedule 1; 
Wiltshire BAP; Amber list), otter (Habitats Regulations, Schedule 2; UK BAP; Wiltshire 
BAP) and grasshopper warbler (Red list; Wildlife and Countryside Act Schedule 1; UK 
BAP; Wiltshire BAP). 

 
i) The applicant has confirmed that the primary agricultural access to the land between the 

river and the railway line is via Old Purton Road; grazing therefore should remain 
relatively unaffected by the development, although dog worrying could reduce the 
suitability for grazing livestock in the future.  Indirect effects of development upon the river 
corridor (including CWSs) through informal recreation are recognised in the 
Environmental Statement and have been the concerns of both officers and Natural 
England, as this area currently experiences relatively low levels of human disturbance.   

 
j) The potential for a large increase in resident population regularly moving through this area 

to and from the Mouldon Hill Country Park for recreation is likely to significantly increase 
human activity in this area.     

 
k) By association there will be a strong desire line from the north of the site generating ‘very 

high demand’ on footpath Purt77.  Potential for pedestrians to utilise the wider area either 
side of footpath is compounded by a lack of secure fences or gates and the illegible 
nature of the footpath itself.  Further effects upon bird and mammal species through 
predation by cats and disturbance by dogs in this area is also considered to be highly 
likely as a consequence of residential development.  Potential ecological impacts upon 
the River Ray corridor are compounded by the cumulative effects of other developments 
in the area such as Mouldon Bridge. 

 
l) In this respect Wiltshire Council’s Rights of Way Officer has recommended that 

improvements be made to upgrade Purt77 to a cycleway / footpath; formalising and 
upgrading this route would help to direct people through the river corridor and into 
Mouldon Hill Country Park, while clarifying the boundary between the Public Right of Way 
and the adjacent private land may also help to reduce disturbance and trampling from 
unauthorised access over the wider area.   

 
m) Measures to secure management of sensitive habitats in the river corridor and further 

control access have been discussed with the applicant, however it is accepted that this 
land is outside of their control and it has not been possible to identify the landowner to 
enter into a management agreement with the Council.  It is therefore not possible to 
secure mitigation measures in this area through the planning system.  However, in light of 
this suitable and appropriate mitigation has been agreed with the applicant in the form of 
improving interpretation of formalisation of the footpath through the area through the 
Council’s Rights of Way functions.  This is documented in the SES Table 10.4a and 
paragraph 10.8.2 in which “fair and reasonable” contribution is offered as mitigation by the 
applicant. At the time of preparing this report the precise level of contribution and 
timescale for payment has yet to be agreed but it is not objectionable in principle. 

 
n) Mycology pertains to a branch of biology concerned with the study of fungi.  The 

FWaxcap fungi in the south east of the site include species listed on a European red list 
as species of conservation concern.  It appears that loss of waxcap fungi from this part of 
the site cannot be effectively avoided or mitigated, therefore it may be acceptable to offset 
their loss provided biodiversity gains can be secured through other measures. 

 
o) Although the development will have impacts upon protected species, there appears to be 

sufficient opportunities to mitigate these through the use of a CEMP, EMP, a sensitive 

Page 70



 

 

 

lighting plan and other measures at the detailed design stages through the submission of 
any reserved matters applications. 

 
p) The proposals now include wet areas within the sustainable urban drainage system 

(SuDS); this measure will help to provide opportunities for creating wildlife habitats which 
can be secured through detailed design and the EMP for the site. 

 
q) As mentioned above, the appeal/application site falls within the designated Great Western 

Community Forest to which Policy NE13 relates of the 2011 Local Plan.  The Forest is 
one of only twelve in the UK specifically for the community and is also an important 
ecologically and in the interests of biodiversity. 

 
r) Existing tree cover on the site is limited to individual trees within the hedgerows and while 

important is not of the highest quality.  The most significant tree in terms of quality is an 
Oak which is located at the junction of Swinley Drive and the B4553 Purton Road. 

 
s) As part of the revisions to the proposed development and is addressing officers concerns 

regarding the GWCF requirements, provision is made within the landscape concept plan 
(Figure 6.6a) for some 2.18ha of community woodland which will include 0.89ha of 
planting) towards the north and north west of the site, whilst at the same time reducing 
planting adjacent to the railway to preserve botanically important grassland.  This matter 
has been considered in more detail in respect of open space provision.  However, to 
reiterate in brief, preference remains for an off-site contribution in addition to the planting 
on site. In the event that this is not agreeable with the applicants then a management 
plan, with appropriate and necessary measures therein, should be secured for the 
community woodland. 

 
t) On the basis of the above, subject to appropriate conditions relating to the submission 

and implementation of Construction Environmental Management Plan, Ecological 
Management Plan, Community Woodland Management Plan in addition to S106 
contributions outlined above and in more detail later in this report. 

 
23. Impact on the character and appearance of the area  
 

a) This section of the report considers the character and appearance of the area in terms of 
the rural countryside and the adjacent residential environment. 

 
b) It should be noted that the applicant site is not within any designated area of landscape 

constraint such as Green Belt or Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  The area no longer 
comprises Rural Buffer since that policy contained within the North Wiltshire Local Plan 
2011 was not “saved”. Thus in respect of the latter to which significant objections have 
been raised, no case can be made of the loss of rural buffer since it does not existing at 
this location. 

 
c) The southern boundary of the development runs contiguous with the northern boundary of 

the built form in this location which represents the northern edge of Swindon (whilst being 
located within Wiltshire Council’s administrative boundary).   

 
d) At present approximately 99% of the site comprises open farmland, mainly used as 

permanent pasture with agricultural livestock and horses predominating.  The remaining 
1% comprises trees, ponds, farm buildings and tracks. 

 
e) In terms of regional landscape context the site falls within the character area defined as 

Upper Thames Clay Vales (Countryside Commission – Character of England South West 
Region 1999), also within the Wiltshire, Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Vales sub-

Page 71



 

 

 

character area.  In general terms the clay vales in this landscape are typified by open, 
gently undulating lowland farmland, with well-ordered field pattern defined by thick 
hedgerows. 

 
f) The proposed development would unequivocally change the character and appearance of 

the countryside at this location when viewed externally from adjacent residential 
dwellings, roads and internally from public footpaths.  However, it is considered 
reasonable and necessary that in order to accommodate any growth west of Swindon as 
intended by the Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 2011, there would have inevitably 
been the loss of countryside.   

 
g) It is a material consideration when assessing the impact of the development on the 

character and appearance of the area, namely in terms of landscape and visual impact, to 
have regard to the Swindon Small Scale Urban Extensions Study (SSSUE, as referred to 
above). 

 
h) The study provided a “desk top” analysis of where the dRSS requirement (3,000 

dwellings) may be accommodated in the most sustainable manner considering scenarios 
of 200, 500, 1,000 and 2,000 dwellings.  

 
i) It is accepted that in the context of Tadpole Farm, in terms of environment (that is natural 

and build environment) the landscape is of a higher quality.  However, the following are 
important references within the document in terms of the ability of the Ridgeway Farm site 
to integrate within the strategic and local landscape. 

 
j) Ridgeway Farm falls wholly within Cell D and using the multi criteria analysis; this cell was 

confirmed in paragraph 3.26 as having good potential to accommodate 200 dwellings, fair 
potential to accommodate 500 dwellings and poor potential to accommodate 1,000 
dwellings. This is due to the level of containment that can be achieved.  In relation to the 
current application site, paragraph 3.29 of the Study confirms: 

 

“...There would also be capacity south of the railway line to accommodate a 
development scenario above 500 dwellings, provided that an element of strategic 
planting was provided to reduce the impact from the north. It should be 
acknowledged here that the local landscape impact of development here would be 
severe.  There is not capacity to accommodate the full development scenario of 
1,000 dwellings without extending beyond the typography that contains the site 
around Purton Road.” 

 
k) As described above the application site gently undulates gaining elevation of 13 metres 

across the site from 85m AOD to 98m AOD, with a localised ridge to the west at a height 
of 103m AOD.  The site is partially contained within the wider landscape around the edge 
of the urban area by locally more elevated land, notably Mouldon Hill to the east.  The site 
is visible from Mouldon Hill which peaks at 105AOD. There are also limited longer 
distance views some 1.5 km distance at Blunsdon St Andrew.  When viewed at this 
distance, however, the site is seen against a prominent backdrop of existing development 
with countryside in the foreground. 

 
l) The landscape and visual impacts of the development are proposed to be mitigated via 

primary and secondary measures.   
 

m) Primary mitigation follows the applicants initial landscape proposal and in this respect the 
development proposes: the retention of the majority of the site’s higher quality tree and 
hedgerow features; major open spaces towards the sites rural edges to the north/north 
west, with potential new structural planting; green corridors; and avoidance of built 

Page 72



 

 

 

development on more prominent parts of the site and the restriction of building heights 
within adjacent areas. 

 
n) Secondary mitigation measures include: structural/community woodland planting within 

open spaces; reinforcement of retained features and future management; improvements 
to watercourses, green corridors and nature conservation priority areas; new native 
hedgerow planting; and completion of landscape framework and peripheral landscape 
treatment at the earliest stage of development wherever possible. 

 
o) Based on the environmental considerations of the site in the SSSUE together with the 

proposed mitigation measures for the development together with scale and form 
parameters envisaged and outlined within the design and access statement, it is 
considered that the development proposals would be sufficiently contained within the local 
landscape to avoid any significant detrimental effect on the countryside at this location.  
Thus it would be difficult to suggest a reason for refusal based on these grounds. 

 
p) Many of the landscape features would be required to be managed via required 

management plans for ecology and the community woodland.  However, for areas outside 
of this and to ensure the visual impact of the development is not altered once the built 
form becomes more established, it would be considered reasonable to apply a 10 year 
period to the Council’s standard landscape condition rather than 5 years for the avoidance 
of doubt in conjunction with a general landscape management plan.  

 
q) In terms of residential character, it is considered that as a direct consequence of the 

resultant significant increase in traffic movements anticipated along Swinley Drive and 
immediate environs, the character of this area will undoubtedly change. Swinley Drive is a 
collector road and has a mix of houses adjacent to the road in a variety of juxtapositions 
(i.e. side on, fronting and overlooking to the rear).  It is considered that such a change is 
harmful to the character of this residential area with harm to residential amenities 
considered in more detail below.  The proposal conflicts with Policy C3 of the North 
Wiltshire Local Plan 2011 in this respect. 

 
24. Archaeological Impact 
 

a) There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments (SAMS) within the site area and no Listed 
Buildings. 

 
b) In August 2011 after considerable pressure from the Council’s Archaeologist, the 

applicant undertook an array of 83 trial trenches across the site and details of the further 
work and results therein are outlined in the SES submitted in Autumn 2011. 

 
c) The field evaluation recorded archaeological features to the south west of Ridgeway 

Farm. The fieldwork recorded a concentration of intercutting Early to Middle Iron Age 
rubbish pits containing deliberately deposited occupation debris including pottery and 
animal bone.  Adjacent postholes suggested associated structures may be present. To 
the south, a second concentration of features which could relate to quarrying or tree 
clearance, were dated to the Romano-British period. 

 
d) The proposed development will involve considerable ground disturbance within the site 

and impacts are likely to arise from construction activities. 
 

e) The applicant proposes a staged programme of archaeological mitigation be undertaken 
subsequent to the commencement of groundworks on the site. 

 

Page 73



 

 

 

f) This mitigation is to be agreed in advance with the Council and in this respect the County 
Archaeologist has confirmed the need to secure a further investigation and recording of 
these remains prior to the construction phase of development. 

 
g) On the basis of the attachment of the above condition to any permission, the proposed 

development raises no objections on archaeological grounds. 
 
25. Affect on drainage and flood risk 
 

a) No objections are raised to the proposed development from internal or external 
consultees in respect of drainage and/or flood risk. 

 
b) The ES and SES consider these issues given the size of the site and it is confirmed that 

the application site falls wholly within flood zone 1, which is accorded low probability in 
respect of flooding. 

 
c) A network of land drains and ditches cross the site discharging to the River Ray. 

 
d) Thames Water (TW) have confirmed that there are no existing adopted surface or foul 

water sewers in the immediate vicinity of the site.  The nearest sewers are located south 
of the site, south of Purton Road.  These sewers convey flows toward the south away 
from the application site. 

 
e) TW have confirmed that the pumping station in Nine Elms south west of the site does 

have capacity to serve the development.  However an impact study undertaken by TW 
confirms that 500 metres of off-site sewers will be required from the boundary of the site 
to convey flows to the point where the capacity exists within the public system. 

 
f) Given the presence of sensitive receptors on the site, the development must minimise the 

demand placed on water supplies and safeguard surface and groundwater resources 
from pollution through the construction and operation of the development in order to 
comply with legislative and policy requirements. 

 
g) The ES and SES have considered the impact on surface and groundwater during the 

demolition and construction phase.  In these respects due to the nature of activities and 
given the site is not within an Environment Agency designated SPZ and that there are no 
groundwater abstractions within 1km of the site, impact is negligible. 

 
h) In relation to operational impacts in surface water runoff on the drainage system and flood 

risk, the proposed development would result in an increase in the impermeable area 
across the site of 11.95ha.  Such increases have the potential to impact on downstream 
flood risk.  The development will also result in an increase in foul water peak flows from 
associated facilities (WCs, basins, baths showers and sinks) and will result in an increase 
in peak flows. 

 
i) Proposed mitigation methods include the implementation of a Construction Environmental 

Management Plan (CEMP) and works being undertaken in accordance with various 
legislation. 

 
j) The mitigation measures proposed for the development itself (i.e. habititation) includes 

the implementation of water efficiency measures within the building design to reduce 
water demand and may include (but not be limited to) water efficiency measures outlined 
in the Environment Agency’s document Conserving Water in Buildings guidance produced 
in 2001. 

 

Page 74



 

 

 

k) In relation to mitigating the impacts of development on surface eater, the surface water 
strategy will seek to reduce or replicate the sites existing hydrology.  Accordingly, any 
increase in run-off above the discharge limit will be stored or attenuated on-site. 

 
l) Due to the underlying geology (mostly clay) of the site, the use of Sustainable Urban 

Drainage System (SUDS) in the form of infiltration systems in not feasible.    Thus a suite 
of SUDS measures are proposed including detention basins, swales and some areas of 
tanked pervious paving within the development site to attenuate Greenfield run-off rates. 

 
m) These measures are considered to be wholly acceptable to the Environment Agency and 

Thames Water subject to conditions being imposed on any permission. 
 

n) Public Protection Officer require conditions if minded to approve in respect of 
contamination given the existing nature of the site, hydrology and the residential end use. 

 
26. Impact on residential amenity – existing and proposed residents 
 

a) Residential amenity issues are considered in the context of the amenity of proposed 
residents living on the site and those outside of it having regard to matters such as noise 
and nuisance associated with the railway (on site), noise and nuisance off-site in 
association with increase traffic flows roads in residential areas. 

 
b) The application is in outline with all matters reserved with the exception of highways.  

Based on the masterplan submitted and the potential proximity of development to the 
railway (including the event of doubling), it is considered that matters of detail as part of 
any reserved matters can adequately ensure that noise nuisance can be mitigated for 
potential occupants.  This also applies to those potential properties within the vicinity of 
the spine road serving the development.  In the event that outline permission were to be 
granted conditions would be imposed in respect of dust control (from construction 
activities) and the submission of a noise mitigation scheme prior to the commencement of 
development. 

 
c) It has been documented within this report that road in the vicinity of the site are operating 

during peak periods and the Transport Assessment does not indicate significant increase 
in traffic along that route.  Subsequently this can only mean that traffic from the proposed 
development is causing traffic from other areas to divert on to alternative routes, generally 
through unsuitable residential areas in addition to that which will be diverted given the 
closure of Purton Road between Swinley Drive and Mead Way.  Swinley Drive itself is 
modelled to experience an 88% increase in southbound traffic during the am period from 
80 to 150 passenger car unit (pcu’s).  SBC state that they have received letters of 
concern from residents prior to the submission of the application about speeding, safety 
issues and affect on severance.  These concerns have been echoed by public 
representations received on this application.   

 
d) Swinley Drive can be described at present as a collector road for a residential area, it has 

a mix of frontage and rear development and dissects routes to local amenities at 
Peatmoor Village centre such as the Primary School.  It has a wholly residential feel to it, 
with on street parking permitted, bus stops and serves a number of cul-de-sacs and more 
minor roads.   

 
e) Given the substantial increase in vehicle movements anticipated to utilise this route as a 

consequence of the development proposals, this will result in a detrimental impact on the 
residential amenities of residential of Swinley Road and its contributories contrary to 
Policy C3 of the adopted North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011. 

 

Page 75



 

 

 

27. Health and safety considerations relating to the Purton PSD 
 

a) To the north of the railway, north of the application site is the Purton Petroleum Storage 
Depot (PSD).  The depot is understood to be used by the MoD as an aviation fuel storage 
facility and is a top tier site under Control of Major Accident Hazards (COMAH) 
Regulations.  The exclusions zones for the development are outlined in Figure 5.2 of the 
ES (Document 2).  The pipeline leaving these facilities lies just off the north west corner of 
the site and has a 3m way leave either side of it.  An ESSO pipeline also runs near the 
northwest part of the site. 

 
b) The proposed development does not affect these installations and pipelines, being 

outside the necessary zones identified in accordance with the guidance contained in 
“Planning Advice Near Hazardous Installations (PADHI), in this case the outer zone.  This 
includes the Development Proximity Zone at 150 metres from the boundary of relevant 
storage bunds introduced following the Buncefield incident in 2005. 

 
c) The proposed development has raised no objections from any of the organisations 

associated with the PSD including the MoD.  Further the HSE have raised no objections 
to the proposed development. 

 
28. Other matters 
 

a) Swindon and Cricklade Railway believe the proposals would prejudice a new station 
at Moredon Bridge or potentially the doubling of the line. 

 
b) Moredon Bridge is not safeguarded as a new station/halt in any existing or proposed 

development plan document, including Policy T5 of the North Wiltshire Local Plan. 
 

c) Furthermore, Network Rail raises no objections to the proposed development and has 
confirmed that there are no definitive proposals which would be prejudiced by the 
development of this site. 

 
29. Section 106 requirements 
 

a) The requirement for development contributions is outlined in both Policy DP2 of the 
adopted Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 2016 as well as Policy C2, H5 and CF3 
of the adopted North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011. 

 
b) There is also Supplementary Guidance to provide further detail to aspects of Policy 

C2 in the form of: 
 

• A Playing Pitch Strategy for North Wiltshire 2001; 

• North Wiltshire Open Space Study 2004; and 

• Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document adopted 2008. 
 

c) As the development is a proposed urban extension to Swindon is also relevant to 
consider S106 requirements outlined in SBC suite of policy documents. 

 
d) Policy DS8 (Infrastructure Needs Resulting from Development) of the adopted 

Swindon Borough Local Plan 2011 (2006) translates this to a more localised context 
and states that;  

 

Page 76



 

 

 

“Applicants will be expected to meet infrastructure needs, including the need 
for any community facilities, generated directly by their development 
proposals, be they on or off site.  

 
e) Where these requirements cannot be secured through a planning condition, an 

obligation shall be sought prior to the grant of planning permission to ensure that the 
necessary infrastructure is provided.  

 
f) In such cases, planning permission shall only be granted when necessary 

infrastructure generated by the development is secured through planning conditions or 
obligations. “  

 
g) This policy is amplified by other specific policies in the adopted Local Plan including:  

 
  ENV7 (Public Art)  
  ENV19 (Community Forest) 
  ENV20 Existing Strategic Green Corridors  
  R6 (Provision of Open Space Outside the Strategic Development Areas)  
  T1 (Transport Requirements of Development),  
  T2 Provision for Bus Travel,  
  T5 Access by Foot and Cycle,  
  H10 (The Provision of Affordable Housing on Larger Development Sites).  
 

h) In addition more detailed information is set out in Supplementary Planning Guidance 
including:  

 
   - Open Space on Residential Development Sites (2004)  
  - Community Forest (2004)  
 

i) Supporting Evidence Base documents also include the Open Space Audit 2004 
(Updated 2007 & 2011), the ‘The Strategy for Major Sports Facilities Provision 
Swindon 2009-2026’ known as the ‘Leisure Strategy’ (2009) that has been the subject 
of public consultation under the Emerging Core Strategy, and the Library Strategy 
(2011).  

 
j) Swindon’s infrastructure policy DS8 has been further amplified by the adoption of a 

suite of Development Control Guidance Notes that provide the evidence base of 
proportionate need and justification for new residential (and in some instances non-
residential) development to deliver contributions to a variety of infrastructure items, 
where it has been demonstrated that new development will need to mitigate the 
impact that it will cause. This is drawn together through an overarching Guidance 
Note entitled “Developer Contributions” first adopted in 2006 and updated in 
November 2010, including the addition of two new infrastructure areas.  It is the 
content of this Guidance Note that incorporates the methodology that forms the basis 
of financial requests. Furthermore the justification only covers infrastructure items that 
are considered to be relevant and appropriate for application to development on the 
border with Swindon’s administrative area, following previous negotiations with the 
appellant.  The Guidance Note does not incorporate Highways/Transport related 
contributions.  

 
 

k) Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 came into 
force on 6 April 2010 and contains three of the five tests of Circular 05/2005 “Planning 
Obligations” 2005.  The three tests required to be satisfied in seeking any 
contributions are: 

Page 77



 

 

 

 
- Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
- Directly related to the development; and 
- Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
l) Compliance with Regulation 122 is therefore material to those contributions that will 

inform a recommendation in this instance.   
 

m) Swindon Borough Council and Wiltshire Council have worked closely to ensure the 
interests of the potential residents on the site are met as well as insuring any impact 
on existing residential and facilities used is appropriately and proportionately 
mitigated. 

 
n) It must be stressed that the applicants/appellants have always been willing to discuss 

and seek to agree S106 discussions during the entirety of the application process to 
date and remain keen to seek to negotiate and agree matters in advance of the 
Inquiry in May if this is achievable.  The only limitation to date is that a comprehensive 
and CIL compliant list based on Policy C2 has not been presented to the applicants 
and their agents despite many requests.  This has been largely due to the lack of 
detail contained within Policy C2 and supplementary guidance. 

 
o) Notwithstanding this, the required contributions are set out below following the list 

identified in Policy C2 of the North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011.  The figures represent a 
ceiling of amounts required by both Councils.  

 
p) It is considered given the site is proposed as an urban extension to Swindon that it 

many cases due to the proximity and range of facilities on offer in Swindon, that it 
should receive the appropriate share of contributions where such monies are sought 
by both Councils. 

 
q) Until such time as amounts and distribution between SBC and Wiltshire Council have 

been agreed, figures are presented below to demonstrate the requirements of both 
Councils to continue to inform the negotiations between all parties. 

 
r) Monies will come to Wiltshire Council in the first instance and where agreed and 

required, payment will then be made to SBC.  
 

Affordable Housing 
 

a) It has been agreed with Swindon Borough Council that the provision of affordable 
housing is wholly a matter for Wiltshire Council to negotiate based on their specific 
needs in accordance with their policy requirements.  It is acknowledged however that 
the development proposes a level of affordable housing at 30% which would also 
satisfies the requirement of policy H10 of the adopted Swindon Borough Local Plan 
(2006).  

 
b) It is accepted that the administrative authority is Wiltshire Council; however as the 

development presents itself as an urban extension to Swindon, it has the potential to 
assist in meeting Swindon’s housing needs. For this reason it is requested that 
consideration be given to incorporating a clause within any drafted legal agreement 
that might allow access to the affordable units provided within this development by 
residents from the Swindon Borough Council Housing Needs Register. 

 
c) Contributions currently sought as follows: 
 

Page 78



 

 

 

30% Affordable Housing 
 

• Of which 60 units to comprise extra care – 30 units 1 bed and 30 units 2 bed flats, 
30% social rent and 70% outright sale with some flexibility. 

 

• Remainder affordable housing 80% rented, 20% home buy mix as follows: 
 
   15% 4 bed (101sqm) =up to 22 units 
   40% 3 bed (86sqm) = up to 60 units 
   25% 2 bed (76sqm) = up to 38 units 
   20% 1 bed (46sqm) = up to 30 units 
 

• All of the above equates to 30% affordable housing total 210 affordable 
dwellings/units. 

 
Education and libraries 

 
a. Education:  No contribution is sought from SBC in this respect and it has been agreed that 

the requirement is wholly Wiltshire Council’s. 
 

b. The provision of a 1FE Primary School to be built by the developer and funded in an 
80:20 split with Wiltshire Council. 
 

c. The developer to provide a 1.2ha site. 
 

d. The school to be built in accordance with BB99 and the Wiltshire Council specification 
already provided to the developer, including the provision of sprinklers. Where developers 
have provided schools elsewhere we have also added an annex to this brief to include the 
provision of a full commercial kitchen, ICT hardwiring throughout, the provision of CCTV 
and an interactive whiteboard in each classroom. We would wish these same additions to 
be included on this project. 
 

e. The school to be built to include an integral pre-school. This pre-school will require its own 
external entrance as well as access from within the school. As well as the pre-school 
classroom, the nursery will also require the developer to provide a small office space, a 
small group room and independent toilet facilities. 
 

f. The developer to agree with the Council the estimated total cost of the project less the 
£100K figure agreed for the pre-school provision. Once this figure is provided the Council 
will then be in a position to calculate its 20% contribution and will state this figure as the 
agreed contribution (to be index linked) in the section 106 agreement. 
 

g. The Council will also pay a further £275K to the school to enable them to purchase all 
required loose furniture and equipment.  
 

h. The developer to complete the Primary school within 18 months of the commencement of 
development. 
 

i. The Governors of the school to decide on the community use of the school once the 
school is operational. Most Wiltshire Primary Schools operate, manage and lease facilities 
out of school hours and we would see this school as no different. As is usual practice, the 
developer to work with the Council on the school design to facilitate to the use of parts of 
the building out of school hours.  The playing fields would not be used as part of a 

Page 79



 

 

 

community facility during the school day but the Governors might feel able to offer use at 
the week end. 
 

j. Libraries: Both Swindon Borough and Wiltshire Council’s  have been asked by the 
applicant to put forward a very strong justification as to why it is appropriate for this 
development to make a contribution to the enhancement of Library facilities in Swindon 
and/or Wiltshire.   
 

k. In the case of Ridgeway Farm, the closest library to the development is West Swindon 
library, located within the Link Centre at West Swindon District Centre off Whitehill Way.  
This is 25 years old and needs refurbishment and renewal of furniture, fittings and IT.  
SBC would use the money secured by developer contributions to provide amongst other 
things new self-service units and replace shelving with shelving on castors to enable 
greater use of library space out of hours by likely increase in users.  Consideration would 
also need to be given to the purchase of new stock to cope with increase in demand. 
 

l. Swindon Library Service recognises that within Wiltshire, libraries are located at 
Cricklade, Purton and Wootton Bassett. Cricklade and Purton libraries are understood to 
be smaller community libraries, with restricted opening times. Wootton Bassett library, 
whilst larger is much further away and not easily accessible by bus from the development 
site. It is therefore anticipated that West Swindon Library would be the primary facility 
used by the any future residents of development at Ridgeway Farm. 
 

m. Wiltshire’s Head of Libraries has confirmed that a contribution would be sought towards 
refurbishment and book replenishment at Purton library and a contribution is sought as 
follows: 

 

Works/items Budget Cost £ 

Remove shelving, carpeting and 
furniture decorate throughout 

5,000 

Carpet throughout 2,500 

Supply and install new shelving and 
furniture 

15,000 

Increase book stock 7,500 

Fees and contingency 5,000 

TOTAL £35,000 

 

n. The justification for this is very similar to that outlined below given the In May 2088 the 
Museums Libraries and Archives Council published its advice on a standard charge for 
developer contributions towards library services in association with new development. 
This was updated in June 2010. Public Libraries, Archives and New Development a 
Standard Charge approach, suggests a benchmark for us by local authorities and other 

delivery agencies of £105 per person in new housing [MLA 2010].  The contribution 
sought specifically by Wiltshire Council for Purton library is considerable less than the 
MLA figure per person. 

o. The  developer funding  sought towards refurbishment and book replenishment  library 
facilities at Purton Library  is also  justified to meet the additional library service need  that 
will created by new development. It is fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to 
the proposed development with the amount request coming well within the standard 
charge recommended by the MLA. 

Page 80



 

 

 

p. The registration procedures for Wiltshire Libraries allow free access to all services at all 
libraries in the county both to local residents and residents from adjacent authorities such 
as Swindon. In this area it is common for residents to take up membership of libraries in 
both Wiltshire and Swindon.  Although West Swindon Libraries may experience an 
increase in use as a result of the Ridgeway development it is anticipated that all libraries 
in the area will experience increased demand with the most significant increase in 
Wiltshire occurring at Purton Library. 

q. SBC have confirmed that the library service in Swindon is accessed by it users from 
within the Borough and from the surrounding area in three ways: 
 

r. Widely accessible sites in strategic locations such as Central Library; 
s. Local provision such as the West Swindon library located in the Link Centre building at 

West Swindon District Centre; and 
t. Via a mobile library service for those communities that have more difficulty accessing 

fixed sites.  
 

u. Users of the library service in the Borough have a choice of provision, and may choose to 
use a library closer to their place of work.  In April 2011 the Council adopted a Library 
Strategy that provides the updated framework for investment in the service.  This 
document supersedes the detail set out in the DCGN 2010, although the methodology for 
calculation the contribution has not changed. 
 

v. The Council’s Library Strategy contains the following statements about the use of 
developer contributions: 
 

 
a. “The refurbishment and renewal of already established libraries.  Library buildings 

need to be attractive, accessible and fit for purpose to attract users to libraries.  
The space needs to be able to support a wide range of partnership activity with a 
high quality book stock that is of a range and size that meets the needs of users.  
Libraries are competing with retail environments that are regularly refreshed and 
changed.  Library catchments need to be defined to ensure developers capital is 
invested in the right library if appropriate or money will be invested service wide, 
where benefits are demonstrable to the whole community through service wide 
provision, e.g., Central library services or IT developments.  This will enable 
investment on updating current technology and provide new services, extending 
access to library services. 

 
b. New libraries will only be provided where there is a substantial population change, 

e.g., growth areas such as Wichelstowe and the Eastern Development Area.  Co-
location of other Council and Partner services must be explored at an early stage 
of the development to minimise revenue cost and increase levels of use, e.g., 
schools, community services, leisure, health and retail buildings. 

 
c. Where the size of a community does not justify a new library then Section 106 

money will be used to improve other libraries in Swindon or provide services that 
enable the promotion of library use to those communities.” 

 
w. Following round table negotiations with the applicant, the Council has been asked to 

supply the following information: 
 

• Confirmation of the ability for Wiltshire residents to access and use Swindon library 
facilities 

• More detailed costs associated with potential enhancement/alteration works to West 

Page 81



 

 

 

Swindon library. 
 

x. The registration procedure with Swindon Library Service has no restriction in place 
preventing the issuing of library cards to residents who live outside the Borough in 
Wiltshire’s administrative area.  Once registered, irrespective of residential address the 
service and its facilities are accessible to all.  Consultation with the Library Service 
Manager, has confirmed that residents of Wiltshire have initiated their registration to 
Swindon Libraries at the West Swindon District Centre facility. 

 
y. Rather than the creation/building of lots of new small branch libraries in each community 

the adopted Library strategy focuses on the current library network and how best that can 
be adapted/upgraded/developed to meet future demands that the increase in residential 
population will place on the service. These enhancements/alterations will allow for 
libraries to become more accessible for users over longer hours and adaptation of the 
space to accommodate the flexible needs of its users. Not only will allow for the retention 
of traditional library space but also allow use as community space outside library opening 
hours.  It is these reasons that form the framework that underpins the identified projects 
listed below: 

 

Project Cost £ Purpose 

£12,600  Shelving on castors to replace current island 
bays to enable library use outside of ours and 
shelving layouts that can be adapted to meet 
the needs of new users. 

£42,000 3 self-service units to cope with extra demand. 
The new machines have additional functionality 
enabling customers to make payments,  
allowing use of library at all hours  (Net gain of 
1 machine and upgrade of two existing 
machines) 

£20,000 Replacement carpet. Current carpet over 25 
years old and new one needed to cope with 
future demand as current one worn 

£3,000 Automated doors to replace current heavy 
doors that hinder access by disabled users, 
pushchair users and elderly people. 

£10,000 Structural work to install divider to enable part 
of library to be used as an express zone out of 
library opening hours, extending access to 
customers. Includes electrical work to change 
layout of computers to enable customers to 
access them outside of core hours 

 
z. It should be noted that the Council has been asked to focus on West Swindon Library 

alone, as being the closest facility in Swindon to the proposed development.  The Library 
Strategy however reviews the wider needs of the Borough to ensure that the Library 
Service delivers the appropriate environment that meets the future needs of its users and 
the additional demand placed about by an increasing population. West Swindon Library 
therefore forms a single strand to meet the wider aims and objects of the strategy, and 
library users can gain access to any fixed facility within the Borough.  

 
aa. Local Authorities have a duty under the Public Libraries and Museums Act to provide a 

comprehensive and efficient library service all that live work or study in their area.  The 
location of the development site to Swindon combined with its relationship with 

Page 82



 

 

 

surrounding communities is Wiltshire, means that administrative boundaries would not be 
respected in terms of access to community facilities and services. For this reason it is 
perfectly acceptable for Swindon to be seeking contributions for investment in its area. 

 
bb. In June 2008 the Museums & Libraries Archives Council published guidance with respect 

to how Local Authorities can approach the creation of an evidence base to justify requests 
for financial contributions for libraries from development that will place an additional 
burden on the existing service.  In creating its Developer Contributions Guidance Note in 
2006, Swindon had already identified libraries as infrastructure and adopted its own 
approach that reflected its local needs.  The publication of this Guidance substantiated 
that the principle taken forward earlier to request contributions for libraries was 
appropriate, even if the methodology differed.  In these austere times it is important for 
Local Authorities to deliver best value for its community, and making better use of existing 
facilities that lie at the heart of communities and create a hub for wider community 
engagement and activity underpins localism.  The site effectively represents a substantial 
expansion to West Swindon, and the District Centre is the focus for the wider community. 

 
cc. The contribution requested is directly related to the development, considered necessary 

to mitigate the impact of the development and make it acceptable in planning terms, and 
its scale is reasonable and proportionate to the development impact. For these reasons it 
is considered CIL Regulation 122 compliant. 

 
dd. Finally, with respect to where any contribution secured may be invested, during the round 

table discussions the applicant’s representative confirmed that they view the development 
as an urban extension to Swindon in Wiltshire.  For this reason, although the Council 
acknowledges that the development site is in Wiltshire, officers are firmly of the opinion 
that the impact will be on Swindon’s facilities and infrastructure.  In the event that 
Wiltshire demonstrates through evidence that the impact of the development would also 
create a burden on its own library service Swindon requests that consideration be given to 
the apportionment of any contribution relative to impact Under such circumstances, it is 
appropriate to enter into negotiations to agree the proportionate split between authorities, 
without undermining the ability to secure the appropriate level of contribution to mitigate 
its impact, to avoid the potential for double counting  

 
ee. To conclude it is considered that the contribution value of £77,366 sought is proportionate 

to the development, directly, fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development and necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, thus 
is compliant with CIL regulation 122 and the wider provisions of Circular 05/05. 
 

Page 83



 

 

 

 
Travel and Transport Infrastructure  

 
a. Highways improvements: Throughout the determination of the planning application, 

discussion has continued between the parties with respect to assessing and determining 
the impact of the development on the wider road network and strategic routes to and from 
the site. The applicants transport consultants have worked closely with Swindon Borough 
Council and its appointed consultants to test the appropriate model to ascertain the level 
of impact and identify the appropriate mitigation work necessary. 

 
b. Modeling outputs (7 September 2011) identified that on the whole the modeling results 

(with development) showed displacement of development trips throughout the network, 
due to the already congested roads within the immediate vicinity of the development, 
notably Mead Way.  The note identified a number of areas where the impact of 
development traffic and the dispersal of existing traffic have an impact. 

 
c. In summary while the modeling undertaken has identified issues with the highway network 

in northwest Swindon when assessing the cumulative impact of all development included 
in the 2016 transport model used, it is not possible to directly relate the impact of the 
Ridgeway Farm proposals on specific junctions, due to the background noise within the 
model.  The model outcomes are therefore suggestive of one of the following; 
 
 

• Either; Transport trips from this development replacing those of other 
developments on the strategic road network, thus when capacity is reached displacing 
those other movements onto the secondary road networks through residential areas, or; 
 

• As the strategic road network is already at capacity, the traffic movements from 
Ridgeway Farm are immediately displaced onto the non-strategic road network; or 
 

• A combination of both of the above. 
 

d. In any event the outcome is the same, and demonstrates that this development should 
make a positive financial contribution towards off-site highways network improvements 
with investment to take place as is demonstrated necessary when the need arises. 

 
e. On this basis of the above it was agreed between the parties that Ridgeway Farm would 

make a financial contribution to improvements which would seek to address strategic 
improvements based on the cumulative impact as opposed to attempting to identify and 
resolve any specific impacts from the development on the network. 

 
f. It is therefore necessary that the proposed development at Ridgeway Farm would provide 

a section 106 contribution towards strategic transport infrastructure to facilitate the 
development proposals, thus improving capacity and safety and potentially reducing the 
level of displaced trips across the network.  These could include inter alia, improvements 
to the Mead Way, Great Western Way, Swinley Drive and Purton Road corridors. There is 
no impact on Wiltshire’s Road as documented elsewhere in this report to justify a 
contribution and no contribution specific to Wiltshire has been requested. 

 
g. A financial contribution of £500,000 was considered fair and reasonable and CIL Reg. 122 

compliant in this respect. A section 106 contribution towards highway improvements 
would be necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, is directly 
related to the development, and contribution level sought considered to be fairly and 

Page 84



 

 

 

reasonably related in scale and kind to the development and therefore CIL Regulation 122 
compliant.  

 
h. Travel Plan: In accordance with the promotion of sustainable transport requirements, and 

the requirements set out in adopted policies T1, T2 and T5 of the Local Plan, the Council 
seeks to ensure that an appropriate Green Travel Plan package be secured to support the 
development. This is required to encourage future occupants to make sustainable 
transport choices and reduce reliance on the car as a mode of travel.   This is considered 
necessary to increase the developments sustainable transport credentials. A fundamental 
part of this will be to ensure that the development is appropriately integrated in the wider 
bus network that serves both Swindon Borough and Wiltshire, and that the residents on 
occupation are offered incentives to choose such. 

 
i. Swindon would wish to see these measures integrated into a Model Travel Plan attached 

as an appendix to any subsequent legal agreement,  
 

j. Public Transport: The contribution in respect of public transport to serve the site has not 
yet been specifically identified by officers in conjunction with Thamesdown.  

 
k. Rights of Way and associated works 

 
l. The railway line completely severs access to the east of the site apart from at 2 locations. 

At the south-east corner of the site there are two bridges, between them they can provide 
vehicle access and segregated access for pedestrians and cycles to the south and south-
east of the site. 

 
m. The only other access to the east out of the site is via Purt77, which is a footpath running 

under the railway and across to the canal. Currently this is a little used, unsurfaced 
footpath with a narrow footbridge across the River Ray. The proposed site would lead to a 
large demand for pedestrian and cycle access to the north-east of the site to the canal, 
Moredon Country Park and the large housing areas Haydon/Haydon Wick areas of 
Swindon. The most direct way to these areas from all the housing at Ridgeway Farm 
would be via Purt77 and the canal. To expect residents to make this journey via Moredon 
Bridge would not be acceptable. 

 
n. In order to encourage sustainable access from the site to the other areas mentioned, a 

high quality “green link” which could be used all year round along the route above is 
essential. This route would need to be either be a bridleway or a pedestrian/cycleway to 
cater fully for the demand.  

 
 

o. This demand is acknowledged in the design and access statement provided by the 
developer, e.g. Figure 4.1 shows a cycleway within the site as far as the railway 
underpass. 

 
p. In addition to this, the addendum dated 12.10.11 from the developer states the following:  

 
"INTEGRATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT WITH SWINDON 

 
6.1 The planning application proposals were made on the clear rationale that, in 
recognition of its planning policy background, the development should ensure positive 
integration with Swindon and compliment the nearby existing settlements as a logical, 
sustainable urban extension of the Principal Urban Area." 

 

Page 85



 

 

 

q. This link is essential to ensure this "positive integration" with north Swindon and the 
country park for the development site. From the point of view of new residents on this site, 
it's clear that they would also demand that good provision for pedestrians and cycles 
should be made on this route. 

 
r. This requirement is in line with policies C3, T1 and T4 of the North Wiltshire Local Plan 

2011. 
 

s. The current route is only for walkers, it is little used and there are no proposals for 
upgrading it. The development would create a high demand on this route from both 
walkers and cyclists, in order to meet this need the route would have to be upgraded. 
These upgrades should therefore be funded wholly by the development. 

 
t. As this upgrade may involve third party land it cannot be guaranteed that it would be 

possible to upgrade the status of the route. However, the full contribution would be 
required still – even if the route had to remain as a footpath, physical upgrades would still 
be required. 

 
 

u. The contributions required for these upgrades are as follows: 
 

• Appropriate surfacing, signage and rights of way furniture between the site and the 
canal - £25,000 

• Canal upgrade works - £10,000 

• Replacement of existing pedestrian bridge to bridge which could cater for cyclists - 
£65,000 

• Upgrading the status of the part of the route in the developer’s ownership to either 
a bridleway or cycleway 

• Legal costs as required 
 

Total required contribution - £100,000 + legal costs. It may be appropriate for this to be 
included in the S278 agreement so the works could be undertaken by the developer. 

 
v. The works would be undertaken by Wiltshire Council or the developer via a S278 

agreement at the locations described about. The contribution or agreement would be 
required prior to commencement of development of the site. It would be spent as soon as 
possible after receipt, which is partially dependent on discussions with a 3rd party. A 
deadline for spending these contributions would be set through the legal agreement if 
required. 

 
 

Community Buildings and Infrastructure 
 
a. All residents of the site will have the right to be buried in the Parish Cemetery.  The 

development will have a direct impact on the amount of space currently available and 
thus a contribution is sought of £32,000 towards the expansion of Purton Cemetery of 
£32,000.   

 
Health Care Provision and social services  

 
a. The adopted Developer Contributions DCGN 2010 provides the evidence base and 

justification for this infrastructure contribution value. The future residents of the 
development will require access to GP healthcare provision through either the Swindon 
Primary Care Trust that has jurisdiction over the Borough of Swindon, or Wiltshire PCT 

Page 86



 

 

 

that has jurisdiction over Wiltshire Council area. Existing practices in the locality in 
Swindon are currently operating beyond average capacity. 

 
b. The original submission (and description of development) incorporated a D1 use, the 

primary purpose of which was to make land available for a doctor’s surgery/healthcare 
facility on site. The Indicative Master Plan allocated this at the Local Centre.  This intent 
was supported by further information set out in the initial draft s106 Heads of Terms that 
made reference to the provision of up to 560sqm of floorspace for this use (capable of 
accommodating 4-5GP facility) 

 
c. Representations received from the respective PCTs of Wiltshire & Swindon have 

indicated that on site provision would not be an acceptable solution to mitigate the 
cumulative impact of the potential future residents on the existing GP services in the area. 
This position is justified because, in isolation, the development itself would only generate 
the need for 1WTE GP2.  This additional demand would be best accommodated by 
investment in expanding capacity at existing healthcare premises off site, for which a 
financial contribution has been requested.  The application would need to remove all 
reference to on-site provision. 

 
d. It is considered that the construction of a GP practice on site is not a necessary 

requirement to underpin the long-term sustainability of the proposed development.   Given 
that the development site is within Wiltshire it would normally be for Wiltshire PCT to 
provide that additional capacity.  Wiltshire PCT has existing facilities located at Purton 
and Tinkers Lane in Wootton Bassett. However in this instance the juxtaposition of the 
application site to Swindon Borough and Swindon PCT boundaries is a material 
consideration to the decision. The indicative Masterplan layout reflects intent to create 
strong linkages to integrate the development with the existing communities to the south.  
Furthermore Swindon PCT has existing premises in the locality; in what are considered to 
be more highly sustainable locations in transport accessibility terms e.g. Sparcells 
Surgery at Peatmoor Village Centre.  For this reason and there is just as great likelihood 
that future residents would seek to register in Swindon. 

 
e. The opinion of the PCTs is material to this decision, as it is important to ensure that 

acceptable mitigation can be put in place to address the burden of healthcare generated 
by the proposal. Neither PCT supports the principle of bring forward healthcare on site, 
irrespective of the scale of that provision.  

 
f. For the above reasons, Swindon’s adopted guidance on developer contributions to 

healthcare (Developer Contributions Development Control Guidance Note Nov 2010) 
forms the basis for calculating the level of financial contribution to be requested.  A 
contribution of £103,306 is sought based on the Open Market dwelling breakdown 
indicative dwelling mix set out within the Design & Access Statement.  The following 
calculation sets out how this calculation is achieved: 

 
g. The Planning Statements identify an Open Market mix of the following out of the 490 OM 

units: 
 

Unit  
Size          

% of OM 
No’s 

OM No. of 
Units 

1&2 -Bed      
(1-Bed) 

35 172* 
(86) 

                                                           
2
 GP need is calculated on Wiltshire PCT figures of 1750 persons per GP. Using the 700 unit proposal and an average 

occupancy rate of 2.38 persons per household (Swindon figures) this generates an anticipated demand of 

approximately 1666 people from the development. 

Page 87



 

 

 

(2-Bed)  (86) 

3-Bed 40 196 

4-
Bed+             
      

25 122 

 100% 490 

 
 

h. Translating this into the SBC adopted Guidance Values this generates the following 
calculation:     
                         
1 & 2 Bed 172 x £140.50*  = £24,166.00 
3 Bed  196 x £227   = £44,492.00 
4 Bed + 122 x £284   = £34,648.00 
TOTAL           = £103,306.003 

 
(*£140.50 = the average of the 1-bed value of £120 + £161 for 2-Bed value) 

 
 

i. To conclude, mitigation of the impact of the development on healthcare by means of 
investment in existing premises off-site to absorb the additional demand would not 
materially undermine the sustainability of the development alone.  Furthermore a 
contribution to healthcare can be justified as being CIL Regulation 122 complaint as it has 
been demonstrated that it is necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms, directly related to the development and the value of the contribution requested is 
reasonable in scale and kind to the development.  

 
j. Furthermore, a robust case exists to justify why it is appropriate to base a request for a 

contribution to health on guidance on developer contributions adopted by SBC in this 
instance.  Further negotiation is required to determine the detail, and it should be noted 
that due to the complexity of the relationship between the respective PCTs any obligation 
agreed will require an element of flexibility with respect to the investment direction, drafted 
to be acceptable to all parties.  To date negotiations with the applicant in respect of 
healthcare have progressed in a positive manner leading officers to conclude that 
agreement is capable of being reached between the parties.    

 
New or Improved Open Spaces 

 
a. Open Space/Play areas: Having regard to Policy CF3 of the North Wiltshire Local Plan 

2011, the amount of POS required on site is 4.2696 Ha, of which 0.6100 ha should be 
play provision (adult and child).  This is further supported by Wiltshire Council’s 
adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance and the North Wiltshire Open Spaces 
Study 2004.   

 
b. The developer is proposing to provide a total of 10.59 Ha of green infrastructure. At the 

time of preparing this report, the Council and developer are in discussions regarding 
the future management of the overprovision.   

 

                                                           
3
 If the developers want to provide a GP surgery on site to mitigate the impact of the development, it is not up to PCT 

or the two LAs to insist otherwise. However the responsibility for the commissioning of a GP surgery rests with the 

PCT, and on-site provision is not currently supported by either PCT. This raises the question whether the impact on 

healthcare would be mitigated by an offer of land within the development as its deliverability is in question. It is for 

this reason that an off-site financial contribution is sought. 
 

Page 88



 

 

 

c. In accordance with the current Local Plan Policy CF3 there is an adequate provision of 
POS on site and commuted payments identified have taken into account ecological 
management regimes that maybe required on the site. No objection is raised subject to 
a S106. 

 
d. Sports Pitches: For the purposes of outlining s106 requirements, sports pitches are 

included within this subheading as opposed to leisure, sport and recreation. 
 
e. During the round table discussion the applicant indicated that pitch provision for the 

residents could be met on-site through the pitch being provided at the proposed 
primary school.  Swindon Borough Council does not accept this position, and the 
reason for this is set out below and this is supported by Wiltshire Council. 

 
f. The North Wiltshire Local Plan does not contain any specific policies which underpin 

the broad heading of Policy C2, only providing a Policy which seeks to provide a basis 
for permitted new facilities/developments or prevent their loss and ensuring alternative 
and adequate replacement (Policy CF2). 

 
g. It is considered that as a proposed urban extension to Swindon, it is highly likely that 

the sports and leisure facilities on offer in Swindon will be the first choice for many 
residents. Outside of Swindon, the next available sports facilities of note are at 
Cricklade.  It is considered that a marginal number of residents may use facilities at 
Wootton Bassett due to physical separation (and having to pass some of Swindon’s’ 
facilities) and journey times. 

 
h. In terms of SBC, adopted policies DS8, and R6 of the Swindon Borough Local Plan 

(2011) set the framework by which Swindon considers open space provision on 
strategic development sites.  This is underpinned by standards as set out in the 
adopted & Open Space on Residential Development Sites (2004) SPG. 

 
i. SBC is currently working on an average population per unit of 2.38 persons, thus a 

development of 700 units generates a population of 1666 persons (700 x 2.38 = 1666). 
The adopted open space policy calculates provision based on 3.2 ha of open space 
per 1000 of population, this development generating an overall open space 
requirement of a minimum of 5.3312 ha.  

 
j. Based upon calculations using SBC Policy the various types of open space that it 

would expect to be provided are as follows: 
 

Children’s play at a rate of 0.3 ha per 1000   = 0.4998 ha  
Playing pitches at a rate of 1.21 ha per 1000   = 2.0159ha 
General Recreation at a rate of 1.45 ha per 1000  = 2.4157ha 
Allotments at a rate of 0.3 ha per 1000    = 0.4998 ha  

Total  = 5.4312ha 
 
k. SBC has made representation direct to Wiltshire in respect of the open provision 

proposed to be delivered on site that has subsequently resulted in the relocation and 
alteration to the nature of formal play provision and its location within the development 
framework to the extent that both Councils' are supportive of these specific provisions. 

 
l. As indicated above, one aspect of Swindon’s open space requirements that is not 

adequately covered by Wiltshire Policy CF3 is playing pitch provision.  SBC considers 
it necessary that this development should make the appropriate contribution towards 
playing pitches as the direct impact of this would be felt on Swindon’s pitch provision 
and this is supported by Wiltshire Council also. 

Page 89



 

 

 

 
m. Paragraph 5 of the applicants riposte to the original Section 106 comments states that 

there is a requirement for just 1.7 ha of pitch provision, and goes on to state that this 
will be provided on the primary school site. As the school site is just 1.2ha in total (Para 
4.3.4of the D&A) including buildings the shortfall would be more than 0.3 ha, this is not 
physically possible, and also not considered suitable in this instance. The required 
level of playing pitch provision is not being provided onsite and thus an offsite option is 
justified as set out below. 

 
n. An area for playing pitches of 2.0159ha should be capable of accommodating 2x adult 

size football pitches or a greater mix of junior and/or mini-pitches or commensurate mix 
of the two.  In integrating such demand into a development, the developer would be 
required not only to meet all the construction costs of pitch creation, to deliver them to 
required specification (including leveling and drainage as appropriate), but would also 
be required to provide the associated changing and parking facilities commensurate 
with the level of provision. 

 
o. It has been suggested that community access to the Primary school pitch would meet 

the pitch demand arising from the development.  This is simply not the case. At this 
stage there is no guarantee the community access to the school could be secured, and 
even if it were whether it would be capable of being delivered. The pitch requirement 
for an IFE primary is 1 pitch with rotation/rest requirements.  As a junior pitch it cannot 
meet any demand arising for adult provision.  The curriculum demand alone could 
fetter community access.  Furthermore the appellant has taken a view that a 
contribution of £170,200 is not proportionate to the scale of the development 
requirements  

 
p. Neither SBC nor Wiltshire Council on this occasion has not requested that the master 

planning layout be amended to incorporate the pitch requirement on site.  The reason 
for this is the existence of emerging pitch provision located at Mouldon Hill Country 
Park, in very close proximity north of the application site. SBC has requested that an 
off-site financial contribution be secured for investment in the provision of changing 
facilities to assist in bringing into use of the existing pitches that have recently been 
designed and enabling works carried out to allow them to be laid out.  At present their 
use is restricted due to the need to construct the accompanying changing facilities. 

 
q. The Sport England website contains a plethora of guidance and advice with respect to 

the provision of sporting facilities, and includes information about the potential costs for 
delivering such that can be found using the following 
link@http://www.sportengland.org/facilities__planning/planning_tools_and_guidance/pl
anning_kitbag/facilities_costs.aspx.  

 
r. Scrolling through the documentation Sport England consider a 2 team sports pavilion 

costs about £250k to construct.  This would cater for 1x adult pitch, representing only 
50% of the proposed development’s demand, potentially equating to a contribution 
value of £500k for two pitch changing facilities alone without taking into consideration 
any costs associated with pitch layout and construction itself.  

 
s. The Mouldon Hill site offers flexibility in the nature of the pitch provision that it could 

deliver, and can accommodate 1x Under Junior U14s and 2x Under 7s mini soccer or 
1x adult pitch. 

 
t. The Council’s in this instance requested that the contribution be directed towards 

bringing the existing pitch provision in the Mouldon Hill Country Park into use.  
Mouldon Hill is designated as a Country Park rather than a sports venue. It benefits 

Page 90



 

 

 

from outline planning permission, supported by Phase 1 reserved matters approval for 
the partial implementation of the infrastructure to support is function as a Country Park.  
The approved Masterplan identified land that could be made available for pitch 
provision, and enabling works have already been carried out to provide car parking and 
drainage to bring one pitch area into use. Delivery of further pitches at the Park would 
involve the redirection of overhead power lines meaning that the overall construction 
costs of any further pitches would be significantly more than usual if not prohibitive. For 
this reason the Council’s considers it a priority to invest in the necessary infrastructure 
to maximise the use of the existing pitch area. 

 
u. At present the use of the pitches is restricted due to a lack of changing facilities, 

therefore, SBC would require a contribution to partially fund the provision of changing 
facilities on site at Mouldon Hill. 

 
v. The contribution of £170,200 sought by SBC is calculated using a robust methodology 

based on the 700 dwelling proposal, as embedded in the Council’s adopted Guidance 
Note.  The detail of which is appended to SBC formal S106 requirement letter 
contained on the file and Wiltshire Council’s website. 

 
w. Taking into account the potential costs associated with brining forward such provision 

on site, and  given that the most up to date figures from the Sport England web site 
which indicate that a two team sports pavilion/club house of 100sqm has a capital cost 
of £250,000.00, equating to £500,000 for two pitches (the scale of pitch provision 
generated by the development)a contribution of £170,200.00 is considered to  be 
reasonable and proportionate to the development, directly, fairly and reasonably 
related in scale and kind to the development and, in the absence of further on site 
provision, necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, thus is 
compliant with CIL regulation 122 and the wider provisions of Circular 05/05. 

 
Leisure, sport and recreation 

 
a. Both Swindon Borough Council and Wiltshire Council have an adopted Leisure 

Strategy for their respective administrative area. Swindon’s leisure requirements are 
set out in ‘The Strategy for Major Sports Facilities Provision Swindon 2009-2026’ 
known as the ‘Leisure Strategy’.  Wiltshire’s evidence base is contained within the 
‘Wiltshire Leisure Services Strategy – Indoor Facilities and Action Plan 2011 – 2025’ 
the adoption of which is imminent. Of particular interest to Wiltshire is investment in 
existing facilities at Cricklade (which it is understood to be geographically slightly 
further away from the development site, however is closer in drive time than the facility 
at Royal Wootton Bassett). 

 
b. Swindon’s Leisure Strategy, is underpinned by a methodology for calculating a 

proportionate contribution that it is considered residential development should make to 
assist with the delivery of the strategy. That methodology is explained in the covering 
report to Planning Committee the framework used in the adoption of the updated 
Developer Contributions DCGN (2010). The Sport England Calculator is used to 
generate a value equivalent to the proportionate costs of delivering upgrades to 
existing and/or provision of new facilities to accommodate the future leisure demand. It 
is reasonable to request that new development within the Borough, and immediately 
adjacent the boundary pays a proportionate cost towards this investment. Following 
discussions with Wiltshire Council’s Leisure Officer, Wiltshire also use the Sport 
England Calculator to assess the potential impact of development on strategic leisure 
provision.  

 

Page 91



 

 

 

c. Both authorities have requested a contribution towards strategic leisure provision. It is 
not the intent to double count in this respect, but to recognise that the impact of the 
development is likely to be felt on leisure provision in both areas, Thus consideration 
would need to be given to the apportionment of any potential contribution secured 
based on relative impact.  Due to the juxtaposition of the development to Swindon’s 
urban area however, and the proximity of the nearest strategic Leisure site of the Link 
Centre at West Swindon, it is considered that the greatest impact on demand will be 
placed on Swindon’s leisure facilities, as being geographically closer and more 
accessible than those in Wiltshire Council area. A view supported by SBC. 

 
d. Having considered the evidence base of Wiltshire Council, it is acknowledged that the 

authorities do however differ in the value of their leisure contribution request. There are 
a number of reasons for this. Wiltshire has inputted a very slightly different average 
population per dwelling figures into the sport England Calculator (1610 as opposed to 
1666). Furthermore, Swindon’s adopted policy approach reduces the Sport England 
Calculator costs by 30% in recognition that some projects in the adopted Leisure 
Strategy focus on renovation and refurbishment of existing facilities to accommodate 
increased demand, something that Wiltshire Council does not as the Sport England 
calculator values are based on costs of construction of new facilities.   

 
e. Contributions sought at this juncture towards the refurbishment of changing facilities 

and extension to the gym and equipment provision at Cricklade leisure centre together 
with the redecoration and new lighting at Wootton Bassett (based on work carried out 
by Pengelly Consulting as well as the Sport England calculator) is, following discussion 
with SBC £227,000 in acknowledgement of the proximity of Swindon’s facility and their 
needs for contributions. 

 
f. Following round table discussion concern was raised by the now appellant relating to 

the Swindon card system of discounted leisure rates and that residents of this 
development living outside of Swindon Borough would be at a competitive 
disadvantage In respect of the costs of gaining access to Swindon Leisure Facilities. 

 
g. The Swindon Card is an advantage card that can be used at leisure facilities and other 

council venues in Swindon to gain discounted prices. Swindon Cards are available to 
both residents of Swindon (who pay their Council Tax to the Borough) and non-
residents (who pay their Council Tax to another authority). There are three levels of 
discount depending on the applicant’s circumstances. 

 
h. Swindon cards are not essential for Swindon residents and are not automatically given 

to residents. Non-residents of the borough are as entitled to purchase a card as 
residents, and the only financial advantage to non-Borough residents is the initial 
Swindon Card Purchase price for an Adult without concession. Furthermore, the rates 
for activities either with or without a card do not differentiate between residents of the 
Borough and non-residents. 

 
i. Swindon Council’s Facilities Planning Model, completed with the assistance of Sport 

England in 2008, shows that in respect of swimming pools the Council is importing 
approximately 17% of satisfied demand from surrounding authorities, with 13% coming 
from the former North Wiltshire administrative area.  

 
j. The Link Centre, with its wide range of superior facilities is therefore considered to be 

the destination of choice for residents of Ridgeway Farm. Its proximity as well as its 
range and quality of facilities would outweigh any perceived financial disadvantage by 
not being a resident of the Borough. The assertion that residents of Ridgeway Farm 
would be paying extra for the use of the facilities at the Link Centre is not justified. 

Page 92



 

 

 

 
k. Some improvements required at the link that relate to needs for an increased 

population have been identified as: 
 

 

• Install automated ticket entry  

• Improve access to key facilities   

• Increase and improve capacity for disability changing accommodation   

• Remote turnstile access  

• Cooling Tower platform 

• Equipment lift 

• Cola bar move 

• Dry changing room reconfigure-increase area.  

• Wet changing room reconfigure-increase area and family change  

• Combined ground floor reception extension  

• Soft play expansion  

• Options for moveable pool floor 
 

l. The comprehensive list of all the works to the Link Centre exceeds £2,5million and this 
facility being is just one of the strategic leisure sites within the Borough.  

 
m. It is acknowledged that both Cricklade Leisure Centre and the Lime Kiln Leisure Centre at 

Wootton Bassett have similar basic facilities, but they are significantly further away and 
are not easily accessible by bus. 

 
n. The evidence contained within the Wiltshire’s Leisure Services Strategy suggests in 

Section 5 ‘The Action Plan’ (page 48) that the need to continue to support and developer 
existing leisure facilities including the one in Cricklade. This being in close proximity to the 
development, Wiltshire’s seek to direct their proportion of any contribution secured to this 
facility. Swindon accept that an evidence base does exist in this respect, and future 
improvements are necessary as residents may choose to use the facility, and the primary 
school  would be likely to use the facility for its sporting education curriculum needs. 

 
o. It is for the reasons set out above it is considered that a financial contribution of £356, 

618.00 is necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, directly 
related to the development, and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development, to ensure that the future demand for such services can be accommodated. 
For this reason the request for a proportionate contribution is considered to be Regulation 
122 compliant, as well as in accordance with the wider tests of Circular 05/05.   The 
matter for continued negotiation with the applicant is the value of the contribution and the 

potential apportionment between the respective authorities based on the level of impact. 
 

p. Canal:  As documented above, a contribution of £10,000 is sought as contribution towards 
the upgrade of the nearby Mouldon Hill canal.  This falls under a number of subject 
heading of transport, community facilities and as well as leisure and recreation provision. 

 
Waste Management and recycling 

 
a. Wiltshire Council produced in 2011 a document called “Waste Storage and Collection – 

Guidance for New Developments”. The document is in draft form and has not been the 
subject of any external consultation. 

 
b. The guidance contains detail regarding commuted sums for S106 provision calculations in 

respect of residential developments. 

Page 93



 

 

 

 
c. It is noted that the application/appeal is made in outline at present with all matters 

reserved for future consideration so at this juncture a S106 would be required to ensure 
that the development accorded with the advice contained within this statement 

 
 

 

Scenario  Cost per scenario  

Households £121  

Flats 6 - 10 £656  

Flats 11 - 14 £1126  

Flats 15 - 18 £1639  

 
 

Environmental protection and enhancement 
 
a. This is considered to relate to ecology and biodiversity.  The requirements of Wiltshire 

Council’s Right of Way Officer have been documented in this report and whilst the 
contributions relate to open space/community facilities some of them also serve a 
purpose in seeking to protect and enhance to ecology of the site and the adjoining area 
which will be impacted upon as a consequence of this development. 

 
b. For ecological reasons a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and 

an Ecological Management Plan (EMP) are required and these could be secured either 
via a condition or a S106 depending on whether or not there are any financial 
implications. 

 
c. As outlined above in this report, the site lies within the designated Great Western 

Community Forest.  SBC have provided significant advice in this respect and is wholly 
supported by Wiltshire Council in its requirements for the Forest. 

 
d. The Great Western Community Forest boundary does not respect Council 

administrative boundaries, and extends in coverage into Wiltshire’s administrative 
area, encompassing the application site.  Wiltshire Council has an adopted saved 
policy NE13 that focuses on the Great Western Community Forest.   Swindon also has 
an adopted Policy ENV19 and embedded the requirements further into an adopted 
Supplementary Planning Document Community Forest (2004). 

 
e. The 1994 Forest Plan indicates that tree cover in this part of the community Forest 

should be 30%. On the application site area 29.64ha, this in principle amounts to 
planting coverage of 9.0ha. The Supplementary Environmental Statement has now 
specified that there will be 0.89 ha (800 trees) planted along the eastern and northern 
edge of the application site.  It is likely that these trees would have been delivered as 
part of the planting necessary to ameliorate the scheme anyway, and that this does not 
essentially deliver Community Forest. It is acknowledged that some tree planting 
proposals have now been identified as part of the development proposal. 

 
f. As with all new housing developments is not just about planting trees and walking 

away. It is about community engagement with the environment. Community Forest 
would anticipate working with the new community to develop projects that will further 
the aims and objectives of the Community Forest on this site, thus a contribution up to 
the maximum quoted above is reasonable towards initiating and establishing the 
necessary community involvement and education projects. 

 

Page 94



 

 

 

g. If an applicant is not prepared to make a financial contribution to this our officers would 
expect a package of proposals to ensure that these elements of the Community Forest 
programme are delivered. At the very least this would include a management plan for 
the community woodland showing the mechanisms  proposed to put in place a strategy 
(including staff) to ensure the engagement, support and training of local people to 
deliver appropriate management to ensure that the Community Woodland survives and 
thrives and remains safe for public access. 

 
h. In addition, the scale of the development and its immediate proximity to the Green 

Infrastructure corridor of the River Ray it is likely that residents would want to gain 
access underneath the railway line via the Public Right of Way network to the 
accessible countryside around them.  To make this fully accessible to the wider Canal 
network a bridge would be required over the river to access the towpath.  

 
i. The River Ray corridor has already been identified by the Community Forest Team as 

a potential location for project delivery and community engagement including: 
 
j. Increase in woodland planting: Potential opportunities along the River Ray corridor 

coming south into Swindon. 5ha woodland planting @ £6.5k/ha = £32,500. + 
accompanying community engagement/education programmes say for 3 years: £10k. 
This would complement existing woodland plantings further north along the River Ray 
e.g. at Freeth’s wood, Purton Woods, Lower Widhill Farm 

 
k. River Ray grassland: Secure ownership/sensitive management of the land between 

the River Ray and the Railway north and east of Mouldon Hill CP (west and south of 
Clifford Meadows SSSI). Cost of buying the land: agricultural prices at say £8k/ha for 
30ha = £240k  Project could be to secure grazing, access management, potential for 
wetland enhancement along the river, include some tree planting to enhance 
connection with Purton Woods  

 
l. River Ray wetland work: Between the River Ray and Canal at Mouldon Hill. Creation of 

wetland features e.g. ponds/scrapes to enhance the river corridor.  This is seen as an 
important adjunct to the maintenance/restoration of the Wilts and Berks Canal in this 
area. Cost est: c £5,000 

 
Other habitat enhancements: 
 

 
Mouldon Hill:  
 

a. management of calcareous grassland at Mouldon Hill:  
b. Basic: Vegetation clearance and annual grass cut along the top of the hill to prevent 

further scrub encroachment. c£5,000 
 
c. Enhanced: introduction of grazing: fencing, water supply, community work. Feasibility 

to be confirmed requires further investigation. Fencing/access infrastructure costs £10k 
+ need to provide water supply 

 
b. The potential projects listed above represent some of the possibilities for the 

investment of a Community Forest contribution to benefit any future residents of a 
development at Ridgeway Farm. 

 
c. The contribution value of £81,944 requested is proportionate to the development, 

directly, fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development and 

Page 95



 

 

 

necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, thus is compliant 
with CIL regulation 122 and the wider provisions of Circular 05/05. 

 
Art in the Community 

 
a. Building on the work of the former district councils, Wiltshire Council is promoting a 

Wiltshire-wide strategic, collaborative, integrated and coherent approach to public art 
(otherwise known as art and design in the public realm). This is actively being 
developed and endorsed across all service divisions of the Council. A new strategic 
service and policy for public art is currently in the process of being embedded within 
the Councils emerging core and cultural strategies.  

 
b. Following on from Policy C2 in the North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011, the draft core 

strategy states in Core Policy 37: Ensuring High Quality design and place shaping, 
‘Quality Public Realm – new development must improve, or provide, attractive and 
usable public open spaces and streets through consideration of location, surveillance, 
scale, materials, reference to traditional townscape, use of tree planting and integration 
of public art’. 

 
c. Following a period of research into existing policy papers and S106 obligations and 

consultation with relevant officers a policy statement and a guidance note was 
produced in February 2011 is available to view on Wiltshire Council’s website.  

 
d. This forms the beginning of a public art advisory service within the council and to 

private and community sectors on specific projects, developments, S106s and matters 
of opportunity, process and quality. A series of seminars and training sessions for 
officers, stakeholders and developers are being arranged to underpin the Council’s 
approach and policies for art and design in the public realm.  

 
e. Public art is site-specific and integral to a higher quality public realm, better-designed 

and more creative environments, and creates a sense of distinctiveness and 
community ownership through community participation and creative engagement.  

 
f. For development proposals with significant impact, such as the Ridgeway Farm 

development, the policy statement indicates that public art should be considered 
carefully and integrally at an early planning stage.  This requires from the developer a 
contribution to enable a public art specialist to produce a strategy and to deliver an 
appropriate art scheme in to the development site. The scheme will be of suitable scale 
and take account of local distinctiveness and engage with the community, where 
relevant. The guidance note gives advice on the delivery and the procurement of art 
and design in the public realm within the planning framework. 

 
g. Given the scale of this development proposed at Ridgeway Farm, an indicative figure 

of £120,000 is considered to be reasonable, of which it is anticipated that between 
10% and 15% would be spent on developing a public art plan at an early stage. This 
will depend on the complexity of the site and the aspiration of the developer. This level 
of contribution is based on a comparison of similar projects, in terms of the number of 
houses and relative land value or desirability of location, rather than the application of 
a particular formula. 

 
h. Research in to S106s and developer contributions in Wiltshire suggest that 

negotiations have been made on the individual merit of each site and many have been 
based on precedents set on developments of a similar size or type. Comparisons 
made with other authorities reveal that there is no national standard and some 
authorities have tariffs and sliding scales for contributions. 

Page 96



 

 

 

 
i. Examples of contributions negotiated for development sites where contributions 

towards public art have been secured include:  
 
j. The Old Sarum housing development (planning reference S/2005/0211 and 

S/2009/1748) of 630 dwellings secured a contribution through a S106 dated 30 
October 2008 of £120,000 plus £12,000 being an additional 10% for the lead 
artist/agency fees.  

 
k. A housing development of 750 dwellings at Land East of Melksham (planning 

reference 04/01895/OUT) secured a £110,000 contribution through a S106 dated 6 
August 2008 from which a maximum of £20,000 could be expended to appoint a public 
art consultant to produce an arts plan.  

 
l. At a recent judicial review in Salisbury, the developer was presented with a body of 

evidence of the current art and design agreements in Wiltshire who accepted that the 
figures that we were working to were reasonable and that the method of comparing 
one site to the next to establish the public art contribution was equally a reasonable 
approach. 

 
Other contributions 

 
Wiltshire Fire & Rescue  

 
a. This requirement has come from Wiltshire Fire and Rescue themselves, with a case 

advanced on their behalf by SBC.  The approach outlined below is wholly supported by 
Wiltshire Council.  Discussions with the applicant to date in respect of this aspect of 
contributions have not been so positive. 

 
b. The evidence base document that is used to support the request for a financial 

contribution towards improved service provision for Wiltshire Fire & Rescue Service 
‘WFRS’ is their ‘Community Risk Strategy for Swindon Borough 2006-2026’ March 
2011. 

 
c. SBC, on behalf of the Fire and Rescue Service ‘WFRS’, to contend that a contribution 

is necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 
 
 
d. WFRS provide coverage that extends beyond the boundaries of the Borough of 

Swindon into the Wiltshire Council administrative area. The development site is located 
immediately adjacent, and to the north of Peatmoor, an area that forms the northern-
most extent of the West Swindon. The nearest fire station to the development site is 
located at Westlea in West Swindon. 

 
e. In order for the Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service to meet the demand for its services 

in the future, as a consequence of Swindon’s growth, and any growth on its fringes that 
will place additional demand on its services, there is a need for it to upgrade the 
nature, and potentially location, of its operational services.  The WFRS Community 
Risk Strategy for Swindon Borough 2006-2026 ‘The Strategy’ also contains information 
relating to the response times to areas that lie outside of the Borough boundary. This 
includes the application site which is identified in the Strategy as falling in a maximum 
response time of 8-10 minutes, and possibly beyond in some sections. 

 
f. All new development that expects WFRS coverage will adversely impact the ability of 

the service to meet its current target response times, to existing premises within its 

Page 97



 

 

 

area, unless service improvements are made. Thus attendance to incidents at this 
development will adversely and directly impact on WFRS infrastructure. This is a 
pressure and impact that it is reasonable for new development to mitigate. Without 
mitigation, response times to existing areas will be stretched adding to the level of risk. 
For this reason it is unlikely that WFRS will be able to maintain or deliver a safe and 
efficient Fire Service to the residents of existing premises, and in the future this 
development if its infrastructure is not improved.  

 
g. Whilst the developer contributions towards provision have been generated from data 

contained within the WFRS Strategy (2010) this document has recently been updated 
in light of revisions to the proposed growth for Swindon under the Swindon Borough 
Core Strategy Revised Proposed Submission Document March 2011. The Council 
continues to apply the cost per dwelling and per sqm from the 2010 Strategy as this is 
a lesser figure than would ultimately be generated by the updated Strategy. The 
costing model generates a funding gap that is appropriately apportioned between 
residential and non-residential developments and embedded into the Developer 
Contributions DCGN 2010.   

 
h. Applying the policy rigidly, the non-residential aspects of the scheme would also trigger 

a contribution however as an outline application it is difficult to ascertain an appropriate 
contribution at this point in time. The residential element reflects a proportionate cost of 
£155 per residential unit. The contribution level generated has only been calculated 
against the 70% of total housing numbers as it excluded contributions for affordable 
housing. 

 
i. The primary focus for the Fire Service is to upgrade the Westlea Fire Station from 

immediate response by day, and delayed response by night to immediate response 
both day and night.  Given the proximity of the development to this nearest Fire 
Service Facility and the impact that such a significant development will place on its 
service delivery, there is a clear justification for a request for the contribution. 

 
j. It is considered that a contribution towards the improvements to the Fire Service 

infrastructure would be necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms, directly related to the development, and fairly and reasonably related in scale 
and kind to the development based on a derived cost per open market residential unit.  
For this reason it is considered that the contribution is CIL Regulation 122 compliant.  

 
 
 
30.     Human Rights Act 

 
a) The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 

processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 
 

31.             Equalities 
 

a) In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under section 71 of the Race Relations Act as 
amended and the Equalities Act 2010.  For the purposes of this application, there are 
no adverse equalities issues arising from this proposal which are not adequately 
addressed by the applicant. 

Page 98



 

 

 

 
 
32. Conclusion 
 

a. The application site lies in the open countryside outside of any framework boundary.  
The site is not the subject of any site specific allocation in any existing or proposed 
development plan document.  Nor is there any intention by either Swindon Borough 
Council or Wiltshire Council to allocate the site at this time.  

 
b. There are no site specific objections to the development in term of landscape or 

ecological impact. 
 
c. If allowed, the proposed development would be premature to the emerging Core 

Strategies of both Councils and the plan-led approach to the growth of Swindon.  The 
sustainability credentials of the site in terms of location and proposed on-site facilities 
is poor and will increase the need for journeys to be made by private vehicles. 

 
d. There are concerns regarding the highway design aspects of the proposed 

development as illustrated by the masterplan.  At present the design would 
encourage speeding, severance, intimidation and safety issues for all users of the 
site. 

 
e. Whilst the willingness of the applicants/appellants to enter into a S106 agreement is 

noted, the absence of any signed and completed agreement must form a reason for 
refusal at this juncture. 

 
33. Recommendation 
 

Had the committee been able to determine this application it would have 
recommended that Planning Permission be REFUSED and that officers be 
authorised to contest the appeal for the following reasons: 
 

1. The proposed development is in the countryside, outside the framework boundary of any 
settlement where residential development is not acceptable under Policy H4 of the North 
Wiltshire Local Plan 2011. 
 

2. In the absence of a site specific allocation of the application site in any adopted or 
emerging development plan document, it is considered that there is no policy derived 
basis for the development of this site.  It is proposed that the strategic growth of Swindon 
will be derived from other more suitable sites identified by Swindon Borough Council in 
their respect Core Strategy. 
 
 

3. The proposal is premature to the progression of both Wiltshire Council’s and Swindon 
Borough Council’s Local Development Frameworks (LDF), the Core Strategy 
Development Plan Documents for the area is therefore prejudicial to both councils’ plan-
led approach to sustainable development, and the spatial vision for the development of 
Swindon and the surrounding area. As such the proposal is contrary to Planning Policy 
Statement 3: Housing, the Council will be relying on the principles in Cala Homes (South) 
Limited v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government [2010] and R (on the 
application of Cala Homes (South) Limited) v Secretary of State for Communities and 
Local Government and another [2011]. 
 

4. The proposed development is non-sustainable; it would be located where it is distant from 
adequate services with an insufficient public transport provision and will therefore 

Page 99



 

 

 

increase the need for journeys to be made by private vehicles which is non-sustainable 
and in conflict with the advice given in PPG13, RPG 10 and Policies C1, C3 and T1 of the 
adopted North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011. 
 

5. In highway design terms, the proposed development, as illustrated by the Masterplan, is 
not capable of being built in an acceptable manner. The poor design will encourage 
speeding, severance, intimidation and safety issues which are contrary to national 
guidance in Manual for Streets 1 and 2, Policy C3 of the adopted North Wiltshire Local 
Plan 2011and current best practice for highway design. 
 

6. In the absence of an acceptable signed S106 agreement, the proposed development 
does not make any provisions for securing affordable housing and education on the site;  
it also makes insufficient financial contributions towards  mitigating impacts of the 
development on nearby services and facilities and the maintenance of open space, waste 
receptacles and surface water attenuation measures on the site The application is 
therefore contrary to Policies C2, H5 and CF3 of the North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011 and 
the North Wiltshire Local Development Framework Affordable Housing SPD (April 2008). 
 

Page 100



P
a
g
e
 1

0
1



P
a
g

e
 1

0
2



WILTSHIRE COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO THE STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE  

Date of Meeting 15 February 2012 

Application Number N/09/01258/WCM 

Site Address Park Lane Quarry, Neston Park, Neston, Wiltshire  

Proposal(s) Environment Act 1995: Application for determination of conditions to 
which a mineral site is to be subject. 

Applicant Sir James Fuller and Ham and Doulting Stone Ltd 

Town/Parish Council Corsham   

Electoral Division Corsham Without and Box 
Hill 

Unitary Member: Cllr Dick Tonge 
 

Grid Ref 386705 167565 

Type of application County Matter 

Case Officer  Mr Greg Lester 01225 770259 
greg.lester@wiltshire.gov.uk 

  
 
Reason for the application being considered by Committee   
 
Councillor Dick Tonge has requested that this application be determined by Committee due 
to: 
 
*Scale of Development 
*Heavy traffic to and from the site 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
To consider the above application for approval of full modern planning conditions to facilitate 
the reactivation of this “dormant” (mineral site) and to recommend that, subject to 
amendment and addition, a new scheme of conditions to which the site is subject be 
approved.  
 
2. Main Issues 
 
Under the provisions of the Environment Act 1995 Park Lane Quarry is classified a 
“dormant” site and no minerals development may lawfully recommence at this site until a 
new scheme of conditions has been approved by the Mineral Planning Authority. 
 
The main issue to be considered is whether the submitted conditions are acceptable or 
should be modified or added to in the light of the particular circumstances of the case and 
relevant guidance. 
 
It is important to note that planning permission already exists for the mine itself and as a 
consequence the planning merits of permitting a mine in this location are not for 
consideration.   

Agenda Item 7

Page 103



3. Background 
 
The Environment Act 1995 introduced new requirements for an initial review and updating of 
old mineral planning permissions (granted between 1948 and 1982) and the periodic review 
of all mineral permissions thereafter. Many of these permissions were granted subject to 
few, if any, conditions to mitigate the impact of operations or to govern the restoration and 
after-use of the site once operations ceased. 
 
A distinction is made between "dormant" sites and "active" sites.  In line with the provisions 
of the Act, the Council, as Mineral Planning Authority (MPA), classified Park Lane Quarry a 
“dormant” site by 1996. 
 
No minerals development may lawfully recommence at dormant sites until a new scheme of 
full modern planning conditions has been submitted to, and approved by, the MPA. This 
prevents the reactivation of such sites without full modern planning conditions in place and 
ensures that schemes that are prepared and submitted are appropriate to the circumstances 
pertaining at the time. 
 
It is for applicants in the first place to submit schemes of conditions for the consideration of 
the MPA, and for the MPA to determine whether the submitted conditions are acceptable or 
should be modified or added to in the light of the particular circumstances of the case and 
relevant guidance. 
 
4. Site Description  
 
The area of the dormant planning permission is approximately 80 hectares, under land at 
Neston Park, Neston. The mine extends beneath farmland with no residential properties 
lying directly overhead. At its closest point, the mine is some 200 metres from the village.   
 
The site, prior to its closure in the 1960s, was accessed via Park Lane, which is now a 
designated Bridleway.  Stone was also removed from the site using a tramway system, 
following broadly the same path as the application for the new mine access and access track 
(N.09.01259.WCM).  No elements of the mine will be above ground and all works shall take 
place within the mine itself. The mine workings are at a depth of approximately 20-30 
metres.  Approximately 10 hectares of the mine have been worked. 
 
5. Relevant Planning History  
 
Park Lane Quarry was originally granted planning permission in 1950, although the 
extraction of stone had taken place prior to this from around 1880.  The mine operated until 
the 1960s.   
 
The relevant Planning Permission is that referenced 572 and dated 6 April 1950 granted to 
Bath and Portland Stone Firms Ltd for the working of minerals, including the use of building 
for the purposes of a winch-house storage and mess room, subject to the following 
conditions; 
 

• The permission shall relate solely to the continued winning of minerals by underground 
workings under the land indicated on the deposited plan; 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 104



• That the winning and working of minerals shall include in addition to the underground 
workings, only such work above the surface of the ground in the nature of stacking, 
weathering, rough-shaping of the stone blocks won from the underground workings 
referred to, on such land and in such buildings as at present so used, but shall not 
include any work in the nature of dressing the stone, masonry or other such works, nor 
the crushing of stone to form any by-product in the nature of agricultural line, 
reconstructed stone or other such product or for the use of any buildings in connection 
therewith; 

 

• That if, as a result of the permission, the traffic entering and leaving the public highway is 
materially increased to such an extent that such traffic using the existing access is likely 
to become a danger to users of the public highway the applicants shall, at their expense, 
improve the existing access or construct such new access or accesses as may be 
required by, and to the satisfaction of, the Wiltshire County Council as highway authority. 

 
The approved plans record the route of a private tramway (subsequently dismantled) serving 
the underground workings and that consent was granted on 25 January 1946 for lorry traffic 
to use Park Lane to access the mineral area. 
 
6. Proposal  
 
This application seeks the approval of the MPA to a scheme of proposed conditions to which 
the planning permission for the Park Lane Quarry (underground mine) site is to be subject.  
 
The applicant initially proposed 11 no. conditions, relating to the following matters; time 
limits; access, traffic and protection of the highway; working programme; hours of operations 
and; environmental protection. Further conditions relating to protected species protection 
and restrictions on the output of the mine have been proposed in light of discussions that 
have taken place during consideration of the application. 
 
The proposed conditions are set out in full in Appendix 1. 
 
Approval of a new scheme of conditions will facilitate the reopening of the previously 
approved underground workings and meet the current demand Bath stone is currently 
enjoying. Natural building stone quarries can play an important role in providing historically 
authentic building materials in the conservation and repair of historic and cultural buildings 
and structures. 
 
It must be noted that planning permission already exists for the mine itself and as a 
consequence the planning merits of allowing a mine in this location are not for consideration, 
only the conditions to which the permission should now be subject.   
 
In conjunction with the application to apply modern working conditions to Park Lane Quarry, 
planning application (N/09/02159/WCM) seeks to provide a new access road and mine 
access area.   
 
Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 
 
A Screening Direction has been obtained by the applicant that confirms in the opinion of the 
Secretary of State and having taken into account the selection criteria in Schedule 3 to the 
1999 Regulations, the proposal would not be likely to have significant effects on the 
environment by virtue of factors such as its nature, size or location and EIA is therefore not 
necessary.    
 
 

Page 105



7. Planning Policy 
 
Minerals Planning Guidance 14: Environment Act 1995: Review of Mineral Planning 
Permissions (MPG14) 
 
Minerals Planning Guidance 2: Applications, permissions and conditions (MPG2) 
 
Minerals Policy Statement 2: Controlling and Mitigating the Environmental 
Effects of Minerals Extraction in England (MPS2) 
 
The following Development Plan policies are considered relevant to the determination of this 
planning application: 
 
MDC1, MDC2, MDC3, MDC6 and MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals 
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009 
 
8. Consultations  
 
Corsham Town Council - object on the basis of hours of operation and transportation being 
too long.   
 
Atworth Parish Council – no objections and content with the access to and from the site, 
but require clarification on the route from Rough Street. 
 
Melksham Without Parish Council - no objection subject to no additional traffic on B3353 
through Shaw and Whitley. 
 
Corsham Civic Society - object on the basis of location of the site, inadequate nature of 
local transport network size of proposed lorries and highway safety 
 
Environment Agency - no objection subject to conditions relating to recommendations of 
the hydrological and hydrogeological assessment and covering fuel storage and pollution 
prevention. 
 
Natural England – advise that an assessment of likely significant effect will need to be 
made by Wiltshire Council.  
 
Local Highway Authority - no objection. 
 
County Ecologist – considers that sufficient mitigation for bats is provided. 
 
Landscape Officer - no objection 
 
Public Protection Officer - no objection subject to a condition to prevent audible noise in 
properties from underground drilling should be included.  A dust management condition 
should also be attached. 
 
County Archaeologist - no comment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



9. Publicity  
 
The application was advertised by site notice/press notice /neighbour notification.   
 
44 individual letters of objections to the proposal for re-opening Park Lane Mine have been 
received covering the following areas of concern: 
 

• Impact on public rights of way 

• Inappropriate routing of HGV vehicles 

• Working hours are too long 

• Impact on highway safety through increased traffic 

• Village being used for short cuts 

• Damage to roads 

• Impact on the environment 

• Noise 
 

In addition, 88 pro-forma responses objecting to the application have been received. 
 
One letter of support was received. 
 
81 additional objections were received in response to additional information provided by the 
applicant in 2011 to address omissions in the original submission. 
 
10. Planning Considerations  
 
Park Lane Quarry is classified a “dormant” site and no minerals development may lawfully 
recommence at this site until a new scheme of conditions has been approved by the MPA.  
 
On receipt of a valid application the MPA must determine the conditions to which the 
relevant planning permission is to be subject. The conditions determined may include any 
conditions which may be imposed on the grant of planning permission for minerals 
development and may be in addition to, or in substitution for, any existing conditions. For 
dormant sites full modern conditions are considered appropriate. The principle of operating a 
stone mine in this area is established and is not for consideration.   
 
The submitted conditions and Officer’s comments, modifications and additions to these are 
attached at Appendix 1. 
 
In considering the types of conditions that would be appropriate in this particular case, 
officers have had particular regard to the following matters: 
 
Conditions Relating to Access, Traffic and Protection of the Public Highway 
 
The proposed reopening of Park Lane Quarry, which has not operated for some 
considerable time, will give rise to a small number of articulated low-loader lorries, capable 
of carrying blocks of Bath stone, using the local route network. 
 
While the original tramway access has long been removed, access by lorry along Park Lane 
remains legally feasible. However, the lane is not particularly suitable for the modern day 
type of transport to be used. Since the mine closed the lane has acquired an attractive 
aspect being bounded by mature trees and vegetation and is now a public bridleway and is 
also enjoyed by walkers. For these reasons the applicants do not wish to make use of the 
permitted access, but provide a new access that is fit for purpose. Interestingly, a condition 
of the 1950 permission envisages the potential for a new access(s) to be provided. 

Page 107



A condition is therefore proposed to require lorries to use a new means of access to be 
provided on land within the control of the applicant. This new access is itself subject of a 
separate planning application; which is also to be considered at this meeting of the 
Committee. 
 
While the transport of minerals from the site is unlikely to cause a substantial increase in 
road traffic, the intention to re-open the mine has provoked opposition from residents 
concerned about HGV traffic through Neston village and led to discussions about what 
alternatives might be available.  
 
The position of the new access provides for HGV traffic to travel along Rough Street to its 
junction with Lypiatt Road, which in turn merges with Dicketts Road. These roads are not 
subject to any weight or width restrictions and are legally available for use by all traffic. It is 
worth noting that part of this route is used by vehicles accessing Leafield Industrial Estate 
when approaching from the B3353. No other alternative routes are available or feasible. 
 
The proposed HGV traffic generated by the mine would consist of a maximum of 2 loaded 
lorries leaving the mine each day. The initial submission did not include a condition limiting 
the output of minerals from the site.  MPG2 advises that where the environmental impact of 
increases in production, particularly on traffic flow, is likely to be great it may be appropriate 
to impose a condition limiting output at individual sites. Notwithstanding the very low traffic 
volumes, the applicant has subsequently proposed conditions which limit the annual output 
from the mine and the number of vehicles which visit each working day. Following an 
assessment by the Highways Development Control Engineer, it has been concluded that the 
volume and infrequent passage of HGV traffic can be accommodated by the local route 
network and is unlikely to prejudice highway safety or result in demonstrable harm to 
residential amenity. 
 
MPG14 advises that conditions dealing with measures to prevent dust, mud and spillages on 
the public highway will be appropriate to all sites, and conditions relating to the display of 
agreed vehicle routes may be appropriate to some sites. Such matters are included in the 
scheme of new conditions. 
 
Working Programme 
 
Working scheme - conditions should provide for the way in which the site is to be worked. 
The applicant has proposed conditions which relate to methods and limits on how the 
underground workings would be carried out.  However, these do not reflect the previous 
technical advice of Council’s mining consultants in respect of planning conditions to which 
Wiltshire Bath Stone mines should be subject. The scheme of new conditions should 
therefore be modified accordingly, and to ensure consistency with other sites. 
 
Hours of Operations - conditions should provide for the times and days on which specified 
operations may or may not be carried out. The initial submission included a condition stating 
that mine would operate Monday to Friday and Saturday morning.  In response to local 
concerns, and following a public exhibition in 2010, the applicant has subsequently 
confirmed that there would be no weekend or evening working. This is reflected in the 
scheme of new conditions. 
 
Environmental Protection 
 
As the entire extent of the stone mine is located some 20-30 metres below ground, with no 
overlying sensitive receptors, there would be little or no impacts in relation to noise, vibration 
or dust. All works within the mine will take place below ground, including the cutting of stone 
blocks. 

Page 108



 
Protected Species 
 
The initial submission included bat survey information which suggested a low level presence 
of bats within the mine tunnels. However, in light of errors and omissions in the survey data 
the MPA required the applicant to carry out further detailed survey work in order to inform 
discussions about what conditions might be necessary to avoid, mitigate or compensate for 
any adverse impacts on this population of protected species. 
 
This led to protracted discussions with the applicant, Council Ecologist and Natural England 
about the level of survey required and mitigation measures to be provided. Subsequent bat 
surveys carried out over a period of one year established the mine workings were in fact 
inhabited by significant populations of Lesser Horseshoe bats with occasional sightings of 
Greater Horseshoe bats and Natterers bats.  The survey results confirmed the mine is an 
important winter roost for Lesser Horseshoe bats, with potential links between populations at 
the Bath and Bradford-on-Avon Bats Special Area of Conservation (SAC). 
 
It was established that bats were making use of an area of the mine mainly beneath an air 
shaft.  Following extensive consultation with the Council’s Ecologist and with advice from 
Natural England, an appropriate mitigation scheme has been arrived at which would ensure 
the area inhabited by bats be sealed off from the remainder of the mine to allow the bats to 
move freely within a ‘bat sanctuary’ without the possibility of encountering the working area 
of the mine.  The scheme of new conditions has been modified to secure the provision of 
these measures. 
 
Recommendation  
 
Approve  
 
 
For the following reason(s): 
 

In the opinion of the Council, as Minerals Planning Authority, the schedule of new conditions 
to which the planning permission is to be subject is considered appropriate to the planning 
circumstances and having regard to the considerations outlined in the relevant guidance and 
planning policy satisfactorily deal with the environmental and amenity aspects of working this 
particular site. 
 
The policies relevant to this decision are Policies MDC1, MDC2, MDC3, MDC6 and MDC8 of 
the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies Development Plan 
Document 2009. 
 
Subject to the following condition(s): 
 
 
1. This permission is for a limited period only expiring on 22 February 2042, by which 

date the operations hereby permitted shall have ceased. 
 
 Reason: To comply with Part I of Schedule 5 to the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
 

Plan Ref: 528/4B dated November 2009 
Plan Ref: 921/PL9 Revision A dated December 2011 
Plan Ref: 11175-2500-01 dated December 2011 

 
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
3. The extraction area shall be worked by the room and pillar method with the pillars 

orientated to minimise the effects of natural fractures in the rock mass such that: 
 

(a) An effective extraction ratio of 64% is not exceeded in any area of the mine 
measuring 100 metres by 100 metres as defined by north and east grid 
lines drawn on the mine plan. 

 
(b) Both the maximum distance and the effective span between adjacent 

pillars do not exceed 7 metres, including any over-cutting produced by the 
saw at roof level. 

 
(c) The minimum dimension of any pillar is 4 metres. 
 
(d) Wherever induced cracking of the roof occurs as a result of downward 

deflections of the roof beam to the extent that stability of the roof beam 
becomes suspect, the maximum roadway width shall be reduced 
progressively until a stable configuration is arrived at. 

 
Reason:  To define the terms of the planning permission so that ambiguity is 

avoided, to ensure a satisfactory form of development, to maintain a review 
of mining conditions and to ensure a development which is safe and gives 
support to any adjoining and overlying properties. 

 
Policy: MDC2 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 

Development Plan Document 
 
4. The operator shall maintain a survey of the conditions within the area of extraction 

hereby permitted and shall submit the results of such a survey to the Mineral Planning 
Authority in plan form twelve months from the date of this permission and then 
annually.  Where the survey reveals, or the site conditions illustrate: 

 
(a)  A steepening of the dip of the strata, and/or  
 
(b)  A change in the average orientations of geological discontinuities, or 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



(c) An open, clay filled or faulted geological discontinuity, this shall be reported 
immediately to the Mineral Planning Authority and before continuing mining 
in the affected area the operator shall submit for approval changes to the 
mining method/direction or means of implementation necessary to take 
account of the changed geological factors.  In the case of an open, clay 
filled or faulted discontinuity, the spacing between the roadways adjacent 
to such discontinuity shall be increased to provide the equivalent of a full 
line of pillars either side of the discontinuity and details in plan form 
illustrating such steps shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority.  
The operator shall thereafter implement such changes or steps as 
approved by the Mineral Planning Authority in the method of operation, 
implementation or direction of working or any additional works which are 
required to augment the stability of any pillars or roadways within the 
permitted area. 

 
Reason: To define the terms of the planning permission so that ambiguity is 

avoided, to ensure a satisfactory form of development, to maintain a review 
of mining conditions and to ensure a development which is safe and gives 
support to any adjoining and overlying properties. 

 
Policy: MDC2 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 

Development Plan Document 
 
5. Should any indication of the yielding or failure of a pillar or group of pillars be observed 

within or adjoining the site, the operator shall suspend mining immediately and advise 
the Mineral Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason: To define the terms of the planning permission so that ambiguity is 

avoided, to ensure a satisfactory form of development, to maintain a review 
of mining conditions and to ensure a development which is safe and gives 
support to any adjoining and overlying properties. 

 
Policy: MDC2 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 

Development Plan Document 
 
6. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the Bat 

Mitigation Scheme for Park Lane Mine and Method Statement dated 4 July 2011 and 
compiled by Bat Pro Limited in all respects. 

 
 Reason:  To make appropriate provision for protected species within the approved 

development in the interests of biodiversity and to ensure development is 
carried out in accordance with submitted application. 

 
 Policy: MDC6 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 

Development Plan Document. 
 
7. All vehicular access and egress to and from the site shall be from Brookleaze Road, as 

indicated on Drawing No. 528/4B, dated November 2009. No other access shall be 
used by vehicles or plant entering or exiting the site. 

 
 Reason: In the interest of highway safety and safeguarding local amenity. 
 
 Policy: MDC2 and MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development 

Control Policies Development Plan Document. 
 

Page 111



 
 

8. No development shall take place until details of a sign[s], advising drivers of vehicle 
routes to be taken upon exiting the site, have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details with the sign[s] being erected and thereafter 
maintained at the site exit for the duration of the development hereby permitted. 

 

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and safeguarding local amenity. 
 

 Policy: MDC2 and MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development 
Control Policies Development Plan Document. 

 
9. The access road between the Mine Access Area and the public highway shall be kept 

clear of debris for the duration of the development hereby permitted. 
 

 Reason: In the interests of preventing material, dust or detritus from affecting public 
highway safety. 

 
 Policy: MDC2 and MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development 

Control Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
10. No commercial vehicle shall leave the site unless its wheels and underside chassis are 

clean to prevent materials, including mud and debris, being deposited on the public 
highway. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of preventing material, dust or detritus from affecting public 

highway safety. 
  
Policy: MDC2 and MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development 

Control Policies Development Plan Document. 
 

11. No loading or transportation of stone shall be carried out except between the hours of 
7.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m. Mondays to Fridays.  No such activity shall take place on 
Saturday, Sunday or Public or Bank Holidays. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of safeguarding local amenity and to ensure development is 

carried out in accordance with submitted application. 
 

 Policy: MDC2 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
12. The output of mineral from/total amount of material leaving the site shall not exceed a 

level of 12,000 tonnes per annum. 
 
 Reason: To reduce the potential for disturbance caused by vehicular movements in 

the interests of safeguarding local amenity and to ensure development is 
carried out in accordance with submitted application. 

 
 Policy: MDC2 and MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development 

Control Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



 
13. From the date of this permission the operator shall maintain records of the annual 

output production and shall make them available to the Mineral Planning Authority at 
any time upon request. 

 
 Reason: To allow the Minerals Planning Authority to adequately monitor activity at 

the site. 
 

 Policy: MDC2 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
14. The total number of Heavy Goods Vehicle movements associated with the 

development hereby permitted shall not exceed 4 [2 in and 2 out] per day. No HGV 
movements shall take place outside the hours of operation authorised in condition 11 
of this permission. 

 
 Reason: To reduce the potential for disturbance caused by vehicular movements in 

the interests of safeguarding local amenity and to ensure development is 
carried out in accordance with submitted application. 

 
 Policy: MDC2 and MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development 

Control Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
15. A written record shall be maintained at the site office of all movements out of the site 

by heavy goods vehicles, as defined in this permission; such records shall contain the 
vehicles’ registration number and the time and date of the movement and shall be 
made available for inspection by the Mineral Planning Authority on demand at any 
time. 

 
 Reason: To allow the Minerals Planning Authority to adequately monitor activity at 

the site 
 
 Policy: MDC2 and MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development 

Control Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
16. No explosives shall be used in the mining process. 
 

 Reason: In the interests of amenity 
 

 Policy: MDC2 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
17. No pumping shall take place to dewater the workings. 
 

 Reason: To prevent pollution of groundwater. 
 

 Policy: MDC3 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113



 
 
 
18. Any facilities above ground for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on 

an impervious base and surrounded by impervious walls. The volume of the bunded 
compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 10%. If there is 
multiple tankage, the compound should be at least equivalent to the capacity of the 
largest tank, or the combined capacity of interconnected tanks, plus 10% or 25% of the 
total volume that could be stored at any one time, whichever is the greater.  All filling 
points, vents, gauges and sight glasses must be located within the bund. Associated 
pipe work should be above ground and protected from accidental damage. All filling 
points and tank overflow pipe outlets should be detailed to discharge into the bund. 
Such facilities shall be constructed and completed in strict accordance with plans 
approved by the Mineral Planning Authority prior to the first use of the development. 

 
 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment. 

 
 Policy: MDC3 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 

Development Plan Document. 
  

Page 114



 
APPENDIX 1 

 

No. Condition proposed by the 
Applicant 

MPA comment/modifications & additions 
 

1 This permission shall expire on 21 
February 2042. 
 

Permissions existing on 22 February 1982, 
which are not already time-limited, become 
time-expired on 22 February 2042. 
 
Condition should be corrected and reworded 
to reflect good practice, as follows: 
 
This permission is for a limited period only 
expiring on 22 February 2042, by which date 
the operations hereby permitted shall have 
ceased. 
 

2 Access to the mine shall only be 
gained from the access road shown 
on Drawing No. 528/4B.  Prior to the 
construction of the access the 
crossing places between over Park 
Lane Mine shall be agreed with the 
Mineral Planning Authority.  No 
vehicles or plant shall use Park Lane 
to gain access to the mine 
 

In terms of road safety considerations the 
Local Highway Authority has no objection to 
the position of the new access. 
 
Reference to the detail of the passing places 
should be deleted as this would be a matter 
for consideration under the application for the 
new access road. 
 
Amend condition to read: 
 
All vehicular access and egress to and from 
the site shall be from Brockleaze Road, as 
indicated on Drawing No. 528/4B, dated 
November 2009. No other access shall be 
used by vehicles or plant entering or exiting 
the site. 
 

3 The access shall be kept clean and 
free of mud and detritus at all times. 
 

Proposed wording imprecise. Modify condition 
to read:  
 
The access road between the Mine Access 
Area and the public highway shall be kept 
clear of debris for the duration of the 
development hereby permitted. 
 

  

Page 115



4 No mud or detritus shall be carried on 
to the public highway. 
 

Proposed wording imprecise. Modify condition 
to read:  
 
No commercial vehicle shall leave the site 
unless its wheels and underside chassis are 
clean to prevent materials, including mud and 
debris, being deposited on the public 
highway. 
 

5 The development hereby permitted 
shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved plans and 
Statement of Mine Safety subject only 
to such minor amendments as may be 
approved in writing by Wiltshire 
Council. 
 

There is now a formal procedure for 
approving any minor amendments. 
 
Condition should be reworded so that it (does 
what) in line with relevant guidance on the 
matter. 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be 
carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans: 
 
Plan Ref: 528/4B Dated November 2009 
Plan Ref: 921/PL9 Revision A Dated 
December 2011 
Plan Ref: 11175-2500-01 Dated December 
2011 
 

6 At all times pillars of undisturbed rock 
of adequate size, strength and total 
area shall be left in-situ to prevent any 
subsidence of the surface above the 
mine workings. 
 

Does not reflect the previous technical advice 
of the Council’s mining consultants in respect 
of planning conditions to which Wiltshire Bath 
Stone mines should be subject. 
 
Modify condition to read: 
 
The extraction area shall be worked by the 
room and pillar method with the pillars 
orientated to minimise the effects of natural 
fractures in the rock mass such that: 
 

i. An effective extraction ratio of 64% is 
not exceeded in any area of the mine 
measuring 100 metres by 100 metres 
as defined by north and east grid lines 
drawn on the mine plan. 

 
ii. Both the maximum distance and the 

effective span between adjacent pillars 
do not exceed 7 metres, including any 
over-cutting produced by the saw at 
roof level. 

 
iii. The minimum dimension of any pillar 

is 4 metres. 
 

iv. Wherever induced cracking of the roof 
occurs as a result of downward 

Page 116



deflections of the roof beam to the 
extent that stability of the roof beam 
becomes suspect, the maximum 
roadway width shall be reduced 
progressively until a stable 
configuration is arrived at. 

 

7 Should any indication of the yielding 
or failure of a pillar or group of pillars 
be observed within or adjoining the 
site, the operator shall suspend 
mining within the area of the failing 
pillars and advise the Mineral 
Planning Authority. 
 

Does not reflect the previous technical advice 
of the Council’s mining consultants in respect 
of planning conditions to which Wiltshire Bath 
Stone mines should be subject. 
 
Delete condition as covered by the above 
modified condition. 
 

8 No explosives shall be used in the 
mining process. 
 

Acceptable, no changes required. 

9 No loading or transportation of stone 
shall be carried out except between 
the hours of 7.00 a.m. to 6.00 p.m. 
Mondays to Fridays and 7.00 a.m. to 
1 p.m. on Saturdays.  No such activity 
shall take place on Saturday 
afternoons, Sundays or Public 
Holidays. 
 

The applicant has subsequently reduced the 
days and hours from that initially proposed. 
 
Modify condition to reflect new working 
days/hours as follows: 
 
No loading or transportation of stone shall be 
carried out except between the hours of 7.00 
a.m. to 5.30 p.m. Mondays to Fridays.  No 
such activity shall take place on Saturday, 
Sunday or Public or Bank Holidays. 
  

10 No pumping shall take place to 
dewater the workings. 
 

Acceptable, no changes required. 
 
 

11 Any facility for the storage of oil, fuel 
or chemical shall be sited on 
impervious bases and surrounded by 
impervious bund walls.  The volume 
of the bunded compound should be at 
least equivalent to the capacity of the 
tanks plus 10%.  All filling points, 
vents, gauges, sight glasses and 
overflow pipe outlets must be located 
within and detailed to discharge 
downwards into the bund.  The 
drainage system of the bund shall be 
sealed with no discharge to any 
watercourse, land or underground 
strata.  Associated pipework should 
be protected from accidental damage. 
 

Condition does not reflect current 
practice/advice from the Environment Agency. 
 
Modify condition to read as follows:  
 
Any facilities above ground for the storage of 
oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on an 
impervious base and surrounded by 
impervious walls. The volume of the bunded 
compound shall be at least equivalent to the 
capacity of the tank plus 10%. If there is 
multiple tankage, the compound should be at 
least equivalent to the capacity of the largest 
tank, or the combined capacity of 
interconnected tanks, plus 10% or 25% of the 
total volume that could be stored at any one 
time, whichever is the greater.  All filling 
points, vents, gauges and sight glasses must 
be located within the bund. Associated pipe 
work should be above ground and protected 
from accidental damage. All filling points and 

Page 117



tank overflow pipe outlets should be detailed 
to discharge into the bund. Such facilities 
shall be constructed and completed in strict 
accordance with plans approved by the 
Mineral Planning Authority prior to the first 
use of the development. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The following conditions are 
additional to those initially 
proposed and which respond to 
matters raised in considering 
application. 
 

 

12 
 
 
 

Output from the mine shall be limited 
to a maximum of 12,000 tonnes of 
block stone per year. No other stone 
shall be removed from the mine 
except as may be needed for the 
surfacing or repair of the access track 
and service area. 
 

The output of mineral from/total amount of 
material leaving the site shall not exceed a 
level of 12,000 tonnes per annum. 

13  It is considered appropriate to supplement the 
above condition with a requirement to 
maintain records for monitoring purposes: 
 
From the date of this permission the operator 
shall maintain records of the annual output 
production and shall make them available to 
the Mineral Planning Authority at any time 
upon request. 
 

14 No more than two loaded Heavy 
Goods vehicles shall leave the mine 
each working day. 
 

Acceptable in principle, reword to reflect good 
practice as follows: 
 
The total number of Heavy Goods Vehicle 
movements associated with the development 
hereby permitted shall not exceed 4 [2 in and 
2 out] per day. No HGV movements shall take 
place outside the hours of operation 
authorised in condition x of this permission. 
 

15  It is considered appropriate to supplement the 
above condition with a requirement to 
maintain records for monitoring purposes: 
 
A written record shall be maintained at the 
site office of all movements out of the site by 
heavy goods vehicles, as defined in this 
permission; such records shall contain the 
vehicles’ registration number and the time and 
date of the movement and shall be made 
available for inspection by the Mineral 
Planning Authority on demand at any time. 
 

Page 118



16 Notices shall be erected firstly at the 
Service Area exit stating; “ALL HGVS 
MUST LEAVE THE MINE VIA 
ROUGH STREET AND GO DIRECT 
TO THE B3533 AT GASTARD. 
STRICTLY NO ACCESS FOR HGVS 
THROUGH NESTON VILLAGE” and 
secondly at the junction of the track 
with the public highway, “ALL HGVS 
GO STRAIGHT AHEAD. NO 
ACCESS THROUGH NESTON 
VILLAGE. 
 

Proposed wording imprecise. Modify condition 
to read:  
 
No development shall take place until details 
of a sign[s], advising drivers of vehicle routes 
to be taken upon exiting the site, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Mineral Planning Authority. The development 
shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details with the sign[s] being 
erected and thereafter maintained at the site 
exit for the duration of the development 
hereby permitted. 
 

17 No extraction of stone shall 
commence until the bat sanctuary 
identified in the Mitigation Strategy 
has been constructed by building the 
sealed isolation wall shown on 
Drawing 11175-2500-01 to the 
satisfaction of the planning authority. 
Subsequently bat monitoring shall be 
undertaken as proposed in the 
Mitigation Strategy or as may be 
otherwise approved by the planning 
authority. 
 

The proposed wording contradicts in part the 
measures identified within the strategy and 
there are formal procedures for discharging 
and agreeing amendments to conditions. 
 
Modify wording as follows: 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be 
implemented in accordance with the Bat 
Mitigation Scheme for Park Lane Mine and 
Method Statement dated 4 July 2011 and 
compiled by Bat Pro Limited in all respects. 

18  For monitoring purposes and consistency with 
other Wiltshire Bath Stone mines, the 
following condition should be added: 
 
The operator shall maintain a survey of the 
conditions within the area of extraction hereby 
permitted and shall submit the results of such 
a survey to the Mineral Planning Authority in 
plan form twelve months from the date of this 
permission and then annually.  Where the 
survey reveals, or the site conditions illustrate: 
 
(a)  A steepening of the dip of the strata, 
and/or  
 
(b)  A change in the average orientations 
of geological discontinuities, or 
 
(c)  An open, clay filled or faulted 
geological discontinuity, this shall be reported 
immediately to the Mineral Planning Authority 
and before continuing mining in the affected 
area the operator shall submit for approval 
changes to the mining method/direction or 
means of implementation necessary to take 
account of the changed geological factors.  In 
the case of an open, clay filled or faulted 
discontinuity, the spacing between the 

Page 119



roadways adjacent to such discontinuity shall 
be increased to provide the equivalent of a full 
line of pillars either side of the discontinuity 
and details in plan form illustrating such steps 
shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning 
Authority.  The operator shall thereafter 
implement such changes or steps as 
approved by the Mineral Planning Authority in 
the method of operation, implementation or 
direction of working or any additional works 
which are required to augment the stability of 
any pillars or roadways within the permitted 
area. 
 

19 
 
 
 
 

 For monitoring purposes and consistency with 
other Wiltshire Bath Stone mines, the 
following condition should be added: 
 
Should any indication of the yielding or failure 
of a pillar or group of pillars be observed 
within or adjoining the site, the operator shall 
suspend mining immediately and advise the 
Mineral Planning Authority. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appendices: 
 

Appendix 1 - Conditions 
Site Location Plans 

 
Background Documents 
Used in the Preparation of 
this Report: 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 120



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 121



 

Page 122



WILTSHIRE COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO THE STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE  

Date of Meeting 15 February 2012 

Application Number N/09/02159/WCM 

Site Address Park Lane Quarry, Neston Park, Neston, Wiltshire  

Proposal(s) Construction of a Road Access, Haul Road and Mine Access Area for 
Park Lane Mine (N/09/02159/WCM) 

Applicant Sir James Fuller and Ham and Doulting Stone Ltd 

Town/Parish Council Corsham   

Electoral Division Corsham Without and Box 
Hill 

Unitary Member: Cllr Dick Tonge 
 

Grid Ref 386705 167565 

Type of application County Matter 

Case Officer  Mr Greg Lester 01225 770259 
greg.lester@wiltshire.gov.uk 

  
 
Reason for the application being considered by Committee   
 
Councillor Dick Tonge has requested that this application be determined by Committee due 
to: 
 
*Scale of Development 
*Heavy traffic to and from the site 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
To consider the above application and to recommend that the application be permitted 
subject to the recommended conditions listed. 
 
2. Main Issues 
 
The main issues to be considered on the following applications are as follows: 
 

• Highways Impact 

• Impact on Residential Amenity 

• Impact on Character of the Area 

• Landscape Impact 

• Ecological Impact 

• Impact on the Historic Environment 

• Impact on Water Environment 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 123



 
3. Site Description  
 
The proposed Road Access, Haul Road and Mine Access Area are located in close 
proximity to the east of the village of Neston.  The entrance to the access/haul road is 
located approximately 300 metres from the village, with the mine access area in excess of 
1km away.  Corsham lies approximately 2km north from the mine access area. 
 
The proposed road access/entrance would lie directly opposite Rough Street, approximately 
20 metres west of an existing agricultural access (field gate). Rough Street is characterised 
by grass verges and hedgerow.  
 
The route of the haul road would take it through open fields, traversing hedgerows and in 
one instance a dry stone wall.  In terms of topography, overall the route of the access track 
slopes gently down to the south towards the site of the mine access area.  There is little 
screening between residential properties located on Brookleaze and the first field through 
which the access track would run.  The access track broadly follows the line of overhead 
power cables through the first two fields, where it crosses through two hedgerows.  The 
access track then crosses through a third field at its northernmost corner before crossing a 
third hedgerow and turning south and following the line of an existing hedgerow towards a 
dry stone wall.  Beyond the dry stone wall the track crosses through a final hedgerow before 
reaching the site of the mine access area. 
 
The mine access is located in the northwestern corner of a field immediately adjacent to a 
wooded area.  The land in this area slopes away to the south, beyond the route of a Roman 
road. 
 
4. Relevant Planning History  
 
Park Lane Quarry was originally granted planning permission in 1950, although the 
extraction of stone had taken place prior to this from around 1880.  The mine operated until 
the 1960s.   
 
The approved plans record the route of a private tramway (subsequently dismantled) serving 
the underground workings and that consent was granted on 25 January 1946 for lorry traffic 
to use Park Lane to access the mineral area. 
 
5. Proposal  
 
This application has been submitted in parallel to an application under the provisions of the 
Environment Act 1995 for approval of full modern planning conditions to facilitate the 
reactivation of the “dormant” Park Lane Quarry (underground mine). (The subject of planning 
application N.09.01258.WCM, also to be considered at this meeting of the Committee). 
Planning permission to operate the mine was granted in 1950, with lorry access to be gained 
along Park Lane. 
 
The applicants do not consider it desirable to re-open the permitted lorry access route along 
Park Lane and therefore seek planning permission to construct a road access, haul road and 
mine access area to serve the mine from an improved location. 
 
The proposal involves the installation of a new purpose built road access onto Brookleaze, at 
a point opposite the junction with Rough Street.  The existing agricultural access would be 
closed.  The first 30 metres of surfacing to the access would be carried out in a consolidated 
surface material of either tarmac or concrete.  Additional planting would be carried out 

Page 124



immediately adjacent to the new access and along part of the route of the haul road to its 
west side where it crosses the northernmost field.  
The remainder of the track is to be formed by removing the topsoil and placing into small 
banks beside the access with the track route being surfaced with material (crushed 
limestone) from the excavation of the new mine access.  This will then be surface dressed 
with a more durable Mendip stone surface coating.  The total width of the ‘construction 
corridor’ will be 7 metres to allow for small earth banks to be placed either side of the 
running surface, which will be 4-metres in width. 
 
The mine access area is to be hard surfaced in either concrete or tarmac and measures 50 
metres x 40 metres to the inside edge of the screen bunds and will include a slope shaft to 
allow access to the underground stone reserves.  It is to be bunded on all sides and then 
planted, forming an extension of the woodland to the west of the mine access area.  
Additional planting will be carried out to the north, east and south of the mine to screen the 
development. 
 
The access area will also be used for the loading of stone removed from the mine, and for 
the storage of stone pending its onward transportation.  No stone will be processed 
(cut/shaped/worked) above ground.  All processing of stone is to take place at the 
applicant’s stone yards in Somerset. 
 
The access road would serve the reopened bath stone quarry of Park Lane Mine and would 
be used to transport cut blocks of bath stone to a cutting yard in Somerset for processing.  
Based on details within the application documents, the access road would be used for up to 
4 HGV vehicle movements per day (2 loaded HGVs leaving the site).  It should be noted that 
the access track itself would not generate any vehicle movements if not required in 
conjunction with the underground stone mine. 
 
A site office is also proposed within the mine access area. 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 
 
A Screening Direction has been obtained by the applicant that confirms in the opinion of the 
Secretary of State and having taken into account the selection criteria in Schedule 3 to the 
1999 Regulations, the proposal would not be likely to have significant effects on the 
environment by virtue of factors such as its nature, size or location and EIA is therefore not 
necessary.    
 
 
6. Planning Policy 
 
The following Development Plan policies are considered relevant to the determination of this 
planning application: 
 
Policies DP1, C1, C2, C3, C5, HE2 and MSP3 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 
2016 (SP) 
 
MCS4, MCS8, MCS9 and MCS10 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document (MCS) 
 
MDC1, MDC2, MDC5, MDC6, MDC7, MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals 
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (DCP) 
 
C1, C3, NE6, NE9, NE15, NE18 and HE8 of the North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011. 
 

Page 125



 
 
7. Consultations  
 
Corsham Town Council - Object on the basis of impact on the countryside, noise, pollution 
and loss of arable land. Object to the use of floodlighting in the mine access area. 
 
Atworth Parish Council - No objection to access. 
 
Melksham Without Parish Council - No objection subject to no additional traffic on B3353 
through Shaw and Whitley. 
 
Corsham Civic Society - Object on the basis of harm from HGV traffic. 
 
Environment Agency - No objection subject to a condition covering fuel and chemical 
storage. 
 
Natural England - No objection 
 
Local Highway Authority - No objection subject to a condition covering details and 
construction of access.  Advise that a legal agreement will be required for improvement 
works to the highway.  This can be covered under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980. 
 
County Archaeologist - considers that the proposal was unlikely to be detrimental to 
archaeological considerations in the area. 
 
Council Ecologist - No objection to revised LVIA and Protected Species Method Statement 
 
Landscape Officer - No objections to revised LVIA, subject to 1 in 3 gradient to external 
slopes. 
 
Public Protection Officer - A condition to prevent audible noise in properties from 
underground drilling should be included.  A dust management condition should also be 
attached. 
 
Rights of Way Officer – A condition to ensure adequate signage and visibility between 
users of the bridleway and operators of plant/machinery is recommended. 
 
8. Publicity  
 
The applications were advertised by site notice/press notice /neighbour notification.   
 
43 individual letters of objection to the proposal for the new access and mine working area 
have been received covering the following areas of concern: 
 

• Impact on bridleway and footpaths 

• Timing of consultation 

• Supporting statements confusing 

• Dust pollution 

• Health impact of limestone running surface 

• Noise from lorries on haul road 

• Impact on wildlife 

• Property devaluation 

• Loss of view 

Page 126



• Light pollution 

• Impact on the environment 

• Archaeological disruption 
 

In addition, 100 pro-forma responses objecting to the application have been received. 
 
While a letter stating that a petition of 415 signatures had been obtained was received on 5 
March 2010 no petition has been submitted. 
 
A further 81 letters of objection and 1 in support of the proposal were received following a 
consultation on further information in July 2011. 
 
9. Planning Considerations  
 
This application has been submitted in parallel to an application under the provisions of the 
Environment Act 1995 for approval of full modern planning conditions to facilitate the 
reactivation of the “dormant” Park Lane Quarry. Whilst planning permission to operate the 
mine already exists, it is not considered desirable to re-open the permitted lorry access route 
along Park Lane. This application seeks permission for a new means of access that is fit for 
purpose. 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the decision 
must be made in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 
 
Impact on Highway Safety and the Transport Network 
 
The proposed reopening of Park Lane Quarry, which has not operated for some 
considerable time, will give rise to a small number of articulated low-loader lorries, capable 
of carrying blocks of Bath stone, using the local route network. 
 
While the transport of minerals from the site is unlikely to cause a substantial increase in 
road traffic, the intention to re-open the mine has provoked opposition from residents 
concerned about HGV traffic through Neston village. 
 
Whilst a significant number of objections have been received regarding the use of Rough 
Street and the surrounding local roads for the routing of HGV traffic, it should be noted that 
the roads that would be utilised are not subject to any weight or width restrictions and are 
legally available for use by all traffic. Indeed, it is understood Rough Street is regularly used 
by buses/coaches and large agricultural vehicles. The position of the new access provides 
for HGV traffic to travel along Rough Street to its junction with Lypiatt Road, which in turn 
merges with Dicketts Road. It is worth noting that part of this route is used by vehicles 
accessing Leafield Industrial Estate when approaching from the B3353.  
 
The revised details submitted in support of the application state that the maximum number of 
daily HGV movements will be 4 (2 inward and 2 outward trips).  The details also suggest that 
at an extraction rate of 12,000 tonnes per annum (the maximum proposed by the 
application) 400 HGVs would visit the site to collect blocks of Bath stone, with an average 
weight of 30 tonnes.  This equates to 8 HGVs visiting the site per week (16 movements).  
Documents submitted with the planning application suggest that this is a maximum scenario, 
with the average expected to be 1 loaded lorry leaving the mine per day (2 movements per 
day, or 10 per week). 
 

Page 127



Following an assessment by the Highways Development Control Engineer, it has been 
concluded that the low volume and infrequent passage of HGV traffic can be accommodated 
by the local route network and is unlikely to prejudice highway safety or result in 
demonstrable harm to residential amenity. 
 
 
 
The Development Control Engineer has raised no objections with regard to new means of 
access or its siting relative to Brookleaze. Conditions have been recommended to ensure 
that the detailed construction method and layout are approved in advance and to ensure that 
adequate visibility is maintained for vehicles making use of the access.   
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
As noted above, the proposed reopening of Park Lane Quarry will give rise to a small 
number of articulated low-loader lorries using the local route network. The route that lorries 
would take is along roads which are currently used by other large vehicles. It is not 
considered that the low number and infrequent passage of HGV traffic associated with the 
mine would result in demonstrable harm to residential amenity. The applicant has 
nevertheless offered, following concerns raised to the application and at a public 
exhibition/meeting, to reduce the hours that vehicles might arrive and leave the site so that 
evenings and Saturday mornings are excluded. This can be secured by an appropriately 
worded condition. 
 
With regard to the position of the new access itself, the closest residential property is located 
approximately 45 metres to the northwest on the opposite side of Brookleaze.  The access 
track itself is located approximately 120 metres from the nearest dwelling on the same side 
of Brookleaze.  At this point landscape screening is proposed in the form of a hedge to be 
planted on the southern side of the access track along the length of the access track up to 
the point where it meets the first field hedge approximately 340-metres from the access.  
The proposed planting, once established would screen the running surface from view. 
 
The proposed surfacing of the access route is to be limestone recovered from the cutting of 
a slope shaft to enable access to the mine.  Following the concerns of local residents 
regarding the implications of limestone dust that could be generated by vehicle movements 
on the track, a harder top layer dressing of Mendip stone is proposed.   
 
The Mine Access Area is located approximately 500 metres from the nearest residential 
properties.  At this distance, together with the intervening landscape features, it is not 
considered that this element of the development would cause demonstrable loss of 
residential amenity. 
 
Impact on Character of the Area and Landscape  
 
The routing of the access road and location of the mine access area require crossing and 
siting in areas of open countryside and open farmland.  The initial proposal presented to the 
Council was not submitted with a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment.  Consideration 
of the application was therefore suspended whilst this information was requested.   
 
Following the submission of a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment and consultation 
with the Councils Landscape Officer, it became clear that some elements of the scheme 
were not considered to be suited to the sites location and further assessment was required. 
 
A duly updated LVIA was subsequently submitted that provided detailed drawings of the 
route of the access track and location of the mine access area.  The details also included 

Page 128



details of landscaping and areas that would serve as conservation headlands.  The updated 
LVIA also included details of mitigation to be provided along the more exposed sections at 
the northern end of the haul road, and an explanation of how the small mounds would be 
formed beside the access track.   
 
Clarification was also provided with regard to how the haul road will be constructed.  The 
width of the access ‘corridor’ will be 7 metres in width to allow for the earth excavated to be 
spread in 200mm high mounds either side of a 4 metre wide running surface.  The running 
surface will them be laid and formed from a compacted limestone base with a surface 
dressing of Mendip stone.  Planting would then be carried out along the west side of the 
access track at its northern end for a distance of approximately 180-metres from the access 
on Brookleaze.  In addition to this a conservation headland would also be allowed to develop 
extending approximately 15 metres from the new planting. 
 
Following further consultation with the Council’s Landscape Officer it was concluded that 
whilst the proposal would alter the character of the landscape, due to the mitigation 
measures proposed and the nature of the surfacing materials being capable of allowing 
grass to grow through the stone layer, it is not considered that demonstrable harm would be 
caused to the character of the landscape or the visual amenity of the area.  
 
Impact on Ecology 
 
An ecological appraisal was submitted with the application and demonstrated that the 
construction would be unlikely to impact on any protected species.  However, the survey did 
identify the presence of a number of badger setts at various points along the proposed route 
of the access track and also near the mine access area.   
 
A protected species method statement was submitted that details the methods to be taken 
during the construction of the haul road.  Following consultation with the Council’s Ecologist 
it was determined that the details contained within the statement would be sufficient to 
ensure that the construction would not be likely to cause harm to any protected species in 
the vicinity of the site. 
 
It is therefore considered that all reasonable steps have been taken to ensure that protected 
species will be safeguarded.  In addition, both proposals make allowances for introducing 
areas and methods that are likely to have a beneficial impact on local biodiversity and 
protected species. 
 
Impact on Public Rights of Way 
 
The haul road would cross a public bridleway, just north of the entrance to the mine access 
area.  At the point where the bridleway would cross the access track, signs can be erected to 
warn horse riders and pedestrians of the possible presence of traffic.  It is not considered 
that the physical construction of the access track and mine access area would have any 
significant impact on the bridleway it crosses or any other local footpaths in the area. Given 
the low volume and infrequent passage of HGV traffic, the potential conflict between users of 
the bridleway and those of the access track is negligible. 
 
Whilst portions of the access track can be observed from a number of vantage points on 
public footpaths in the area, the majority of these are screened by hedge and/or tree 
planting.  Those portions of the track where views are unobstructed, given the surface 
material of the track, will resemble that of an agricultural access. 
 
Impact on the Historic Environment 
 

Page 129



An archaeological assessment was submitted in support of the proposal and consisted of a 
desk based analysis of the site.  This was submitted to the Council’s Archaeologist for 
comment.  In response the Council’s Archaeologist considered that the proposal was 
unlikely to be detrimental to archaeological considerations in the area. 
 
Impact on Water Environment  
 
The route of the access track requires only limited removal of soils before a layer of 
limestone is laid and then topped with harder Mendip stone.  It is not considered that these 
works would impact on the water environment.  More extensive works will take place within 
the mine access area in order to provide a working area of sufficient size and to allow 
construction of the proposed bunds.  The mine access area will be formed from a 
consolidated surface and any storage tanks for fuel and other potentially harmful liquids can 
be required to be bunded by condition.  It is therefore considered unlikely that harm to the 
water environment would occur. The Environment Agency raised no objections in respect of 
either application, subject to a standard condition covering the storage of oils, fuels and 
other potentially hazardous liquids. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Approve  
 
 
For the following reason(s): 
 
The development will provide a superior means of access to Park Lane Quarry than the 
existing consented access and would enable lorries accessing the mine to utilise more 
appropriate routes in the locality.  The development is judged to be in accordance with the 
Development Plan and there are no material considerations to indicate that permission 
should be withheld. 
 
The policies relevant to this decision are policies DP1, C1, C2, C3, C5, HE2 and MSP3 of 
the Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 2016, MCS4, MCS8, MCS9 and MCS10 of the 
Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Core Strategy Development Plan Document, MDC1, MDC2, 
MDC5, MDC6, MDC7, MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control 
Policies Development Plan Document and policies C1, C3, NE6, NE9, NE15, NE18 and HE8 
of the North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011. 
 
 
Subject to the following condition(s): 
 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years from the 

date of this permission.  
 
Reason: In accordance with Section 51(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
 

Plan Ref: 528/7 Dated November 2009 
Plan Ref: 528/9 Dated November 2009 
Plan Ref: 528/10 Dated November 2009 
Plan Ref: 921/PL4 Dated December 2011 

Page 130



Plan Ref: 921/PL5 Dated December 2011 
Plan Ref: 921/PL6 Dated December 2011 
Plan Ref: 921/PL7 Dated December 2011 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

3. No development shall commence on site until full construction details of the proposed 
access, access road and alterations to the existing highway have been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Mineral Planning Authority. No part of the 
development shall be first brought into use until the access, access road and 
highway alterations have been completed in accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
Policy: MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
4. No development shall take place until details of sign[s] to be erected on both sides of 

the haul route/site access road at the point where Bridleway 120 crosses, to warn 
horse riders, pedestrians and vehicles of the intersection, have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. The development shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details and the sign[s] shall be 
maintained for the duration of the development hereby permitted. 

 
Reason: In the interest of the safety of all users of both the Right of Way and the haul 
road. 

 
Policy: MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
5. No development shall commence on site until details of the new fence to be erected 

on site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning 
Authority.  Once approved the works shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
details so approved. 
 
Reason: In the interest of amenity. 
 
Policy: MDC1 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
6. All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried 

out in the first planting and seeding season following the completion of the 
development whichever is the sooner. All shrubs, trees and hedge planting shall be 
maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from damage by vermin and 
stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years, die, are removed, or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with others of a similar size and species. All hard landscaping shall also be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details prior to the development first being 
brought into use or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing with the 
Mineral Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and the 
protection of existing important landscape features. 

 
Policy: MDC1 and MDC5 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control 
Policies Development Plan Document. 

Page 131



 
 
 
 
7. Any facilities above ground for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on 

an impervious base and surrounded by impervious walls. The volume of the bunded 
compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 10%. If there is 
multiple tankage, the compound should be at least equivalent to the capacity of the 
largest tank, or the combined capacity of interconnected tanks, plus 10% or 25% of 
the total volume that could be stored at any one time, whichever is the greater.  All 
filling points, vents, gauges and sight glasses must be located within the bund. 
Associated pipe work should be above ground and protected from accidental 
damage. All filling points and tank overflow pipe outlets should be detailed to 
discharge into the bund. Such facilities shall be constructed and completed in strict 
accordance with plans approved by the Mineral Planning Authority prior to the first 
use of the development. 

 
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment. 
 
Policy: MDC3 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

8. No vehicle shall access the site for the purposes of loading or transportation of stone 
except between the hours of 7.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m. Mondays to Fridays.  No such 
activity shall take place on Saturdays, Sundays or Bank or Public Holidays. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of amenity. 
 

Policy: MDC2 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
9. No external lighting shall be installed on site until plans showing the type of light 

appliance, the height and position of fitting, illumination levels and light spillage have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. The 
lighting approved shall be installed and shall be maintained in accordance with the 
approved details.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and to minimise unnecessary 
light spillage above and outside the development site. 
 
Policy: MDC2 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
10. No part of the development shall be first brought into use until the visibility splays 

shown on the approved plans have been provided with no obstruction to visibility at 
or above a height of 900mm above the nearside carriageway level. The visibility 
splays shall be maintained free of obstruction at all times thereafter. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
Policy: MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
11. Any gates shall be set back 15.0 metres from the edge of the carriageway, such 

gates to open inwards only. 
 

Page 132



Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 

Policy: MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
12. The access roadway and all other areas within the surface stacking area, which are 

used by vehicles shall be watered or treated with an approved dust laying agent at 
such intervals as may be necessary to prevent the raising of dust from those areas. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of local residents. 
 
Policy: MDC2 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
13. No stockpile of stone within the storage yard/stacking area shall exceed 2 metres in 

height. 
 

Reason: To ensure stockpiles do not exceed the height of perimeter bunds in order 
to safeguard the visual amenities of the local area. 
 
Policy: MDC1 and MDC5 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control 
Policies Development Plan Document. 

 
14. The access road between the Mine Access Area and the public highway shall be kept 

clear of debris for the duration of the development hereby permitted. 
 

 Reason: In the interests of preventing material, dust or detritus from affecting public 
highway safety. 

 
 Policy: MDC2 and MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development 

Control Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
15. No commercial vehicle shall leave the site unless its wheels and underside chassis are 

clean to prevent materials, including mud and debris, being deposited on the public 
highway. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of preventing material, dust or detritus from affecting public 

highway safety. 
  
Policy: MDC2 and MDC8 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development 

Control Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
16. All vehicles, plant and machinery operated within the site shall be maintained in 

accordance with the manufacturer’s specification at all times and shall be fitted with, 
and use, effective silencers. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the area. 
 
Policy: MDC2 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
17. No processing of stone may take place on site at any time. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the character of the area and amenity. 
 

Page 133



Policy: MDC2 and MDC5 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control 
Policies Development Plan Document. 
 

18. All plant, machinery, hardstandings, and buildings forming part of this permission 
shall be removed within 3 months of cessation of extraction activities or upon expiry 
of this permission, whichever is the sooner, and the land restored to agricultural use. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the character of the area. 
 
Policy: MDC5 of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Appendices: 
 

Site Location Plan x 2 
 

 
Background Documents 
Used in the Preparation of 
this Report: 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 134



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 135



 

 

 

Page 136


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 10/04575 - Ridgeway Farm, Common Platt, Purton, Swindon, SN5 9JT - Residential Development (Up to 700 Dwellings), 10.6 Hectares of Green Infrastructure in Public Open Space, Associated Works, Up to 560 Square Metres of D1 Non-Residential Floorspace, Primary School and Demolition of Existing Buildings
	Ridgeway 10 04575  appx

	7 N/09/01258/WCM - Park Lane Quarry, Neston Park, Neston - Environment Act 1995: Application for Determination of Conditions to which a Mineral Site is to be the Subject
	8 N/09/02159/WCM - Park Lane Quarry, Neston Park, Neston - Construction of Road Access, Haul Road and Mine Access Area for Park Lane Mine

